
 

 

 
 

Cherwell District Council, Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, Oxfordshire, OX15 4AA 
www.cherwell.gov.uk 

 

 
Committee: Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee 
 

Date:  Wednesday 17 July 2024 
 

Time: 6.30 pm 
 
Venue: Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, Oxon OX15 4AA 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Nick Cotter 
(Chairman) 

Councillor David Rogers (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor Besmira Brasha Councillor Jean Conway 
Councillor Nicholas Mawer Councillor Ian Middleton 
Councillor Alisa Russell Councillor Dom Vaitkus 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitute Members      
 
 

2. Declarations of Interest      
 
Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which 
they may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
 
 

3. Petitions and Requests to Address the Meeting      
 
The Chairman to report on any requests to submit petitions or to address the 
meeting. 
 
 

4. Minutes  (Pages 7 - 12)    
 
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 
29 May 2024. 
 
 

5. Chairman's Announcements      
 
To receive communications from the Chairman. 
 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.cherwell.gov.uk/


6. Urgent Business      
 
The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any item of urgent business 
being admitted to the agenda. 
 
 

7. Counter Fraud Work Programme 2024/25  (Pages 13 - 20)    
 
Report of Assistant Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) 
 
Purpose of report 
 
This report presents the programme of counter work to be undertaken in 2024/25, 
and asks the Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee note this programme. 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee is recommended to: 
 
1.1 Note and approve the 2024/25 counter fraud work programme. 
 
 

8. Risk Monitoring Report End of Year 2023 - 2024  (Pages 21 - 42)    
 
Report of Assistant Director Customer Focus 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To update the committee on how well the council is managing its Strategic Risks, as 
part of our duty to remain compliant, and to be able to identify any improvements 
required.  This report presents the risk monitoring report for the end of the financial 
year 2023-2024. 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Accounts, Audit & Risk Committee resolves: 
 
1.1 To note the Risk Monitoring Report for end of year 2023-24.  
 
1.2 To review the Council’s current Risk Management Strategy 2023/24 

(Appendix 2)  and  provide comments and/or suggestions to be incorporated 
in the Risk Management Policy 2024/25 for Executive consideration.  

 
 

9. Draft Statement of Accounts 2023-2024  (Pages 43 - 208)    
 
Report of Assistant Director Finance (Section 151 Officer) 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To provide an opportunity for review of the draft 2023/24 Statement of Accounts 
which were published on the council’s website on 31 May 2024.  
 



Recommendations 
 
The Accounts, Audit and Risk committee resolves: 
 
1.1 To note the report and publication of the draft statement of accounts 2023/24 

(Appendix 1). 
 

 
10. Treasury Management Report - Q1 2024/25 (June 2023)  (Pages 209 - 218)    

 
Report of Assistant Director Finance (Section 151 Officer) 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To provide information on treasury management performance and compliance with 
treasury management policy for 2024-25 as required by the Treasury Management 
Code of Practice. 
 
To demonstrate that all treasury management activities undertaken during the first 
quarter of 2024-25 complied with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the council’s 
approved Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee resolves: 
 
1.1 To note the contents of this Treasury Management Performance Report. 
 
 

11. Support to Subsidiaries  (Pages 219 - 222)    
 
Report of Assistant Director Finance (Section 151 Officer) 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To inform the Committee of the overall level of support provided to the council’s 
subsidiaries and how this is considered as part of the external audit. 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee resolves: 
 
1.1 To note the report and raise any queries on the exempt appendix. 
 
 

12. Exclusion of Press and Public      
 
The following item contains exempt information as defined in the following 
paragraph of Part 1, Schedule 12A of Local Government Act 1972. 
 
3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 
 
Members are reminded that whilst the following item has been marked as exempt, it 
is for the meeting to decide whether or not to consider it in private or in public. In 



making the decision, members should balance the interests of individuals or the 
Council itself in having access to the information. In considering their discretion 
members should also be mindful of the advice of Council Officers.  
 
Should Members decide not to make a decision in public, they are recommended to 
resolve as follows:  
 
“That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and press 
be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that, 
if the public and press were present, it would be likely that exempt information 
falling under the provisions of Schedule 12A, Part I, Paragraph 3 would be 
disclosed to them, and that in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest 
in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.” 
 
 

13. Support to Subsidiaries - Exempt Appendix  (Pages 223 - 228)    
 
 

14. Readmittance of the Press and Public      
 
The Committee is recommended to resolve to readmit the press and public to the 
meeting.   
 

15. Work Programme  (Pages 229 - 230)    
 
To consider and review the Work Programme.  
 
 
 
 
 

Councillors are requested to collect any post from their pigeon 
hole in the Members Room at the end of the meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 

Information about this Meeting 
 
Apologies for Absence  
Apologies for absence should be notified to democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk or 01295 
221534 prior to the start of the meeting. 
 
Declarations of Interest 
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the 
start of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item. 
 
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & 
Supplementary Estimates 
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax 
must declare the fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget 
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the 
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax. 

mailto:democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk


 
Evacuation Procedure 
When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the nearest 
available fire exit.  Members and visitors should proceed to the car park as directed by 
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.  
 

Access to Meetings 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or 
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 
Mobile Phones 
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off. 
 
Webcasting and Broadcasting Notice 
The meeting will be recorded by the council for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 
council’s website. The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except when confidential or 
exempt items are being considered. The webcast will be retained on the website for 6 
months.  
 
If you make a representation to the meeting, you will be deemed by the council to have 
consented to being recorded. By entering the Council Chamber or joining virtually, you 
are consenting to being recorded and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.  
 
The council is obliged, by law, to allow members of the public to take photographs, film, 
audio-record, and report on proceedings. The council will only seek to prevent this should 
it be undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner. 
 
Queries Regarding this Agenda 
Please contact Patrick Davis, Democratic and Elections democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk, 
01295 221534  
 
 
Shiraz Sheikh 
Monitoring Officer 
 
Published on Tuesday 9 July 2024 
 

 
 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Cherwell District Council 
 
Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee held at 
Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, Oxon OX15 4AA, on 29 May 2024 at 
7.30 pm 
 
Present: 
 
Councillor Nick Cotter (Chairman)  
Councillor David Rogers (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Jean Conway 
Councillor Ian Middleton 
Councillor Alisa Russell 
Councillor Dom Vaitkus 
Harry Lawson (Independent Person, no voting rights)  
Sarah Thompson (Independent Person, no voting rights)  
 
Substitute Members: 
 
Councillor Barry Wood (In place of Councillor Nicholas Mawer) 
 
Apologies for absence: 
 
Councillor Nicholas Mawer 
Councillor Sean Woodcock 
 
Also Present: 
 
Councillor Lesley McLean, Portfolio Holder for Finance and Performance  
Connor Munro, External Audit, Bishop Fleming   
 
Also Present Virtually: 
 
Mark Bartlett, External Audit Manager, Bishop Fleming 
 
 
Officers:  
 
Michael Furness, Assistant Director Finance & S151 Officer 
Joanne Kaye, Head of Finance and Deputy Section 151 Officer 
Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal Services & Deputy Monitoring Officer 
Jacey Scott, Head of Revenues and Benefits 
Sandra Ganpot, Benefits Services and Performance Manager 
Natasha Clark, Governance and Elections Manager 
 
Officers Attending Virtually: 
 
Mona Walsh, Assistant Director - Property 
Sarah Cox, Chief Internal Auditor 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee - 29 May 2024 

  

Katherine Kitashima, Audit Manager (Internal Audit) 
Alex Rycroft, Strategic Finance Business Partner 
 
 

3 Welcome and Introductions  
 
The Chairman welcomed Members and officers to the first meeting of the 
Committee of the 2024/25 municipal year and invited all attendees to 
introduce themselves.  
 
 

4 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

5 Petitions and Requests to Address the Meeting  
 
There were no petitions or requests to address the meeting. 
 
 

6 Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meetings of the Committee held on 20 March 2024 and 22 
May 2024 were agreed as correct records and signed by the Chairman.  
 
 

7 Chairman's Announcements  
 
There were no Chairman’s announcements.  
 
 

8 Annual Report of the Chief Internal Auditor 2023/24  
 
The Chief Internal Auditor submitted a report which presented the annual 
report of the Chief Internal Auditor, summarising the outcome of the Internal 
Audit work in 2023/24, and providing an opinion on the Council's System of 
Internal Control. 
 
With regards the rating of “satisfactory”, the Chief Internal Auditor explained 
that it was very rare to the top rating to be awarded. The response to reports 
was considered more important that the rating and the Internal Audit team had 
received strong Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer and response to 
reports and recommendations. 
 
In response to Members’ comments regarding the Utilities Management 23/24 
audit, the Assistant Director Property confirmed that work was underway and 
on target to meet the actions arising from the audit. 
 

Page 8



Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee - 29 May 2024 

  

On behalf of the Committee, the Chairman thanked the Chief Internal Auditor 
and her team for their hard work and excellent service to Cherwell District 
Council.  
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That, having given due consideration, the Annual Report of the Chief 

Internal Auditor 2023/24 be endorsed.  
 
 

9 Internal Audit Work Programme 2024/25  
 
The Assistant Director Finance submitted a report to present the programme 
of internal audit work to be undertaken in 2024/25, and sought the Accounts, 
Audit and Risk Committee’s approval of this programme.  
 
The report also presented the council’s proposed internal audit charter, which 
sets out the internal audit service’s purpose, mandate, and position within the 
organisation, and sought approval of the charter. 
 
In response to a question regarding the valuation of Castle Quay, the 
Assistant Director undertook to provide a response in due course.   
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the 2024/25 internal audit work programme be approved. 

 
(2) That the proposed internal audit charter be approved. 
 
 

10 Housing Benefit Subsidy Audit 2020/2021  
 
The Assistant Director Finance submitted a report to provide the final position 
of the Housing Benefit subsidy claim audit for the financial year 2020/21.  
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the report be noted.  
 
 

11 Treasury Management Report - Annual Performance Report 2023/24  
 
The Assistant Director Finance submitted a report to present information on 
treasury management performance and compliance with treasury 
management policy for 2023-24 as required by the Treasury Management 
Code of Practice. The report also demonstrated that all treasury management 
activities undertaken during the financial year 2023-24 complied with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice, the council’s approved Treasury Management 
Strategy and that all Prudential Indicators were met during the reporting 
period. 
 

Page 9



Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee - 29 May 2024 

  

Resolved 
 
(1) That the Treasury Management Annual Performance Report be noted. 

 
(2) That the report be recommended to Council to note.  
 
 

12 Annual Governance Statement 2023-24  
 
The Assistant Director Law and Governance and Monitoring Officer submitted 
a report which set out the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for the 
Council for 2023-24 for approval. The AGS summarised the key governance 
issues for the Council and the actions required to address these. The AGS 
was required to be approved by those charged with governance, the Accounts 
Audit & Risk Committee, under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the Annual Governance Statement 2023-24 be approved. 

 
(2) That the Leader of the Council in 2023-24 and the Chief Executive be 

authorised to sign the Annual Governance Statement on behalf of 
Cherwell District Council. 

 
 

13 Audit Completion Certificates 2020/21 and 2021/22  
 
The Assistant Director Finance submitted a report which presented the audit 
completion certificates for the years 2020/21 and 2021/22. 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the formal completion of the audits for the years ended 31 March 

2021 and 31 March 2022 and the associated audit completion 
certificates be noted. 

 
 

14 External Audit Plan 2023/24 - Bishop Fleming  
 
The Assistant Director Finance submitted a report to present the External 
Audit Plan for 2023/24 from the Council’s external auditors, Bishop Fleming 
LLP. 
 
In response to Members’ questions regarding the change of external auditor, 
the Assistant Director Finance explained that Bishop Fleming had been 
appointed as the Council’s external auditor by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments for 2023/24 – 2027/28 replacing Ernst Young. 
 
In introducing the plan, the External Audit Team Manager explained that that 
the timeline may slip due to the announcement last week that the General 
Election would take place on 4 July.  

Page 10



Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee - 29 May 2024 

  

 
In response to Members’ questions regarding the external audit fee, the 
External Audit Team Manager explained that this would be submitted to a 
future Committee meeting following discussions with the Assistant Director 
Finance and Head of Finance.  
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the External Audit Plan for 2023/24 be noted. 
 
 

15 Work Programme  
 
The Head of Finance updated the Committee on the work programme and 
confirmed that Treasury Management training would take place following the 
meeting on 17 July.  
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the work programme update be noted.  
 
 

16 Urgent Business - Whistleblowing Policy  
 
The Chairman advised that there was one item of urgent business, 
Whistleblowing Policy.  
 
The Assistant Director Law and Governance submitted a report which sought 
approval of a Whistleblowing Policy and the mechanisms by which the policy 
and any complaints made under the policy would be managed and reported 
on. 
 
In introducing the report, the Interim Head of Legal Services explained that it 
was proposed that the policy should sit with the Monitoring Officer, with 
reporting on numbers of complaints and any actions taken, to sit with the 
Accounts Audit and Risk Committee, as part of its overall remit for 
governance assurance. 
 
In response to Members’ questions regarding differences between the current 
and revised policies, the Interim Head of Legal Services explained that, as the 
law had not changed, there were no significant changes rather it had been 
made clearer.  
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the Whistleblowing Policy be approved. 

 
(2) That the ownership of the policy through the Monitoring Officer be 

approved. 
 

Page 11



Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee - 29 May 2024 

  

(3) That the publication of the policy on the intranet, with appropriate staff 
communications to raise awareness, be approved. 
 

(4) That the Monitoring Officer be requested to provide anonymised 
reports of any whistleblowing complaints once concluded and actions 
taken to resolve them to the Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee. 

 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 9.20 pm 
 
 
Chairman: 
 
Date: 
 

Page 12



 

Cherwell District Council 

This report is public. 

Counter Fraud Work Programme 2024/25  

 

Committee Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee 

Date of Committee 17 July 2024 

Portfolio Holder presenting 
the report 
 

Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Resources, Councillor Lesley McLean. 

Date Portfolio Holder agreed 
report 
 

2 July 2024 

Report of Assistant Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer), 
Michael Furness 
 

 

Purpose of report 
 
This report presents the programme of counter work to be undertaken in 2024/25, and 
asks the Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee note this programme. 
 

1. Recommendations 

 
The Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee is recommended to: 
 

1.1 Note and approve the 2024/25 counter fraud work programme. 
 

 

2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 The council’s counter fraud service is to be delivered by Veritau. Two hundred days 

have been allocated for counter fraud work in 2024/25. 
 
2.2 A counter fraud work programme for 2024/25 (contained in appendix 1) should be 

noted and approved by this committee as part of its responsibility for overseeing the 
work of the counter fraud team. 

 

Implications & Impact Assessments  

 

Implications  
 

Commentary  

Finance  
 

The are no financial implications arising directly from this report.  
Rachel Ainsworth (FBP for Resources) 03/07/24 

Legal The are no legal implications arising directly from this report. It is 
important to be continuously vigilant to fraud and the work 
proposed is both reactive and proactive and includes learning 
from investigations to protect us better in the future.  
Alison Coles, Legal Services Operations Manager, Solicitor,  3 

July 2024  

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



 

Cherwell District Council 

Risk Management  There are no risk management issues arising directly from this 
report, establish a counter fraud work programme for 2024/25 
mitigates the risk of being unable to  detect, deter, and prevent 
fraud against the council. 
Celia Prado-Teeling, Performance Team Leader, 04 July 2024 

 
Impact 
Assessments  
 

P
o

s
it
iv

e
  

N
e
u

tr
a

l 
 

N
e
g

a
ti
v
e
 Commentary  

 
 
 
 

Equality Impact   X  N/A – this report is for information 
 

A Are there any 
aspects of the 
proposed decision, 
including how it is 
delivered or 
accessed, that could 
impact on 
inequality? 

 X  N/A 

B Will the proposed 
decision have an 
impact upon the 
lives of people with 
protected 
characteristics, 
including employees 
and service users? 

 X  N/A 

Climate & 
Environmental 
Impact 

 X  N/A 

ICT & Digital 
Impact 

  X The counter fraud team provides additional 
training and awareness for employees on 
cybercrime and cybersecurity issues which helps 
protect the council. 
Jonathan Dodsworth, Assistant Director – 
Corporate Fraud, 3 July 2024 

Data Impact   X The counter fraud team will ensure that the council 
meets statutory guidance relating to the provision 
of data to the Public Sector Fraud Authority’s 
National Fraud Initiative. 
Jonathan Dodsworth, Assistant Director – 
Corporate Fraud, 3 July 2024 

Procurement & 
subsidy 

 X  N/A 

Council Priorities
 

This report supports the priorities set out in the 2024/25 business 
plan. The counter fraud team seeks to protect council income and 
assets so they can help fund the objectives of the business plan. 
The team also supports the council’s specific goal to reduce 
crime which forms part of its overall goal to promote healthy, 
resilient, and engaged communities. 

Human Resources  N/A 
 

Page 14



 

Cherwell District Council 

Property N/A 

Consultation & 
Engagement 
 

The council’s Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 
Officer and other senior officers have been consulted in the 
commission of counter fraud services. Through presentation of 
this report, members of the Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee 
are also being consulted.

  
 
 

Supporting Information 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 With effect from 1 May 2024,Cherwell District Council’s counter fraud service has 

been provided by Veritau. Veritau has been engaged on an initial six-month 
contract to develop the council’s counter fraud strategy and to begin delivery of 
counter fraud work until longer term service provision is secured. While formal 
approval of the counter fraud programme is not required, the proposed areas of 
work are set out in this report for the committee’s information. 

 

4. Details 

 
4.1 The counter fraud programme in appendix 1 outlines areas of work for the counter 

fraud team in 2024/25. The amount of time spent in each area will depend on the 
amounts and types of fraud referred to the team, however the programme contains 
an indicative split of how the time will be used. Total planned counter fraud days for 
2024/25 are 200. 

 

5. Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 

 
5.1 The nature of this report is such that alternative options are not appropriate. 
 

6 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 

  
6.1 The Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee is recommended to note and approve the 

counter fraud work programme for 2024/25. This is so that it can fulfil its 
responsibility for overseeing the work of the counter fraud team. This responsibility 
is defined in the committee’s terms of reference. Approval of the work programme 
at this meeting will allow the counter fraud team to help detect, deter, and prevent 
fraud against the council. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



 

Cherwell District Council 

Decision Information 

 

Key Decision 
 

N/A  
  
 

Subject to Call in  
 

N/A 

If not, why not subject 
to call in 

N/A 

Ward(s) Affected 
 

All 
 

 
 

Document Information 
 

Appendices 

 

 

Appendix 1 Counter Fraud Work Programme 2024/25 

Background Papers None 
 

Reference Papers None 
 

Report Author Jonathan Dodsworth, Assistant Director – Corporate Fraud 
(Veritau) 

Report Author contact 

details 

Jonathan.Dodsworth@veritau.co.uk 
01904-552947 

 

Page 16

mailto:Jonathan.Dodsworth@veritau.co.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

      
 

 

 

Appendix 1  

Counter Fraud Work Programme 2024/25 

 

Page 17



 2 

  
 

 

 

1 Veritau undertakes counter fraud work on behalf of Cherwell District 
Council. This document summarises expected counter fraud activity for 
2024/25. 

2 A large part of the work of the team involves undertaking reactive 

investigations. The level of investigations is driven by referrals received 
from officers and the public about suspected fraud. A high-level summary 

of areas of counter fraud work are shown in table 1 below.  

Table 1: Counter fraud work programme 

Programme area Purpose 

 Counter Fraud 
Framework 

Monitoring changes to regulations and guidance, 
reviewing counter fraud risks, and support to the 
council with maintenance of the counter fraud 
framework. Updates on significant fraud trends and 
counter fraud activities will be provided to the 
Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee during the year. 

 

 Proactive Work This includes: 

• raising awareness of counter fraud issues and 
procedures for reporting suspected fraud - for 
example through training and provision of 
updates on fraud related issues 

• targeted proactive counter fraud work - for 
example through local and regional data 
matching exercises 

• support and advice on cases which may be 
appropriate for investigation and advice on 
appropriate measures to deter and prevent 
fraud. 

 

 Reactive 
Investigations 

Investigation of suspected fraud affecting the 
council. This includes feedback on any changes 
needed to procedures to prevent fraud reoccurring. 

 

 National Fraud 
Initiative 

Coordinating submission of data to the Public Sector 
Fraud Authority for the National Fraud Initiative 
(NFI) data matching programme and investigation of 
subsequent matches. 

 

 Fraud Liaison Acting as a single point of contact for the 
Department for Work and Pensions, to provide data 
to support housing benefit investigations. 

 

 
3 The overall level of service is based on an indicative number of days for 

planning purposes (200 for 2024/25). Figure 1 below shows the 
proportion of time we expect to deliver across each area during the year.  

 Counter Fraud Work Programme 
 

Page 18



 3 

  
 

 

Figure 1: Indicative split of counter fraud work 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

4 The split of activities shown in the figure above are not fixed. Actual work 
will depend on the level of suspected fraud referred to the team. We will 

also keep priorities for proactive and other counter fraud work under 
review, to ensure counter fraud resources continue to be used in the areas 
of greatest value to the council.  

 

 

3%

25%

63%

8%

1%

Counter Fraud Framework

Proactive Work

Reactive Investigations

National Fraud Initiative

Fraud Liaison

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Cherwell District Council 

This report is public 

Risk Monitoring Report End of Year 2023–2024 
 

Committee Accounts, Audit & Risk Committee  

Date of Committee 17 July 2024  

Portfolio Holder presenting 
the report 
 

Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services, Councillor Chris 
Brant  

Date Portfolio Holder agreed 
report 
 

10 June 2024 

Report of Assistant Director – Customer Focus, Shona Ware 

 
 

Purpose of report 
 

To update the committee on how well the council is managing its Strategic Risks, as part 
of our duty to remain compliant, and to be able to identify any improvements required.  
This report presents the risk monitoring report for the end of the financial year 2023-2024. 
 

1. Recommendations 

 
The Accounts, Audit & Risk Committee resolves: 
 

1.1 To note the Risk Monitoring Report for end of year 2023-24.  
 

1.2 To review the Council’s current Risk Management Strategy 2023/24 (Appendix 
2)  and  provide comments and/or suggestions to be incorporated in the Risk 
Management Policy 2024/25 for Executive consideration.  
 
 

2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 The Leadership Risk Register is reviewed by the Corporate Leadership Team and 

Executive Committees every quarter; however, this is a live document and therefore 
is updated as and when required, to manage risk effectively. There were no score 
changes in the Leadership Risk Register during March 2024. 

 

Implications & Impact Assessments  

 

Implications  
 

Commentary  

Finance  
 

There are no financial and resource implications arising directly 
from this report. 
Kelly Wheeler, Finance Business Partner, 19 June 2024 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



Cherwell District Council 

Legal Risk training has been given to senior managers by the 
Performance Team. Regular reviews ensure that any change in 
risk is identified early on so that any steps to mitigate risk can be 
taken.  Alison Coles, Legal Services Operations Manager, 
Solicitor 19 June 2024 

Risk Management  This report contains a full update with regards to the council’s risk 
position at the end of 2023/24. There are no risk implications 
arising directly from this report. 
Celia Prado-Teeling, Performance & Insight Team Leader, 17 
June 2024 

 
Impact 
Assessments  
 P

o
s
it
iv

e
  

N
e
u

tr
a

l 
 

N
e
g

a
ti
v
e
 Commentary  

 
 
 

Equality Impact   x  There are no equalities implications arising directly 
from this report. 
Celia Prado-Teeling, Performance & Insight Team 
Leader, 17 June 2024 

A Are there any 
aspects of the 
proposed decision, 
including how it is 
delivered or 
accessed, that could 
impact on 
inequality? 

 x   

B Will the proposed 
decision have an 
impact upon the 
lives of people with 
protected 
characteristics, 
including employees 
and service users? 

 x   

Climate & 
Environmental 
Impact 
 

 x   

ICT & Digital 
Impact 
 

 x   

Data Impact  x   

Procurement & 
subsidy 
 

 x   

Council Priorities 
 

Not applicable  

Human Resources 
  

Not applicable  

Property 
 

Not applicable  

Page 22



Cherwell District Council 

Consultation & 
Engagement 
 

Not applicable  
 

 
 
 

Supporting Information 

 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Council carries out regular reviews to identify risks at the earliest opportunity so 

that it can assess and mitigate them as soon as possible. 
 
3.2 Risks that may affect the Council’s performance, and particularly, on its ability to 

deliver its corporate priorities are captured in its Leadership Risk Register. 
 
3.3 The Councils approach to risk management is set out in its Risk Management 

Strategy 2023-24, which is attached in Appendix 2. The Audit, Accounts and Risk 
Committee is responsible for reviewing the strategy and making any recommended 
improvements to the Executive Committee for their consideration. 

 

 
4. Details 

 
4.1 The overall position as of the end of the financial year of all Leadership risks, after 

mitigating actions and controls have been put in place, is as follows: 
 
 

   Probability 

1 - Remote  2 - Unlikely 3 - Possible  4 - Probable 5 - Highly 
Probable 

Im
p

a
c
t 

 5 - Catastrophic 
 
 

 L08    

 4 - Major  L06-L09 
L03-L07-
L11-L14 

L01 
  

 3 - Moderate  L04-L05-
L10 

L02-L12 L13 
  

 2 - Minor 
 
 

     

 1 - Insignificant       

 
 

 
 
4.2   There were however changes to the controls, mitigating actions and comments for the 

following risks: 
 
 
 

       Figure 1: Risk scorecard showing the risk scores in the Leadership Risk Register for end of 2023-24. 

Page 23



Cherwell District Council 

 
 
 

Risk Score Direction 
of travel 

Latest Update on 06/02/2024 

L03 - CDC Local 
Plan - Failure to 
ensure sound, up to 
date local plan 
remains in place for 
Cherwell resulting 
in poor planning 
decisions such as 
development in 
inappropriate 
locations, inability 
to demonstrate an 
adequate supply of 
land for housing 
and planning by 
appeal 

12 
Medium 

Risk 
↔ 

Controls:- 

 Local Development Scheme (LDS) is actively managed and 

reviewed, built into Service Plan, and integral to staff 

appraisals of all those significantly involved in Plan 

preparation and review.  

 Team capacity and capability kept under continual review 

with gaps and pressures identified and managed at the 

earliest opportunity. 

 On-going review of planning appeal decisions to assess 

robustness and relevance of Local Plan policies.  

 Regular Councillor briefings to ensure all timescale 

requirements are understood.  Ensuring that staff and 

consultancy resourcing is maintained. 

 

Mitigating actions: - 

 Annual (Authority) Monitoring Reports presented to 

the Executive on plan making and policy 

effectiveness. 

 An updated LDS presented to the Executive when 

there is a significant change in the circumstances for 

the Local Plan timetable. 

 Programme built into Directorate level objectives 

(e.g. via Service Plans) and staff appraisals; on-

going preparation of the Local Plan is a service 

priority. 

 Project management of the Local Plan process 

continues. 

 Regular Corporate Director, Portfolio Holder and 

Members Advisory Group briefings 

 Continuance of internal Members' Advisory Group 

meetings.  Early briefing for new Portfolio Holder in 

May 2024 and any new Councillors. 

   

  Comments: - 

Consultation on a draft of the Cherwell Local Plan 

Review took place from 22 September to 3 November 

2023. A new programme for the Local Plan was agreed 

when the Council's Executive approved an updated 

'Local Development Scheme' on 5 September 2023. An 

Annual Monitoring Report was approved by the 

Executive on 4 December 2023.  A 'Proposed 

Submission' (Reg. 19) draft of the Plan will be prepared 

for Autumn 2024 and regular progress reports provided 

to the Council's Corporate Leadership Team and the 

Portfolio Holder for Planning and Development. 

 
 
 

Page 24



Cherwell District Council 

Risk Score Direction 
of travel 

Latest Update on 06/02/2024 

L08 - Cyber 
Security - If there 
is insufficient 
security with 
regards to the data 
held and IT 
systems used by 
the councils and 
insufficient 
protection against 
malicious attacks 
on council’s 
systems then there 
is a risk of: a data 
breach, or a loss of 
service. 

15 
Medium 

Risk 
↔ 

Mitigating actions:  

 Additional 3rd party monitoring in place using a SIEM 

tool and 24/7 monitoring via a SOC.  

 All staff reminded to be vigilant to unexpected emails 

due to the heightened risk of cyber-attack due to 

escalating tensions in Eastern Europe and at critical 

periods such as the run up to Elections. 

 Cyber Security advice and guidance regularly 

highlighted to all staff. 

 Cyber Security is mandatory e-learning for all staff to 

be completed annually and is part of new starters 

induction training. Additionally, regular Mimecast 

videos sent to all users for bitesize regular training. 

 Cyber Security Officer has reviewed advice and 

provided assurance on our compliance. 

 External Health Check undertaken each year and 

Cabinet Office PSN compliance reviewed and 

certified each year to ensure the infrastructure is 

secure to connect to the PSN. 

 Internal Audit completed cyber audits with no major 

issues or significant risks identified. 

 IT implemented an intrusion prevention and 

detection system which is monitored, and regular 

actions are implemented from the resulting reports. 

 IT Officer has specific responsibility for Cyber 

Security, and we have engaged a specialist partner 

to advise on industry best practices and standards. 

 Microsoft Multi-Factor Authentication is embedded to 

authenticate users providing an enhanced level of 

cyber security. 

 

  

 

L09 -Safeguarding 
the vulnerable - 
Internal 
procedures- 
Failure to follow our 
internal policies and 
procedures in 
relation to 
safeguarding 
vulnerable adults 
and children or 
raising concerns 
about their welfare. 

8 Low 
Risk 

↔ 

Comments: 

Monthly Safeguarding training/ briefings continue with 

good attendance, Safeguarding News Bulletin to all 

safeguarding champions keeps Safeguarding at the 

forefront and identifies shared learning. Outcome of the 

Peer review was excellent and actions arising will be 

picked up in Q1and 2 24/25. 

 
 
4.3 The full Leadership Risk Register is attached in Appendix 1. 
 

5. Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 

 
5.1 The following alternative options have been identified and rejected for the reasons 

as set out below.  

Page 25



Cherwell District Council 

 
Option 1: No alternative options have been identified as this report is for information 
only. 

 
 

6 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 

  
6.1 This report provides an update on how well the council is managing its Strategic 

Risks up to the end the twelfth month of the financial year, and requests feedback 
from this Committee regarding our current Risk Management Strategy to support its 
review and update.  

 
 

Decision Information 

 

Key Decision Not applicable  

Subject to Call in  Not applicable 

If not, why not subject 
to call in 

Not applicable 

Ward(s) Affected 
 

All  

 

Document Information 
 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 Leadership Risk Register End of Year 2023 -24 

Appendix 2  Risk Management Strategy 2023-24 

Background Papers None 

Reference Papers None 

Report Author Celia Prado-Teeling, Performance & Insight Team Leader  

Report Author contact 

details 

Celia.Prado-Teeling@Cherwell-dc.gov.uk   
 

 
 
 

 

Page 26

mailto:Celia.Prado-Teeling@Cherwell-dc.gov.uk


Name and 
Description of risk Potential impact Controls Control 

assessment
Lead 

Member
Risk 

owner
Risk 

manager
Direction 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues) Comments Last updated

Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Fully effective
Partially 
effective

Not effective Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Reduced medium and long term financial viability Medium Term Revenue Plan reported regularly to members. Fully This continuous process will include reviewing budget 
monitoring, active budget management, and reflection of  
economic and Local Government sector trends in the 
MTFS.  Wherever possible, policy decisions will be taken 
as soon as possible, rather than waiting until the February 
Council meeting which sets the annual budget.  This will 
allow officers to be ready to implement, or have 
implemented, policy decisions which will maximise positive 
impacts on the budget.

Reduction in services to customers Balanced medium term and dynamic ability to prioritise 
resources

Fully

Increased volatility and inability to manage and respond to 
changes in funding levels

Highly professional, competent, qualified  staff Partially 

Reduced financial returns (or losses) on 
investments/assets such as in subsidiaries

Good networks established locally, regionally and nationally. Fully

Inability to deliver financial efficiencies Strong shareholder function and relationships with 
subsidiaries

Fully Integration and continued development of Performance, 
Finance and Risk reporting

Exposure to commercial pressures in relation to 
regeneration projects.

Financial returns from the subsidiaries are not included in the 
MTFS until they are reasonably assured to materialise.

Partially Internal Audits being undertaken for core financial activity 
and capital as well as service activity

Poor customer service and satisfaction National guidance interpreting legislation available and used 
regularly.

Fully Introduction and implementation of an Asset Management 
Strategy

Increased complexity in governance arrangements Progress regeneration plans in a coordinated manner. 
Participate in Oxfordshire Treasurers' Association's work 
streams.

Fully Capital & Investment Strategy agreed annually

Lack of officer capacity to meet service demand Review of best practice guidance from bodies such as CIPFA, 
LGA and NAO.

Fully Posts are filled by appropriately qualified individuals

Lack of financial awareness and understanding throughout 
the council

Treasury management and capital &  Investment strategies in 
place in place. Regular financial and performance monitoring 
in place.

Fully Regular involvement and engagement with colleagues 
across the county

Increased inflation in the costs of capital schemes Independent third party advisers in place. Regular bulletins 
and advice received from advisers. Property portfolio income 
monitored through financial management arrangements on a 
regular basis.

Fully Regular member training and support

Independent third party advisers in place Fully Regular utilisation of advisors as appropriate

Asset Management Strategy in place and embedded Fully Summarise and distribute announcements to CLT and 
members.
Timely and good quality budget management reports, 
particularly property income and capital

Work is underway to maximise the impact of the available 
space in Banbury town centre

Legal challenge Embedded system of legislation and policy tracking In place, 
with clear accountabilities, reviewed regularly by Directors.

Partially Ensure Committee forward plans are reviewed regularly by 
senior officers.

Loss of opportunity to influence national policy / legislation Clear accountability for responding to consultations with 
defined process to ensure Member engagement

Fully Ensure Internal Audit plan focusses on key leadership 
risks.

Financial penalties National guidance interpreting legislation available and used 
regularly

Fully Establish corporate repository and accountability for 
policy/legislative changes taking into consideration all of 
the Council's functions.

Reduced service to customers Risks and issues associated with Statutory functions 
incorporated into Directorate Risk Registers and regularly 
reviewed.

Fully External support secured for key corporate projects 
including Growth Deal and IT Transformation Programme.

Inability to deliver council’s plans Clear accountability for horizon scanning, risk identification / 
categorisation / escalation and policy interpretation in place

Partially

Exposure to commercial pressures Robust Committee forward plans to allow member oversight of 
policy issues and risk management, including Scrutiny and 
Audit

Fully

Reduced resilience and business continuity Internal Audit Plan risk based to provide necessary 
assurances

Fully Review Directorate/Service risk registers.

Strong networks established locally, regionally and nationally 
to ensure influence on policy issues. In addition two Directors 
hold leading national roles

Fully Ensure Committee forward plans are reviewed regularly by 
senior officers.

Senior Members aware and briefed regularly in 1:1s by 
Directors

Fully Ensure Internal Audit plan focusses on key leadership 
risks.

Arrangements in place to source appropriate interim resource 
if needed

Fully Establish corporate repository and accountability for 
policy/legislative changes taking into consideration all of 
the Council's functions.

Ongoing programme of internal communication Fully

Programme Boards in place to oversee key corporate projects 
and ensure resources are allocated as required.

Fully

Review Directorate/Service risk registers.

↔

↔33

Risk reviewed 
on  09/04/24 - 
No changes

No changes at present. Procurement Act 
2023 implementation work has now 
underway.  

9 Risks reviewed 
on 03/04/24 - 
No changes 

Learning and development opportunities identified and 
promoted by the Chief Executive and Directors. First 
tranche of Senior Leadership training/development begins 
in August, and is cascaded throughout 2022/23. Staff 
briefings on rules and procedures by MO

The budget for 2024/25 was agreed with savings proposals 
identified to contribute to addressing forecast reductions in 
funding. Close monitoring of the delivery of the savings 
programme will take place throughout 2024/25 with 
mitigations required if slippage is identified.

External support secured for key corporate projects 
including Growth Deal and IT Transformation Programme.

Residual risk 
level (after 

existing 
controls)

16444 Michael 
Furness

Joanne 
Kaye

164

Inherent 
(gross) 

risk level 
(before 

Controls)

Transformation Programme in place to deliver efficiencies and 
increased income in the future

Partially

L02 - Statutory 
functions – Failure 
to meet statutory 
obligations and policy 
and legislative 
changes are not 
anticipated or 
planned for.

3 4 12 Councillor
L.McLean

Stephen 
Hinds

Shiraz 
Sheikh

L01 - Financial 
resilience – Failure 
to react to external 
financial impacts, 
new policy and 
increased service 
demand. Poor 
investment and asset 
management 
decisions.

Councillor 
L.McLean

Extended Leadership Team (ELT) Meetings established to 
oversee and provide assurance on key organisational matters 
including resourcing.

Fully

Increased inflation in revenue costs

Reduced staff morale, increased workload and uncertainty 
may lead to loss of good people

Appendix 1

P
age 27



Name and 
Description of risk Potential impact Controls Control 

assessment
Lead 

Member
Risk 

owner
Risk 

manager
Direction 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues) Comments Last updated

Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Fully effective
Partially 
effective

Not effective Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Residual risk 
level (after 

existing 
controls)

Inherent 
(gross) 

risk level 
(before 

Controls)

Poor planning decisions leading to inappropriate growth in 
inappropriate place.

Local Development Scheme (LDS) is actively managed and 
reviewed, built into Service Plan, and integral to staff 
appraisals of all those significantly involved in Plan 
preparation and review 

Partially Annual (Authority) Monitoring Reports presented to the 
Executive on plan making and policy effectiveness.

Negative (or failure to optimise) economic, social, 
community and environmental gain

An updated LDS presented to the Executive when there is 
a significant change in the circumstances for the Local 
Plan timetable.

Negative impact on the council’s ability to deliver its 
strategic objectives, including its commitments within the 
Oxfordshire Housing & Growth Deal

Programme built into Directorate level objectives (e.g. via 
Service Plans) and staff appraisals; on-going preparation of 
the Local Plan is a service priority.

Increased costs in planning appeals Project management of the Local Plan process continues.

Failure to submit Plan for Examination by June 2025 would 
mean that the Council would need to prepare a Local Plan 
under a new plan-making system on which further Gov't 
guidance is awaited. This would significantly delay having 
a new, up-to-date Plan.

Regular Councillor briefings to ensure all timescale 
requirements are understood.  Ensuring that staff and 
consultancy resourcing is maintained.

Partially Continuance of internal Members' Advisory Group 
meetings.  Early briefing for new Portfolio Holder in May 
2024 and any new Councillors.

Inability to deliver critical services to customers/residents Business continuity strategy, statement of intent and 
framework in place and all arrangements overseen by a 
Business Continuity Steering Group

Fully BC actions post-audit are being implemented as per plan. 
BCSG meeting routinely and corporate refresh across all 
areas is progressing. 

Financial loss/ increased costs Services prioritised and ICT recovery plans reflect those 
priorities and the requirements of critical services

Fully BC Impact Assessments and BCPs being updated and 
reviewed by Emergency Planning Team with supporting 
document management system being implemented.

Loss of important data ICT disaster recovery arrangements in place with data centre 
and cloud services reducing likelihood of ICT loss and data 
loss

Fully Business Continuity Statement of Intent and Framework 
reviewed and updated to align with new incident 
management framework

Inability to recover sufficiently to restore non-critical 
services before they become critical

Incident management team identified in Business Continuity 
Framework

Fully

Loss of reputation All services undertake annual business impact assessments 
and updates of business continuity plans

Partially

Inability of council to respond effectively to an emergency Incident Management Framework in place and key contact 
lists updated monthly.

Fully IMF reviewed and updated. Training schedule in place and 
being delivered including training for new ADs/CEx and 
refresh for existing duty directors. Emergency plan contacts 
list updated monthly and reissued to all duty directors 

Unnecessary hardship to residents and/or communities Emergency Planning Lead Officer defined with responsibility 
to review, test and exercise plan and to establish, monitor and 
ensure all elements are covered

Fully

Risk to human welfare and the environment Expert advice and support provided by Oxfordshire County 
Council's Emergency Planning Team under partnership 
arrangements.

Fully

Legal challenge Council Duty Directors attend training relating to role prior to 
joining duty director rota and have refresh training annually

Fully

Potential financial loss through compensation claims Multi agency emergency exercises conducted to ensure 
readiness

Partially

Ineffective Cat 1 partnership relationships Active participation in Local Resilience Forum (LRF) activities Fully

Reputational damage On-call rota being maintained and updated to reflect recent 
staffing changes

Fully

3 4

Team capacity and capability kept under continual review with 
gaps and pressures identified and managed at the earliest 
opportunity.

Reputational damage with investor community of Cherwell 
as  a good place to do business created by uncertainty/ 
lack of policy clarity

On-going review of planning appeal decisions to assess 
robustness and relevance of Local Plan policies 

Partially

↔

Partially

↔Ian BollCouncillor 
R. 

Parkinson

Tim Hughes

Partially

Risk reviewed 
on 09/04/2024 -  
No change

Risk reviewed 
on 09/04/24- No 
change

2

2 6

63

Supporting officers for incident response reviewed and 
identified across some areas, to ensure they are reviewed 
and updated across all service areas.

Cross-council BC Steering Group meets regularly to 
identify BC improvements needed; BC Steering Group has 
been reconvened, engagement is being made across all 
service areas.

Regular Corporate Director, Portfolio Holder and Members 
Advisory Group briefings

Consultation on a draft of the Cherwell Local 
Plan Review took place from 22 September 
to 3 November 2023. A new programme for 
the Local Plan was agreed when the 
Council's Executive approved an updated 
'Local Development Scheme' on 5 
September 2023. An Annual Monitoring 
Report was approved by the Executive on 4 
December 2023.  A 'Proposed Submission' 
(Reg. 19) draft of the Plan will be prepared 
for Autumn 2024 and regular progress 
reports provided to the Council's Corporate 
Leadership Team and the Portfolio Holder 
for Planning and Development.  The new 
Portfolio Holder and any new Councillors will 
be briefed in May 2024.

Risk reviewed 
on 28/03/2024 - 
Risk description, 
controls, 
mitigations and 
comments 
updated.

12 ↔L03 - CDC Local 
Plan - Failure to 
ensure sound, up to 
date local plan 
remains in place for 
Cherwell resulting in 
poor planning 
decisions such as 
development in 
inappropriate 
locations, inability to 
demonstrate an 
adequate supply of 
land for housing and 
planning by appeal

4 4 16 Councillor 
J. Conway

Ian Boll David 
Peckford

4 4

4 16

Reduced service delivery capacity in medium term due to 
recovery activity

Cross-council Business Continuity Steering Group meets 
regularly to identify Business Continuity improvements needed

Ian Boll Tim HughesCouncillor 
R. 

Parkinson

3L04 - Business 
Continuity - Failure 
to ensure that critical 
services can be 
maintained in the 
event of a short or 
long term incident 
impacting on the 
delivery of the 
Council's operations

4L05 - Emergency 
Planning (EP) - 
Failure to ensure that 
the local authority 
has plans in place to 
respond appropriately 
to a civil emergency 
fulfilling its duty as a 
category one 
responder

16

P
age 28



Name and 
Description of risk Potential impact Controls Control 

assessment
Lead 

Member
Risk 

owner
Risk 

manager
Direction 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues) Comments Last updated

Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Fully effective
Partially 
effective

Not effective Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Residual risk 
level (after 

existing 
controls)

Inherent 
(gross) 

risk level 
(before 

Controls)

Increased harm and distress caused to vulnerable 
individuals and their families.

Engagement with the Oxfordshire partnerships protocol review 
to identify improvements to local arrangements in support of 
the strategic partnerships. Outcomes of review to be 
implemented.

Partially Continue in linking in with Oxfordshire partnerships protocol 
review to ensure outcomes relevant to CDC are understood 
and implemented as necessary. 

Council subject to external reviews Child Exploitation prevalence report reviewed with LPA 
Commander following each CE sub-group meeting.

Fully

Criminal investigations potentially compromised

Potential financial liability if council deemed to be 
negligent.

 Unsafe services leading to fatality,  serious injury & ill 
health to employees, service users or members of the 
public

Corporate H&S governance arrangements and policies are 
regularly reviewed and updated by the Corporate H&S Team 
and monitored by the H&S Assurance Board.

Fully Corporate H&S Auditing and Inspection programme on 
track. Reports issued to managers and actions tracked for 
completion. Work ongoing with 2 audits per calendar 
month.

Criminal prosecution for failings Breach of legislation and 
potential for enforcement action.

Directors and service leads are responsible for ensuring H&S 
arrangements are in place within their areas or responsibility. 
Managers are responsible for ensuring operational health and 
safety risks are assessed and effective control measures 
implemented.

Fully Work still in progress with service areas around the 
corporate H&S register, which will be managed and 
monitored with a focus on the depots as our highest risk 
areas.

Financial impact (compensation or improvement actions) Consultation with employee representatives via employer and 
union consultative committees (Unison)

Fully Post decoupling senior management will have monthly 
monitoring of H&S matters as a standing item at senior 
management meetings.

Corporate H&S Training provided via corporate learning and 
development programme. Training for operational risks may 
be organised by services.

Fully Relevant and required policies and procedures are being 
reviewed.

H&S performance monitored by accident and incident reports 
and corporate H&S auditing and inspection programme.

Fully

H&S information is disseminated via internal communications 
and updates to ELT and other relevant meetings.

Fully

Financial loss / fine  File and data encryption on computer devices Fully Additional 3rd party monitoring in place using a SIEM tool 
and 24/7 monitoring via a SOC. 

Prosecution – penalties imposed Managing access permissions and privileged users through 
AD and individual applications

Fully All staff reminded to be vigilant to unexpected emails due 
to the heightened risk of cyber-attack due to escalating 
tensions in Eastern Europe and at critical periods such as 
the run up to Elections

Individuals could be placed at risk of harm Schedule of regular security patching Fully Cyber Security advice and guidance regularly highlighted to 
all staff.

Reduced capability to deliver customer facing services Vulnerability scanning Fully Cyber Security is mandatory e-learning for all staff to be 
completed annually and is part of new starters induction 
training. Additionally regular Mimecast videos sent to all 
users for bitesize regular training. 

Unlawful disclosure of sensitive information Malware protection and detection Fully Cyber Security Officer has reviewed advice and provided 
assurance on our compliance.

Inability to share services or work with partners Effective information management and security training and 
awareness programme for staff

Fully External Health Check undertaken each year and Cabinet 
Office PSN compliance reviewed and certified each year to 
ensure the infrastructure is secure to connect to the PSN.

Loss of reputation Password and Multi Factor Authentication security controls in 
place

Fully Internal Audit completed cyber audits with no major issues 
or significant risks identified.

Robust information and data related incident management 
procedures in place

Fully IT implemented an intrusion prevention and detection 
system which is monitored, and regular actions are 
implemented from the resulting reports.

Appropriate robust contractual arrangements in place with all 
third parties that supply systems or data processing services

Fully IT Officer has specific responsibility for Cyber Security and 
we have engaged a specialist partner to advise on industry 
best practices and standards.

Appropriate plans in place to ensure ongoing PSN compliance Fully

Adequate preventative measures in place to mitigate insider 
threat, including physical and system security

Fully

A complete restructure and update of the technical approach 
for the infrastructure has resulted in a move to a zero trust 
model. 

Fully

Advice received from NCSC on specific activity alerts, the 
increased threat of globalised ransomware and malware 
attacks.

Fully

Mimecast awareness training and comprehensive defence 
system deployed to improve email security.

Fully

↔

↔Ruth 
Wooldridge

Risk reviewed 
on 11/04/2024  - 
No changes

Risk updated on 
09/04/2024 - 
Mitigating 
actions updated

3

2

12

4 8

RW & MG are undertaking audits and 
inspections on a monthly basis as per the 
KPI and on target for 100% completion.

'Reports are going monthly to CLT. Ruth is 
also reporting in to monthly DLT meetings 
when necessary.

All Corporate Arrangements were reviewed 
late 2022, RW now going through again and 
doing further updates.

RW to review the Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing Policy now that Gordon is in post 
(Quarter 1).

MG supporting Environmental Services 
ensuring their continued compliance.

4

L06 - Safeguarding 
the Vulnerable – 
Operational and 
partnership actions-
Failure to work 
effectively with 
partners to identify 
and protect 
vulnerable people in 
the district and 
disrupt exploitation 
leaving vulnerable 
people at risk or 
subject to 
exploitation. 

4 4

Community based exploitation disruption coordinated through 
the Joint Agency Tasking and Coordination Process.

Reputational Impact

Reputational damage to the council.

20

16

4L07 - Health and 
safety
 Failure to ensure 
effective 
arrangements are in 
place for Health and 
Safety.

Exploitation concerns and actions discussed routinely at 
Joint Agency Tasking and Co-ordination meetings on a 
monthly basis

Working with service areas to ensure that suitable risk 
assessments are in place.

Microsoft Multi-Factor Authentication is embedded to 
authenticate users providing an enhanced level of cyber 
security.

Tim HughesIan Boll

Claire 
Cox

5

Councillor 
R. 

Parkinson

L08 - Cyber Security 
-If there is insufficient 
security with regards 
to the data held and 
IT systems used by 
the councils and 
insufficient protection 
against malicious 
attacks on council’s 
systems then there is 
a risk of: a data 
breach, or a loss of 
service.

5 15

Increased threat to security due to most staff working from 
home

Insider threat mitigated through recruitment and line 
management processes

Fully

3David 
Spilsbury

Councillor 
C.Brant

54 Stephen 
Hinds

20

Fully

↔

Councillor 
C. Brant

Risk reviewed 
on 09/04/2024 -  
No change

P
age 29



Name and 
Description of risk Potential impact Controls Control 

assessment
Lead 

Member
Risk 

owner
Risk 

manager
Direction 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues) Comments Last updated

Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Fully effective
Partially 
effective

Not effective Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Residual risk 
level (after 

existing 
controls)

Inherent 
(gross) 

risk level 
(before 

Controls)

Increased harm and distress caused to vulnerable 
individuals and their families

Safeguarding lead in place and clear lines of responsibility 
established

Fully Action plan acted upon and shared with Overview and 
scrutiny committee once a year

Council could face criminal prosecution Safeguarding Policy and procedures in place Fully Annual refresher and new training programmes including 
training for new members

Criminal investigations potentially compromised Information on the intranet on how to escalate a concern Fully Continue to attend safeguarding board sub groups as 
necessary to maintain high levels of awareness within the 
system and compliance with latest practice

Potential financial liability if council deemed to be negligent Mandatory training and awareness raising sessions are now in 
place for all staff.

Fully Corporate monitoring of all referrals

Reputational damage to the council Ensure web pages remain up to date

Data sharing agreement with other partners Fully
Attendance at Children and Young People Partnership Board 
(CYPPB)

Fully Regular internal cross departmental meetings to discuss 
safeguarding practice

SAR's and Lessons Learned reports circulated to improve 
practice and knowledge.

Unclear governance leading to lack of clarity and oversight 
in terms of financial and business outcomes

Annual business planning in place for all companies to include 
understanding of the link between the Council's strategic 
objectives being delivered and financial impact for the council. 
A regular Shareholder Representative meeting takes place, a 
Shareholder Liaison Meeting including the S.151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer takes place on a quarterly basis and a 
Shareholder Committee meeting on a quarterly basis. A 
governance review is being undertaken and initial 
recommendations have been approved by the Shareholder 
Committee.

Fully A Shareholder Representative was appointed and regular 
governance arrangements are in place.

Failure of council owned companies to achieve their 
intended outcomes or fail to meet financial objectives

Regular meetings are in place between the Council's S.151 
Officer and the relevant company Finance Directors. Financial 
planning for the companies undertaken that will then be 
included within our own Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
Financial risks are routinely reported by the Shareholder 
Representative to the Shareholder Committee.

Fully Resilience and support being developed across business to 
support and enhance knowledge around council 
companies.

Clear governance arrangements are in place. Partially Skills and experience being enhanced to deliver and 
support development, challenge and oversight.

Sound monitoring in place of both business and financial 
aspects of the companies and the impact on overall council 
performance through the Shareholder Representative 
meetings and through the reporting to the Corporate 
Leadership Team monthly. 

Fully

Training in place for those undertaking Director roles relating 
to the companies.

Partially

↔ Risk reviewed 
on 10/04/2024 - 
Comments 
updated

Monthly Safeguarding training/ briefings 
continue with good attendance, 
Safeguarding News Bulletin to all 
safeguarding champions keeps 
Safeguarding at the forefront and identifies 
shared learning .  Outcome of the Peer 
review was excellent and actions arising will 
be picked up in Q1and 2 24/25.

↔

Annual Section 11 return compiled and submitted as required 
by legislation.

Work with one company to ensure long term support 
arrangements are put in place.

Gordon 
Stewart

4

Monitoring of implementation of corporate policies and 
procedures to ensure fully embedded

Councillor 
R. 

Pattenden

Ian Boll

6

L09 - Safeguarding 
the vulnerable - 
Internal procedures- 
Failure to follow our 
internal policies and 
procedures in relation 
to safeguarding 
vulnerable adults and 
children or raising 
concerns about their 
welfare. Safer recruitment practices and DBS checks for staff with 

direct contact

Fully

Fully

4

5

4

3

Lack of understanding at officer and member level about 
the different roles of responsibilities required when 
managing council owned companies

L10 - Sustainability 
of Council owned 
companies and 
delivery of planned 
financial and other 
objectives - Failure 
of council owned 
companies to achieve 
their intended 
outcomes or fail to 
meet financial 
objectives

Councillor 
D. Hingley

16 Nicola Riley 82

2Stephen 
Hinds

15 3 Risk reviewed 
01/04/2024 - No 
changes

P
age 30



Name and 
Description of risk Potential impact Controls Control 

assessment
Lead 

Member
Risk 

owner
Risk 

manager
Direction 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues) Comments Last updated

Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Fully effective
Partially 
effective

Not effective Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Residual risk 
level (after 

existing 
controls)

Inherent 
(gross) 

risk level 
(before 

Controls)

Ensure contract management in place review and anticipate 
problems within key service suppliers and partners

Partially Creditsafe UK tool purchased to allow Procurement to carry 
out supplier credit checks when required.

Business continuity planning arrangements in place in regards 
to key suppliers

Partially

Ensuring that proactive review and monitoring is in place for 
key suppliers to ensure we are able to anticipate any potential 
service failures

Partially

Reduced resilience and business continuity Intelligence unit set up procurement Hub to monitor supplier 
and contractor market

Fully

Increased complaints and/or customer dissatisfaction

Councillor 
L.McLean

Risk Reviewed 
09/04/24 - No 
changes.

↔

Analysis of third party spend undertaken to identify and risk 
assess key suppliers/contractors

Fully

The financial failure of a third party supplier and 
contractors results in the inability or reduced ability to 
deliver a service to customers or provide goods needed. A 
reduced supply market could also result in increased costs 
due to the council's' loss of competitive advantage.

Increased costs and/or financial exposure to the Council 
due to having to cover costs or provide service due to 
failure of third party supplier of contractor

L11 - Financial 
sustainability of 
third-party suppliers 
and contractors

3 4 Michael 
Sullivan

Shiraz 
Sheikh

Service areas to ensure supplier suitability checks have 
been carried out prior to award of contract and hold 
meetings as required with suppliers to review higher risk 
areas and ensure risks are being managed. Reminders to 
be sent to all who have Procurement/Contract 
Management responsibility to regularly meet with key 
suppliers and partners to gain early understanding of any 
issues arising.

3 4 12

Services areas to keep the key suppliers under regular 
check including running financial checks.

12 Creditsafe UK tool now operational 
.Guidance is being developed for service 
areas to ensure that a contract management 
process is followed on a regular basis. This 
will include regular checks on Creditsafe UK 
to check on financial health; service areas 
will be advised to confirm that business 
continuity arrangements are in place and to 
seek evidence of regular reviews of this as 
part of the contract management process. 
Service areas to provide details of all current 
contracts to Procurement to enable analysis 
of third party spend to identify and risk 
assess key suppliers and contractors and to 
identify areas of duplication of costs. 

Prior to contract award, procurement carries 
out a credit safe check to ensure financial 
viability of the preferred supplier.

P
age 31



Name and 
Description of risk Potential impact Controls Control 

assessment
Lead 

Member
Risk 

owner
Risk 

manager
Direction 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues) Comments Last updated

Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Fully effective
Partially 
effective

Not effective Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
Im

pa
ct

R
at

in
g

Residual risk 
level (after 

existing 
controls)

Inherent 
(gross) 

risk level 
(before 

Controls)

Threat to service delivery and performance if good 
management practices and controls are not adhered to. 

Clear and robust control framework including: constitution, 
scheme of delegation, ethical walls policy etc.

Fully

Member Scrutiny - OSC function, Council Executive, AARC 
and Standards Committees

Fully

Risk of ultra vires activity or lack of legal compliance Clear accountability and resource for corporate governance 
(including the shareholder role).

Fully

Risk of fraud or corruption Integrated budget, performance and risk reporting framework. Fully

Risk to financial sustainability if lack of governance results 
in poor investment decisions or budgetary control.

Corporate programme office and project management 
framework. Includes project and programme governance. 

Partially

Failure of corporate governance in terms of major projects, 
budgets or council owned companies impacts upon 
financial sustainability of the council.  

Internal audit programme aligned to leadership risk register. Fully

Inability to support Council's democratic functions / 
obligations (e.g. return to physical public meetings and 
public access to meetings). 

Training and development resource targeted to address 
priority issues; examples include GDPR, safeguarding etc. 

Partially

HR policy framework. Partially

Review of the Constitution by the MO with member 
involvement and approval by the Full Council    

Fully

Need to establish appropriate officer and stakeholder 
governance structures to support effective programme 
delivery.

Partially Establishment of appropriate officer and stakeholder 
governance structures to support effective programme 
delivery

Limit our ability to recruit, retain and develop staff Analysis of workforce data and on-going monitoring of issues. Partially There are indications that specific service areas are 
continue to experience recruitment difficulties for 
professional roles. HR is working with the relevant directors 
to consider alternative resourcing methods.

Impact on our ability to deliver high quality services Key staff in post to address risks (e.g. strategic HR business 
partners)

Fully Development of new L&D strategy, including 
apprenticeships.

Development of relevant workforce plans.
Development of specific recruitment and retention 
strategies. It is planned for CDC to develop a framework 
that suits the needs of all services ensuring that the Council 
has access to a much wider pool of staffing agencies at 
competitive rates.

Additional training and development costs Ongoing service redesign will set out long term service 
requirements

Partially The new IT system has been implemented to improve our 
workforce data and continues to be develop to improve our 
ability to interrogate and access key data (ongoing) in order 
to inform workforce strategies.

↔3 12

Risk reviewed - 
09/04/2024 no 
changes

9 External Audit - external audit issue an opinion on the 
accounts and the Council's arrangements for securing 
Value for Money.                                                               
The Council's Annual Governance Statement and Code of 
Corporate Governance. At least annually, a review of 
effectiveness of governance framework including the 
system of internal control and AGS is published. The work 
is informed by the Corporate Governance and Oversight 
Group. CLT & ELT has responsibility of maintenance of the 
governance environment. 

Institute regular and effective dialogue with developers

↔

↔

Need to institute regular and effective dialogue with 
developers.

Partially

Councillor 
C. Brant

Claire Cox

Elements of the COVID-19 response and recovery work 
may be compromised, delayed or not taken forwards.

Weekly Vacancy Management process in place Fully

Councillor 
I. 

Middleton 

Ian Boll

Councillor 
C. Brant

Stephen 
Hinds

Robert 
Jolley

L13 - Monitoring 
and management of  
Major Infrastructure 
Projects and 
Programmes - 
Failure to properly 
manage and monitor 
the various residual 
Oxfordshire  Housing 
and Growth Deal 
infrastructure 
projects.

4

12L14 - Workforce 
Strategy                      
The lack of effective 
workforce strategies 
could impact on our 
ability to deliver 
Council priorities and 
services.

4 4L12 - Corporate 
Governance - Failure 
of corporate 
governance leads to 
negative impact on 
service delivery or the 
implementation of 
major projects 
providing value to 
customers. 

16

Overreliance on temporary staff

3

Failure to actively manage the various Infrastructure 
Projects and Programmes, particularly in relation to those 
being delivered by Oxfordshire County Council, could lead 
to delays or failure to deliver timely obligations, which 
could lead to HM Government holding back some or all of 
its funding, or requiring repayment.

Delivery of Infrastructure projects fail to accelerate housing 
delivery as commercial pressures impact house builders

205

4

Stephen 
Hinds

Shiraz 
Sheikh

Annual governance statement process undertaken for 
2023/24  connects more fully and earlier with ELT and CLT.

Fully

3 3

Risk reviewed - 
09/04/2024 no 
changes

Risk reviewed 
on 03/04/24 - 
No changes

12

4

34

P
age 32



1 
 

Cherwell District Council          Appendix 2 

Risk Strategy 2023 - 2024 

Report of Assistant Director Customer Focus 

 

This report is public. 

 
1.0      Introduction 

   

1.1 This strategy outlines Cherwell District council’s overall approach to managing risk, 
Its fundamental aim is to help  the council identify and manage risk. 

 

1.2 What is Risk Management and why do we have it? 

Risk arises when there is uncertainty about the future, reflecting the possibility that 
an event or series of events may adversely affect the council’s ability to deliver its 
strategic priorities. 
 
Through understanding risks, decision-makers (councillors and managers) will be 
better able to evaluate the impact of a particular decision or action on the 
achievement of the councils’ strategic priorities. 
 

1.3 What is Cherwell District Council’s Risk Appetite? 

Risk management should not focus upon risk avoidance, but on the identification 
and management of an acceptable level of risk.  The council aims to proactively 
identify, understand, and manage the risks inherent in services and associated with 
business/service plans, policies, and strategies, so as to support responsible, 
informed risk taking and as a consequence, aim to achieve measurable value. The 
council provides a supportive culture but will not support reckless risk taking. 

Appropriately managed and controlled risk-taking and innovation will be encouraged 
where it supports the delivery of the councils’ strategic priorities. 

Focus will be on the council’s ambitions for increasing income generation and self-
sufficiency through sound investments, effective asset management, 
commercialisation opportunities and programmes of regeneration. 

Any risks associated with these plans will be managed through the appropriate 
mechanisms, ensuring due diligence has taken place; these include sound business 
cases, effective project management and working with external partners for 
specialist advice. Channels will be in place to report risks into the relevant 
management and democratic committees to ensure full transparency and allow any 
actions to be taken as necessary. 

 

 

Page 33



 

2 
 

2.0    Risk Management Processes 
 

2.1 How we manage risk 

Understanding and managing threats or risks comes down to four very simple 
questions: 
1. What’s the worst that could happen to us? 
2. What’s the likelihood of it happening? 
3. What would be the impact if it did? 
4. What can we do about it? (how can we prevent it from happening, or what 
can we put in place to manage it if it should?) 
 
 

             The four steps of risk management 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Our approach is to use a simple 4 stage process of identification, assessment, 
management, and review to ensure our risks are recorded and effectively managed. 
This approach is described in the four sections below.  

 
 

2.2 Identifying Risks 
  

To identify risks, think through the things that could prevent or hinder your team from 
achieving its business objectives.  There are three parts to a risk – an event that 
has a consequence that leads to an impact on our objectives.   
 
Typical risk phrasing could be. 
loss of… 
failure of…  
failure to...   leads to …  resulting in…  
lack of…    
partnership with… 
development of… 
 
You will also need to identify whether the risk is:  

 Leadership: risks that are significant in size and duration and will impact on the 
reputation and performance of the Council as a whole and on its ability to deliver 

1. Identifying 

risks 

4. Review & 
report 

Reporting changes 
Ensuring actions and 

controls effective 

2. Assessing 
risks 

Likelihood 
Impact 

3. Managing and 
controlling risks 

4 T’s 
Controls 

Page 34



 

3 
 

its strategic priorities. Also, risks to corporate systems or processes that 
underpin the organisation’s overall governance, operation, and ability to deliver 
services.   

 Partnership: risks to a partnership meeting its objectives or delivering agreed 
services/ projects. 

 Operational: risks specific to the delivery of individual services/service 
performance/project. 

 
Each one should have its own risk register within Unity, aimed at the different 
teams/audience, i.e., Leadership Risk register is managed by the Performance & 
Insight Team, updated, reviewed, and signed off by Managers and DLTs/CLT, and 
its ultimate audience are Executive members, Overview & Scrutiny, and our 
residents. The Performance Team can provide guidance to build your own 
Operational risk register within Unity.   

 
2.3 Assessing Risk  

           
          Once a risk has been identified (of any type, Leadership, operational or project) it 

needs to be assessed. The assessment process considers the probability that the 
risk may occur and its potential impact. This allows for risks to be ranked and 
prioritised, as not all risks represent equal significance to the council. 
 
There are two forms of risk: 
 

 Inherent/Gross risk: the level of risk existing before any controls and/or 
treatment measures have been applied. 

 

 Residual risk: the level of risk remaining after managing it through treatment 
and/or control measures. Please note that only the residual risk score will be 
included in the monthly reports. 

 
The council uses a risk scoring matrix to work out the inherent risk rating 
(probability  times impact).  The owner of the risk undertakes this assessment. For 
a Leadership risk this is checked by the Performance & Insight team, for 
programme/ project risks by the relevant board and for operational risks by the 
Assistant Director. 
 

Assessing probability 
 

Scale / Level Descriptor Description 

1 
Remote May only occur in exceptional circumstances (P < 

2%) 

2 
Unlikely Is unlikely to occur, but could occur at some time (2% 

< P < 25%)  

3 
Possible Fairly likely to occur at some time, or in some 

circumstances (25% < P < 50%) 

4 
Probable Will probably occur at some time, or in most 

circumstances (50% < P < 75%)  

5 Highly Probable Is expected to occur in most circumstances (P > 75%) 

 

 
 

Page 35



 

4 
 

Description and definition of the impact of the risk should it occur (these are a 
guide) 

 
The inherent risk score is the ‘likelihood’ times the ‘impact’ calculated before controls have 
been put in place.  The inherent risk score helps to make decisions about the significance 
of risks to the councils, and how they will be managed, the controls required and the 
treatment of the risk. A residual score is calculated in the same manner, but after controls 
have been implemented. 
 

 

Effect - Service 
Delivery 

Effect – 

Financial 

Effect -Health 
& Safety 

Effect – 

Environment 

Effect – 

Reputation 

5 – Catastrophic 

Catastrophic 
disruption. 
Loss of service 
delivery for more than 
seven days 

Huge financial 
loss 
>£1,000,000 

Loss of life.  
Intervention by 
HSE 

Significant local, 
national and/or 
international 
environmental 
damage 

Extensive 
coverage in the 
national press 
and broadsheet 
editorial, and/or a 
national TV item 

4 – Major 

Major disruption. 
Serious damage to 
ability to provide 
service.  Loss of 
service for more than 
48 hours but less 
than 7 days 

Major 
financial loss 
>£100,000 -
<£1,000,000 

Extensive / 
multiple 
injuries.  
Intervention by 
HSE 

Major damage 
to the local 
environment 

Coverage in 
national 
broadsheets, the 
press, and/or low 
national TV 
reporting 

3 – Moderate 

Noticeable disruption, 
some customers 
would be affected.  
Loss of service no 
more than 48 hours 

High financial 
loss 
>£25,000 - 
<£100,000 

Violence, threat 
or major injury – 
medical 
treatment 
required.  
Intervention by 
HSE 

Moderate 
damage to the 
local 
environment 

Coverage in the 
national tabloid 
press and/or 
extensive front 
page coverage in 
local press/ TV 

2 – Minor 

Some disruption to 
internal business only 
– no loss of customer 
service 

Medium 
financial loss 
>£5,000          
-<£25,000 

Minor injury – 
first aid 
treatment only 
required 

Minor damage 
to the local 
environment 

Minimal reputation 
damage. 
Minimal coverage 
in the local press 

1 – Insignificant 

Insignificant 
disruption to internal 
business – no loss of 
customer service 

Low financial 
loss <£5,000 

No injuries 

No, or 
insignificant 
environmental 
damage 

No reputational 
damage 

Page 36



 

5 
 

  2.4   Managing and Controlling Risk   

Residual 

risk Score 

How the risk should be managed? 

High Risk                  

(16 to 25) 

Requires active management – Risk requires active management to 

manage score down and maintain at an acceptable level 

Medium Risk                

(10 – 15) 

Contingency plans – A robust contingency plan may suffice together with 

early warning mechanisms to detect any deviation from the profile 

Low Risk            

(1 – 9) 

Good housekeeping – May require some risk mitigation to reduce the 

probability if this can be done in a cost effective manner, good housekeeping 

is always needed to ensure that the impact remains low. Re-assessing  

frequently to ensure conditions remain the same and to revise the possibility 

of de-escalation to the service operational risk. 

 
The inherent risk rating will determine how the risk is controlled and managed with one of 
the Four Ts - treatment, toleration, transfer and terminate - as the main options (see 
below). 
  
Once controls and actions to mitigate the risk have been identified a residual risk score 
should be assessed. The residual risk score, along with the controls and assurances then 
form the basis of monthly reviews; controls and residual score  will be reported monthly 
to Executive and quarterly to Audit.   
 
The Four Ts 
The level of the inherent risk will help determine the best treatment for a risk, whether 
strategic or operational.  

 

Tolerating 

The councils may tolerate a risk where: 

 The risk is effectively mitigated by internal controls, even if it is a high risk 

 The risk cannot be mitigated cost effectively 

 The risk opens up greater benefits 

These risks must be monitored, and contingency plans should be put in place in 

case the risks occur. 

Treating 

This is the most widely used approach.  The purpose of treating a risk is to 

continue with the activity which gives rise to the risk, but to bring the risk to an 

acceptable level by stablishing controls to either contain a risk to an acceptable 

level (the impact), or to reduce the likelihood; and additional assurances to 

ensure delivery of controls. 

Terminating 

Doing things differently and therefore removing the risk. This is particularly 

important in terms of project risk but is often severely limited in terms of the 

strategic risks of an organisation. 

Transferring 

Transferring some aspects of the risk to a third party, e.g., via insurance, or by 

paying a third party to take the risk in another way.  This option is particularly 

good for mitigating financial risks, or risks to assets. However, it is a limited 

option – very few strategic risks are insurable and only around 15 -20% of 

operational risks can be insured against. 

 

 

Page 37



 

6 
 

2.5    Review and report   

Circumstances and business priorities can, and do, change, and therefore risks need 
to be regularly reviewed.  Some risks will move down the priority rating, some may 
leave, and others will be identified. Risks are reviewed quarterly in more detail by the 
Accounts Audit and Risk Committee. 

 

 Operational risks are updated quarterly and/or when needed at the 
service/directorate level, and a 6- monthly health check is undertaken at a 
corporate level. 

 New leadership risks should be discussed with the Performance & Insight team; 
and a risk template should be completed for CLT approval, ensuring there is an 
effective assessment of the risk and identification of controls (this template will be 
provided by the Performance & Insight team, and you should return to them upon 
completion). Once the new leadership risk is approved by CLT the team will add to 
the Leadership Risk Register in Unity. 

 New operational risks can be entered directly onto service risk registers. 

 
3.0 Roles and Responsibilities 

 
The overall responsibility for the effective management of risks rests with Full Council and the 
Executive (lead members/portfolio holders) as advised by CLT.  

 

Who? When? 

 Ongoing Monthly Quarterly Annually 

All  
employees 

Consult the risk 

management 

guidance available 

on the Intranet 

when appropriate 

 Participate in risk 

discussions within 

teams as they would 

be with regards to 

performance 

management. 

Attend risk management 

and risk escalation 

awareness training 

sessions. 

Assistant 
Directors 

Own relevant 

Leadership risk on 

the corporate risk 

register 

 Use Directorate 

level meetings 

to monitor 

progress in 

delivering the 

risk 

management 

aspects of 

service plans is 

monitored at  

 Present risk 

reviews and 

monitoring 

monthly to CLT 

meetings 

 Report on risk 

register 

management via 

our performance 

management 

platform, Unity. 

 Present risk reviews 

and monitoring 

monthly to Audit 

meetings, where 

appropriate. 

 Complete a statement of 

assurance taking 

responsibility for their 

individual service / 

operational risk registers 

and the implementation 

of the management 

actions contained within 

it to feed into the Annual 

Governance Statement. 

 Ensure their Service 

Plans:  

-Identify operational 

risks associated with 

service delivery 

- Identify actions to 

control risks 

- Include key operational 

risk management 

activities 

Page 38



 

7 
 

Who? When? 

 Ongoing Monthly Quarterly Annually 

Portfolio 
Holder 
Corporate 
Services 

  To review 

monthly reports 

and present 

any exceptions 

to the 

Executive 

 To review and sign off 

Risk Management 

Strategy yearly review. 

Accounts,  
Audit  
and Risk 
Committee 

   Receive risk 

management 

updates 

 Review the 

Leadership risk 

register 

 Undertake an annual 

review of this strategy  

 Make recommendations 

to Executive if it is 

considered that any 

improvements or 

amendments are 

required. 

Corporate 
Leadership 
Team (CLT) 

Briefing Executive 

members to ensure 

they are aware of 

Leaderships risks 

affecting their 

service areas / 

portfolios and any 

improvements in 

controls which are 

proposed. 

Take Risk 

Management as 

an agenda item 

at meetings. 

  Update Leadership Risk 

Register and remove 

obsolete risks. 

 Prepare an Annual 

Governance Strategy in 

line with Regulation 4 of 

the Account and Audit 

Regulations (2003). 

Executive Act as risk 

champions 

Receive and 

review an 

integrated 

finance, 

performance, 

and risk report.  

  Approve an update of 

this strategy. 

 Agree Annual 

Governance Strategy in 

line with Regulation 4 of 

the Account and Audit 

Regulations (2003). 

Internal  
Auditors 

Refer to the 

councils’ risk 

registers when 

planning audit 

work.  

   Independently review 

the risk management 

strategy and process. 

 Complete risk based 

reviews of the key 

controls identified to 

mitigate the principal 

risk to the council’s 

achievement of their 

strategic objectives. 

Page 39



 

8 
 

Who? When? 

 Ongoing Monthly Quarterly Annually 

Performance 
& Insight 
Team 

 Manage the 

Leadership risk 

register (including 

management of 

the performance 

and risk software 

and making sure 

all risks are up to 

date). 

 Provide risk 

related training, 

support to 

managers, officers, 

and councillors. 

  Facilitate regular 

discussions around 

Risk and 

Performance at 

service team 

meetings, 

reiterating the 

escalation process 

into CLT. 

 Prepare regular 

committee reports. 

 Preparing and updating 

the risk management 

strategy. 

 Provide information for 

the Annual Governance 

Statement. 

S.151 Officer     Ensure the council has 
robust risk management 
strategies in place that 
effectively support the 
systems of internal 
control 

 
3.1  Risk Management Responsibilities in Project Environments 

 

Corporate 
Management CLT 

Responsible for providing and ensuring adherence to the Risk and 

Opportunities Management Strategy 

Programme Senior 
Responsible Owner 

Accountable for risk management actions agreed at Programme Board 

level, following escalation from projects 

Assistant Director 
Accountable for risk management actions agreed at DMT following 

escalation from projects and operational risks within the Directorate 

Project Sponsor 

 Accountable for all risk management within the project, and for putting in 

place a risk management approach or strategy specific to the project. 

 Ensures all risks associated with the project business case are identified, 

assessed, and controlled. 

 Triggers an escalation 

Senior user / customer 
/ client board member 

Responsible for ensuring all risks to users are identified, assessed, and 

controlled 

Senior supplier  
board member 

Responsible for ensuring all risks to delivery are identified, assessed, and 

controlled 

Project Manager 

 Creates the project-specific risk management approach as directed by 

the sponsor. 

 Responsible for creating and maintaining the risk register in line with 

requirements of the Risk and Opportunities Management Strategy, 

ensuring risk identification, assessment and control measures are 

implemented. 

Page 40



 

9 
 

 4.0 Version History 
 

Version Date Section Reviewer Description of Amendment 

0.5 01/07/2019 All 
Louise Tustian 
(Insight Team Leader) 

 Minor amendments reflecting 
separation of CDC and SNC. 

0.6 31/01/2021 All 
Louise Tustian 
(Head of Insight & 
Corporate Programmes) 

 Annual review of strategy pre 
CEDR review. 

0.7 01/05/2022 All 

Celia Prado-Teeling 
(Interim Assistant 
Director – Customer 
Focus) 

 Annual review of strategy pre 
CLT review. 

0.8 02/10/2023 All 
Shona Ware (Assistant 
Director – Customer 
Focus) 

 Annual review of strategy. 
Formatting has been 
amended. 

 

For information on versions before 2019 please contact the Performance and Insight 
team  
 

4.1  Date of next review: April 2024 
 

 
5.0 Contacts  

  
Shona Ware –  Assistant Director – Customer Focus  
Shona.Ware@cherwell-dc.gov.uk  
 
Celia Prado-Teeling – Performance & Insight Team Leader 
Celia.Prado-Teeling@cherwell-dc.gov.uk  
 
Michael Furness – S151 Officer / Assistant Director of Finance  
Michael.Furness@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

 

 
 

Page 41

mailto:Shona.Ware@cherwell-dc.gov.uk
mailto:Celia.Prado-Teeling@cherwell-dc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Cherwell District Council 

This report is public 

 

Draft Statement of Accounts 2023-2024  

 

Committee Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee 

Date of Committee 17 July 2024 

Portfolio Holder presenting 
the report 
 

Councillor Lesley McLean, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
and Resources 

Date Portfolio Holder agreed 
report 
 

1 July 2024 

Report of Assistant Director of Finance (Section 151), Michael 
Furness

  
 

Purpose of report 
 
To provide an opportunity for review of the draft 2023/24 Statement of Accounts which 
were published on the council’s website on 31 May 2024.  
 

1. Recommendations 

 
The Accounts, Audit and Risk committee resolves: 
 

1.1 To note the report and publication of the draft statement of accounts 2023/24 
(Appendix 1). 
 

 

2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 The draft statement of accounts 2023/24 were published on 31 May 2024. Section 

15 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the statement of accounts to 
be published by 31 May each year, to allow the public inspection period to include 
the first 10 working days of June. A public inspection notice was published on the 
council’s website alongside the draft accounts, which declared that the public 
inspection period commenced on 3 June 2024 and ended on 12 July 2024. 
 

2.2 The draft statement of accounts for 2023/24 are now being presented to the 
Accounts, Audit and Risk committee for review (Appendix 1). 

 
 

Implications & Impact Assessments  

 

Implications  
 

Commentary  

Finance  There are no financial implications as a result of this report. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



 

Cherwell District Council 

 Joanne Kaye, Head of Finance (Deputy S151) 24 June 2024 

Legal The statement of accounts is required under the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015. There are no legal implications arising 
directly from this report. 
Shiraz Sheikh, Assistant Director of Law and Governance 
(Monitoring Officer) 24 June 2024 

Risk Management  There are no risk implications arising directly from this report. 
Celia Prado-Teeling, Performance & Insight Team Leader, 28 June 
2024 

 
Impact 
Assessments  
 

P
o

s
it
iv

e
  

N
e
u

tr
a

l 
 

N
e
g

a
ti
v
e
 Commentary  

 
 
 
 

Equality Impact     Not Applicable
 

A Are there any 
aspects of the 
proposed decision, 
including how it is 
delivered or 
accessed, that could 
impact on 
inequality? 

   Not Applicable 

B Will the proposed 
decision have an 
impact upon the 
lives of people with 
protected 
characteristics, 
including employees 
and service users? 

   Not Applicable 

Climate & 
Environmental 
Impact 

   Not applicable
 

 

ICT & Digital 
Impact 

   Not applicable
 

 

Data Impact    Not applicable
 

 

Procurement & 
subsidy 

   Not applicable 

Council Priorities
 

Not applicable 

Human Resources  N/A 

Property N/A 

Consultation & 
Engagement 
 

No consultation necessary.
 

 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

Cherwell District Council 

Supporting Information 

 

3. Background  

 
3.1 All local authorities must produce a statement of accounts annually to help ensure 

that there is appropriate stewardship of public finances. Section 15 of the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015 require the statement of accounts to be published by 
31 May each year to allow the public inspection period to include the first 10 
working days of June. A public inspection notice was published on the council’s 
website alongside the draft accounts on 31 May 2024, which declared that the 
public inspection period commenced on the 3 June 2024 and ended on the 12 July 
2024. 
 

3.2 The statements of accounts are produced according to accounting standards to 
ensure that they are produced on a consistent standard and are comparable with 
other statements of accounts.  Local Authority statements of accounts are produced 
by following the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).  
The Code occasionally overrides International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) where public sector adaptations are required, or where statute takes 
precedence over accounting standards. 
 

3.3 The Statement of Accounts is made up of the following elements: 

 The Narrative Statement - an introduction to Cherwell District Council (CDC) 
and what it has achieved over the year. 

 The main financial statements: 
o Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) 
o Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 
o Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS) 
o Balance Sheet 
o Cashflow Statement 

 Supporting Notes to the Accounts 

 Collection Fund accounts – setting out the Non-Domestic Rates and Council 
Tax collected and distributed by the council as the billing authority. 

 Group accounts and explanatory notes – a set of accounts where the 
subsidiaries within the group have been consolidated with the council’s 
accounts. 

 Annual Governance Statement – an annual assessment of the governance 
arrangements for the council which is required to be published alongside the 
financial statements. 

 
 

4. Details 

 
4.1 The council’s draft statement of accounts for 2023/24 are attached at Appendix 1. 

This report will provide an overview of what the main financial statements say about 
the council.   

 

Page 45



 

Cherwell District Council 

4.2 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
4.2.1 The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) is to demonstrate to 

council taxpayers how the funding available to the council (i.e. government grants, 
council tax and business rates) for the year has been used in providing services in 
comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practices.  
 

4.2.2 The EFA also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes 
between the council’s directorates within the General Fund. Income and 
expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is 
presented more fully in the CIES.  
 

4.2.3 All figures shown in the EFA are net expenditure or (income) figures.  Therefore, a 
figure without brackets shows a net cost and a figure with brackets is a net income 
item. 
 

4.2.4 The council reported to its Executive Committee a balanced revenue outturn 
position for 2023/24 in June 2024. This position did not (and should not have) 
included the statutory accounting adjustments found in the EFA. The overall surplus 
on the General Fund and Earmarked Reserves for the provision of services for the 
year was (£7.2m). This consists of a (£0.0m) surplus on the General Fund, and 
(£7.2m) contribution to Earmarked reserves. In total there were £2.7m of 
adjustments between the net expenditure chargeable to the general fund and net 
expenditure in the CIES.  These are statutory adjustments between the funding 
basis for the council and the accounting requirements of the CIPFA code. The 
adjustments are as follows: 

 

 Capital Statutory adjustments of £2.8m 
This adjustment adds in capital items not chargeable to the general fund such as 
depreciation, impairment, revaluation movements and capital grant income. It 
also removes statutory charges for capital financing such as the Minimum 
Revenue provision as these are not chargeable under generally accepted 
accounting practices.  
 

 Pensions Statutory adjustments of (£3.5m) 
This adjustment removes the pension contributions chargeable to the general 
fund under statute and replaces with the accounting charges based on 
estimated changes in the net defined benefit pension liability as calculated by 
the pension scheme actuary.   

 

 Other Statutory Adjustments of £3.4m 
Consisting primarily of the difference between what is chargeable to the general 
fund under statutory regulations for Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates and 
the income recognised in the CIES under generally accepted accounting 
practices in the Code. This is a timing difference, as any difference will be 
brought forward in future Surpluses or Deficits on the Collection Fund. 
 

4.3 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 

4.3.1 The CIES shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practices rather than the amount to be funded 
from taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with 

Page 46



 

Cherwell District Council 

statutory requirements; this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation 
position is shown in both the EFA and the Movement in Reserves Statement 
(MIRS). 
 

4.3.2 All figures shown in the CIES with brackets are income and without brackets are 
expenditure.  

 
4.3.3 Table 1 below compares the Net Expenditure/ (Income) for the council for 2022/23 

and 2023/24 
 
Table 1: Comparison of Net Expenditure / (Income) for the council between 
2022/23 and 2023/24 
 

 2022/23 Net 
Expenditure 
/(Income)  
£m 

2023/24 
Net 
Expenditure 
/(Income) 
£m 

Increase/ 
(decrease) 
£m 

Chief Executive 8.5 9.2 0.7 

Communities 13.1 14.5 1.4 

Resources 14.9 7.9 (7.0) 

Cost of Services 36.5 31.5 (5.0) 

Other Operating Expenditure 4.6 5.9 1.3 

Financing and Investment (Income) and 
Expenditure 

(0.7) (1.4) (0.7) 

Taxation and Non-specific Grant (Income) (36.1) (40.6) (4.5) 

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of 
Services  

4.3 (4.5) (8.8) 

 
 

4.3.4 The primary factors in the (£8.8m) reduction in net deficit on provision of services 
are as follows. There was increased business rates income shown in the Taxation 
and Non-specific grant income line. Across the directorates in cost of services there 
was a reduction in the IAS19 pension adjustments and a budgeted increase in 
direct employee costs. Note that the IAS19 pension adjustments (£7.7m) portion of 
this reduction do not impact on the general fund (i.e. in-year costs to the council tax 
payer) due to the pension statutory overrides. This is broken down in table 2 below:   

Page 47



 

Cherwell District Council 

Table 2: Breakdown of reduction in net deficit on provision of services 
 

 IAS19 
Adjustments 
£m 

Business 
Rates 
Income  
£m 

Employee 
Costs 
£m 

Capital 
movements 
£m 

Other Net 
movements 

Total 
Increase / 
(Decrease) 

Chief Executive (1.0) 0.0 0.8 1.6 (0.7) 0.7 

Communities (2.0) 0.0 0.7 0.9 1.8 1.4 

Resources (4.7) 0.0 1.2 (3.5) 0.0 (7.0) 

Cost of 
Services 

(7.7) 0.0 2.7 (1.0) 1.0 (5.0) 

Other Operating 
Expenditure 

0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.2 1.3 

Financing and 
Investment 
(Income) and 
Expenditure 

0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.4) (0.3) (0.7) 

Taxation and 
Non-specific 
Grant (Income) 

0.0 (3.4) 0.0 0.0 (1.1) (4.5) 

(Surplus) or 
Deficit on 
Provision of 
Services  

(7.7) (3.4) 2.7 (0.3) (0.1) (8.8) 

 
 

4.3.5 Capital movements includes changes in revaluation movements for property plant 
and equipment, gains/losses on disposal of assets and Revenue Expenditure 
Funded from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS). The net impact of these movements 
was less in 2023/24 than in 2022/23.  Other net movements include changes in 
grant income, council tax income and other small changes. For more detail on some 
of the other net movements see the 2023/24 Outturn report taken to Executive on 
10 June 2024.  
 

4.4 Movement in Reserves Statement 
 

4.4.1 The MIRS shows the movement from the start of the year to the end of the year for 
the different reserves held by the council, analysed into ‘useable reserves’ (i.e. 
those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other 
‘unusable reserves’ (e.g. the Revaluation Reserve which holds unrealised gains and 
losses from the revaluation of assets or the Capital Adjustment Account which holds 
adjustments between the accounting basis and funding basis under regulations).  

 
4.4.2 This statement shows how the movements in year of the council’s reserves are 

broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to return to 
the amounts chargeable to council tax for the year. The net (Increase)/Decrease 
line shows the statutory General Fund Balance in the year following those 
adjustments. 
 

4.4.3 The MIRS combines both levels of reserves held (balances) and changes in the 
level of reserves that have happened through the year. Where there is a change in 
the year that contributes to - (increases) - a reserve this is shown with brackets.  
Where there is a use of - decreases - a reserve this is shown without brackets. 

Page 48



 

Cherwell District Council 

 
4.4.4 The council’s general reserve is unchanged at (£6.2m).  Other usable reserves 

have increased from (£29.5m) to (£37.2m), meaning total usable reserves as at 31 
March 2024 are (£43.3m). The increase relates primarily to contributions to 
earmarked reserves agreed by Executive throughout the financial year. 
 

4.4.5 Total unusable reserves have increased by (£9.7m) from (£16.0m) to (£25.7m) as at 
31 March 2024.  The increase relates primarily to a (£16.2m) increase in the 
pension reserve. This increase in the pension reserve is due to a £16.2m reduction 
in the net pension liability, reducing from (£31.3m) to (£15.1m), as the reserve 
mirrors the liability (see section 4.5.5 for detail on the pension liability movement).  
 

4.5 Balance sheet 
 

4.5.1 The balance sheet shows the values as at 31 March 2024 of the assets and 
(liabilities) recognised by the council. The net assets of the council - assets less 
(liabilities) - are matched by the reserves held by the council, analysed between 
‘useable’ and ‘unusable’ reserves, shown in the bottom portion of the Balance 
Sheet.  Assets are shown without brackets, whilst (liabilities) are shown with 
brackets.    
 

4.5.2 The Balance Sheet is split between long-term and short-term items (also referred to 
as non-current and current respectively).  Long-term items are expected to last or 
mature after a period of more than 1 year.  Short-term items are expected to last or 
mature within 1 year of the balance sheet date. 
 

4.5.3 A high-level breakdown of the balance sheet is shown in table 3 below, for a full 
breakdown please see the balance sheet as presented on pg28 of Appendix 1. 
 
Table 3 – High-Level Balance Sheet  

Category 2022/23  
£m 

2023/24 
£m 

Movement 
£m 

Long term Assets 288.7 290.7 2.0 

Current Assets 61.6 35.5 (26.1) 

Total Assets 350.3 326.2 (24.1) 

Current Liabilities (76.5) (78.9) (2.4) 

Long Term Liabilities (222.1) (178.3) 43.8 

Total Liabilities (298.6) (257.1) 41.5 
    

Net Assets 51.7 69.0 17.3 
    

Total Reserves (51.7) (69.0) (17.3) 

 
 

4.5.4 The increase to net assets of £17.3m is largely attributed to the £16.2m reduction in 
the net pension liability (found in Long Term Liabilities) from (£31.3m) to (£15.1m) – 
mirrored by a (£16.2m) increase in the pensions reserve (in Total Reserves) due to 
the accounting entries for defined benefit pensions.  
 

4.5.5 The net pension liability reduction is primarily due to a higher than expected return 
on plan assets (in comparison to the actuary’s assumption on future returns made in 
the previous year), and an increase in the discount rate assumption used by the 
actuaries to estimate the liability. The discount rate is linked to the yield of corporate 
bonds, and so has risen alongside the interest rate increases from the Bank of 

Page 49



 

Cherwell District Council 

England. The discount rate is used to discount future cashflows to reflect the time 
value of money. Therefore, an increase in the discount rate means the present 
value of future pension payments has decreased, and so the pension liability has 
decreased. 
 

4.5.6 Current assets have decreased by (£26.1m). This is in relation to a (£22.0m) 
decrease in short term investments and a (£4.6m) decrease in short term debtors. 
Short term investments have matured in year, and there have been fewer new 
short-term investments due to repayments of borrowing and other changes in 
working capital.  Short-term debtors have decreased primarily due to bonds and 
loans in relation to the councils subsidiaries having been settled. 
 

4.5.7 Long term liabilities have decreased by £43.8m due to a variety of factors. As 
discussed above, the net pension liability has reduced by £16.2m. In addition, long-
term borrowing and provisions have reduced by £21.0m and £6.2m respectively. 
The £21.0m decrease in long term borrowing is because of loans now being 
classified as short term as they mature in 2024/25. This means short term 
borrowing has increased, but by £14.0m as overall borrowing has fallen by £7.0m 
with loans being repaid. Similarly the £6.2m reduction in long term provisions is 
partly due to a reclassification of £4.1m to short term provisions, with a £2.1m net 
reduction in total provisions due to usage of the NNDR appeals provision.   
 

4.5.8 The reclassification of borrowing and provisions to short term identified above 
increased current liabilities by (£18.1m), however the net increase in current 
liabilities shown in table 3 is only (£2.4m) as this is offset by a £17.3m decrease in 
short term creditors and some other minor movements. The decrease in short term 
creditors is primarily in relation to a reduction in creditors to preceptors (Oxfordshire 
County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner) and central government 
for council tax and business rates. 
 

4.6 Cash Flow Statement  
 

4.6.1 The Cash Flow Statement summarises the changes in cash and cash equivalents 
during 2023/24. The statement shows how the council generates and uses cash 
and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing, and 
financing activities.  
 

 Net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent 
to which the operations of the council are funded by way of taxation and 
grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the council.  

 Investing activities represent the extent to which net cash flows have been 
made for resources which are intended to contribute to the council’s future 
service delivery.  

 Net cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims 
on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the council. 

 
4.6.2 Increases in cash - (inflows) - are shown with brackets.  Reductions in cash – 

outflows – are shown without brackets.  A high-level summary of the cashflow 
statement is shown in table 4 below.  

 
 
 
 

Page 50



 

Cherwell District Council 

 
 

Table 4 – Cashflow Statement  

 £m 

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 14.8 

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities (13.3) 

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities (1.0) 

Net (Increase) / Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Period 0.5 

 
4.6.3 The £14.8m net cash outflow from operating activities is primarily driven by the 

£17.3m reduction in short term creditors as discussed in paragraph 4.5.8 above. 
The (£13.3m) cash inflow from investing activities is largely due to the £22.0m 
decrease in short term investments, offset by £9.0m of purchases of property, plant 
and equipment. For a full breakdown of the movements see the full cashflow 
statement on page 29 of Appendix 1.  
 

5. Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 

 
5.1 There are no alternative options as the council is required by the Accounts and 

Audit Regulations 2015 to produce and publish its statement of accounts for 
2023/24 which has already been completed. This report is to give members the 
opportunity to comment or raise any queries so these can be discussed with 
officers.  

 

6 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 

  
6.1 The statement of accounts has been prepared according the CIPFA code and 

represents a true and fair view of the council’s financial position.  The Accounts, 
Audit and Risk Committee is invited to note the draft statement of accounts and 
discuss these with officers to get an understanding of the statements. 

 

Decision Information 

 

Key Decision 
 

N/A 
 

Subject to Call in  
 

N/A  

If not, why not subject 
to call in 

N/A 

Ward(s) Affected 
 

All 

Document Information 
 

Appendices 

 

 

Appendix 1 Draft Statement of Accounts 2023-24 

Background Papers None 

Page 51



 

Cherwell District Council 

Reference Papers Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee report on 20 March 
2024 – 2023/24 Accounting Policies 
Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee report on 29 May 2024 
- Annual Governance Statement 2023-24 

Report Author Alex Rycroft, Strategic Finance Business Partner 

Report Author contact 

details 

Alex.Rycroft@cherwell-dc.gov.uk, 01295 221541 
 

 

Page 52

mailto:Alex.Rycroft@cherwell-dc.gov.uk


Page 1 of 155 
 

 

DRAFT 

Statement of Accounts  

2023/24 

  

Page 53



Page 2 of 155 
 

Contents 

CONTENTS ......................................................................................................................................... 2 

INTRODUCTION.................................................................................................................................. 4 

NARRATIVE STATEMENT – OVERVIEW OF 2023/24 ...................................................................... 5 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................................... 5 
ABOUT THE DISTRICT ...................................................................................................................................... 6 
OUR BUSINESS PLAN 2023 – 2024 ................................................................................................................. 7 

Our 2023 - 2024 performance .........................................................................................................................8 
Housing that meets your needs .....................................................................................................................9 
Supporting environmental sustainability....................................................................................................... 10 
An enterprising economy with strong and vibrant local centres ..................................................................... 11 
Healthy, resilient, and engaged communities ................................................................................................ 12 

RISK MANAGEMENT ....................................................................................................................................... 13 
FINANCIAL OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................... 13 

Financial Performance ................................................................................................................................. 13 
Resources.................................................................................................................................................... 13 
Pension Liabilities ........................................................................................................................................ 14 
Contingencies .............................................................................................................................................. 14 
Council Funding 2023/24.............................................................................................................................. 15 
Revenue Financial Outturn Position.............................................................................................................. 16 
Financial Position ......................................................................................................................................... 17 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME .................................................................................................................................. 18 

Capital investment plans for 2023/24 ............................................................................................................ 18 
Town Centre House ..................................................................................................................................... 18 
Bicester Depot ............................................................................................................................................. 19 
Basis of Preparation and Presentation .......................................................................................................... 20 
Financial Outlook ......................................................................................................................................... 20 

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ...................................................................................................... 21 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS ........................................................... 23 

The Council’s Responsibilities ...................................................................................................................... 23 
Section 151 Officer’s Certificate:................................................................................................................... 23 

EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS .......................................................................................................... 24 
COMPREHENSIVE (INCOME) AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT ........................................................................... 26 
MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT ........................................................................................................... 27 
BALANCE SHEET ........................................................................................................................................... 28 
CASH FLOW STATEMENT ............................................................................................................................... 29 
NOTES ......................................................................................................................................................... 30 

Note 1 – Accounting Policies ........................................................................................................................ 30 
Note 2 – Accounting Standards Issued, Not Adopted .................................................................................... 51 
Note 3 – Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies....................................................................... 52 
Note 4 – Assumptions Made about the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty ............... 54 
Note 5 - Material Items of Income and Expense............................................................................................ 58 
Note 6 – Events after the Balance Sheet Date .............................................................................................. 58 
Note 7a – Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis ............................................................................. 59 
Note 7b – Segmental Analysis of Income and Expenditure ........................................................................... 61 
Note 8 - Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations 2023/24 .................. 62 
Note 9 - Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves ........................................................................................... 65 
Note 10 - Other Operating Expenditure ........................................................................................................ 66 

Page 54



Page 3 of 155 
 

Note 11 - Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure....................................................................... 66 
Note 12 - Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income ...................................................................................... 66 
Note 13 – Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature ............................................................................... 67 
Note 14 – Property, Plant and Equipment ..................................................................................................... 68 
Note 15 – Investment Properties .................................................................................................................. 70 
Note 16 – Intangible Assets .......................................................................................................................... 74 
Note 17 – Financial Instruments ................................................................................................................... 75 
Note 18 – Inventories ................................................................................................................................... 82 
Note 19a – Short Term Debtors .................................................................................................................... 82 
Note 19b Short Term Debtors for Local Taxation .......................................................................................... 82 
Note 20 – Cash and Cash Equivalents ......................................................................................................... 83 
Note 21– Assets Held for Sale ...................................................................................................................... 83 
Note 22 – Short Term Creditors .................................................................................................................... 84 
Note 23 – Provisions .................................................................................................................................... 84 
Note 24 – Usable Reserves .......................................................................................................................... 86 
Note 25 - Unusable Reserves ....................................................................................................................... 88 
Note 26 - Members’ Allowances ................................................................................................................... 94 
Note 27 - Officers’ Remuneration ................................................................................................................. 95 
Note 28 - External Audit Costs ..................................................................................................................... 99 
Note 29 – Grant Income ............................................................................................................................. 100 
Note 30 – Related Parties .......................................................................................................................... 104 
Note 31 – Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing ................................................................................. 107 
Note 32 – Leases ....................................................................................................................................... 108 
Note 33 - Impairment Losses...................................................................................................................... 110 
Note 34 - Termination Benefits ................................................................................................................... 111 
Note 35 - Defined Benefit Pension Scheme ................................................................................................ 111 
Note 36 - Contingent Liabilities ................................................................................................................... 117 
Note 37 - Contingent Assets ....................................................................................................................... 117 

COLLECTION FUND ACCOUNTS .................................................................................................................... 118 

Notes (1 – 4) to the Collection Fund ........................................................................................................... 119 

GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES ............................................................................................ 122 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................ 122 
Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement ........................................................................ 125 
Group Movement in Reserves Statement ................................................................................................... 126 
Group Balance Sheet ................................................................................................................................. 128 
Group Cash Flow Statement ...................................................................................................................... 129 
Notes to the Group Accounts...................................................................................................................... 130 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2023/2024 ........................................................................................... 133 

INTRODUCTION........................................................................................................................................ 135 
THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK .......................................................................... 135 
THE KEY ELEMENTS OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK AT CHERWELL DISTRICT COUNCIL ..... 135 
ANNUAL PLANNING PROCESS ............................................................................................................... 136 
DECISION MAKING ................................................................................................................................... 137 
RISK MANAGEMENT ................................................................................................................................ 137 
CORPORATE LEADERSHIP TEAM (CLT) ................................................................................................. 137 
FINANCE ................................................................................................................................................... 138 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR GOVERNANCE ................................................................................................... 139 
REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS ................................................................................................................. 142 
PEER REVIEW - PROGRESS FEEDBACK................................................................................................ 144 
GOVERNANCE SELF ASSESSMENT ....................................................................................................... 144 
CONCLUSION ........................................................................................................................................... 145 
STATEMENT OF OPINION ........................................................................................................................ 146 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS ................................................................................................................................. 147 

 

Page 55



Page 4 of 155 
 

 

Introduction 

Your district council is hard at work making north Oxfordshire a great place to live, work and 
play. Every year we offer you this snapshot of how key public services are running in your area, 
and of the progress we’re making towards our long-term strategic goals for the district. We run 
services including waste collection, street cleansing services, housing, planning, and 
enforcement. It’s no secret that councils everywhere are operating in challenging financial 
circumstances, impacted by inflation and the increased cost of living. But we are a prudent and 
well-run council and have maintained a high level of performance for north Oxfordshire 
residents, while navigating these challenges with a balanced budget. 

 

We are determined to deliver housing to meet the community’s needs, and our recent 
successes include the launch of a tenants’ charter, the delivery of grant funding to improve the 
condition of privately rented homes, and the start of work on site at Town Centre House, which 
is being refurbished for use as social housing. Cherwell supports environmental sustainability, 
and the year just gone saw extraordinary success as coffee loving residents embraced a new 
coffee pod recycling scheme, the business waste service continued to grow, and we won 
funding to plant new, carbon sequestering woodlands. 

 

Our work to support the district’s economy and urban centres reached some crucial milestones 
in the past year. Our work revitalising Bicester Market Square is underway, and we ran a key 
survey on the future of Banbury town centre, seeing a massive response from the public. We 
also had a fantastic response to a survey of local businesses, helping steer our plans for future 
economic growth. 

 

I am also really pleased that, even against a challenging financial backdrop, the council is 
sticking to its vision of doing more for you, leading the way with initiatives designed to make 
Cherwell a district where it’s easy to make healthy lifestyle choices. We have continued to 
invest in the health and wellbeing of your communities; we cast a wide net with a series of 
investments and leisure programmes that offers something for people at all stages of life. 

 

For youngsters we delivered scores of new bikes to bike libraries at primary schools in the 
district. And our Move Together programme is a standout example of best practice, with the 
highest take-up in the county on this programme which offers tailored exercise programmes to 
people with long-term health conditions. Read on for more information about the good work we 
are doing with your council tax money and to learn more about the real impact our work is 
having in your area. 

 

Should you have any comments or wish to discuss this statement in further detail then please 
contact the finance team by email on finance@cherwell-dc.gov.uk. 

We hope you find the financial statements of interest and we look forward to hearing your views. 
 
Gordon Stewart 
Chief Executive 
Cherwell District Council, PO Box 27, Banbury, Oxfordshire, OX15 4BH 

Page 56

mailto:finance@cherwell-dc.gov.uk


Page 5 of 155 
 

Narrative Statement – Overview of 2023/24    

Introduction  
The preparation of the Statement of Accounts provides the opportunity to reflect on the past 
financial year and report on the current financial and non-financial position of the council.  It is 
the culmination of the annual cycle. 

 

All the while, payments are made to suppliers and housing benefits recipients; council tax and 
business rates are collected and distributed to our partners; fees and charges income is 
collected for our chargeable services; financial systems and controls are monitored to ensure 
they continue to operate effectively; treasury management ensures that public funds are 
invested securely and borrowing is undertaken appropriately to support our capital programme 
whilst working to minimise our borrowing costs. 

2023/24 proved to be a hugely challenging but successful year for Cherwell District Council 
during which we continued to deliver on our objectives and playing a vital role supporting 
residents and businesses.   

The Narrative Report is to provide information on Cherwell District Council, its main 
objectives, strategies, and the principal risks it faces.  It sets out information to help 
readers understand the council’s financial position and performance during 2023/24.  

Cherwell District Council provides services to residents, businesses, communities, and visitors 
across the whole area.  We are responsible for a range of services including the following: 
Environmental Services, Planning and Building Control, Growth and Economy, Regulatory 
Services, Housing, Wellbeing and Healthy Place Shaping.  

We participate in and lead key partnerships that work to deliver housing and growth, 
environmental benefits, safer communities and improved health and wellbeing for all Cherwell 
residents. 

Set Budget and 
Medium Term 

Financial Strategy

Monitor and 
Manage Forecast 
Spend vs Budget

Produce Accounts 
of Spend for Year

Page 57



Page 6 of 155 
 

About the District 

 

Cherwell District in North Oxfordshire is a predominantly rural area providing an excellent 
environment in which to live and work.  

There are three urban centres – Banbury, Bicester, and Kidlington –with the remainder of the 
population living in 70 smaller settlements. Cherwell continues to change, with a population 
estimate from the Office for National Statistics released in November 2023 totaling 164,171 
(mid-2022).  

Between last two censuses of 2011 and 2021 Cherwell’s population has grown by 13.5%, 
higher than the average rate of growth across the South East (7.5%).  

 

Figure 1- Time series bar chart showing the total population of Cherwell mid-2011 to mid- 2022. 

There are currently 71,434 houses that are subject to council tax (December 2023). 

Mid -
2011

Mid -
2012

Mid -
2013

Mid -
2014

Mid -
2015

Mid -
2016

Mid -
2017

Mid -
2018

Mid -
2019

Mid -
2020

Mid -
2021

Mid -
2022

Population 142,25 142,93 143,82 144,52 145,55 146,63 147,60 146,63 147,60 151,84 161,84 164,17

 130,000

 135,000

 140,000

 145,000

 150,000

 155,000

 160,000

 165,000

 170,000
Population - Cherwell

Page 58



Page 7 of 155 
 

 

Our Business Plan 2023 – 2024 
We are proud to celebrate our 50th year serving the Cherwell district. Established on April 1, 

1974, Cherwell District Council was formed by merging four local districts under the Local 

Government Act 1972. 

 

Our 2023/24 business plan includes the following four priorities: 

 

 

 

Promote affordable, green housing and 

minimum rental standards. 

Prevent homelessness with partners. 

Support vulnerable residents. Prepare the 

Local Plan. 

 

Supporting environmental 

sustainability 

Achieve carbon net zero by 2030. 

Promote the green economy. Reduce 

waste and improve air quality with 

partners. 

 

An enterprising 

economy with strong 

and vibrant local centres 

Support business growth. Partner for 

skills and innovation. Promote district as a 

visitor destination and attract 

investment. Ensure business 

compliance and best practices. 

 

Healthy, resilient, 

and engaged 

communities 

Encourage active lifestyles and 

wellbeing. Develop leisure services. 

Support community and diversity. 

Address health inequality. Reduce 

crime and antisocial behaviour. 

Page 59



Page 8 of 155 
 

Our 2023 - 2024 performance 

Every year, we look to serve you better. This includes emptying your bins, managing your 

planning applications, handling housing benefit requests, keeping your communities clean and 

tidy, and delivering crucial day-to-day services. 

 

This report highlights some notable accomplishments from the past year that are on top of our 

regular work. 

 

We assess progress based on our four key business plan priorities, measured through 27 

performance goals. 

 

In 2023/24, all but one of the 27 Business Plan measures achieved their year-end target or 

reported within tolerance. 

 

The measure that missed its target for the year was “Net Additional Housing Completions to 

meet Cherwell Needs”, reporting a provisional figure of 884, which is 77.4% of the set target for 

the year. Please note the final figure, which is expected to be higher, will be available in Q1 24/25, 

when all the site visits have been completed. 

 

 

 

 

 Measures achieved (26) 

 Measures not achieved (1)

Page 60



Page 9 of 155 
 

Housing that meets your needs 

Below are some of the past year's achievements for this strategic priority. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prevented 215 households from becoming homeless. 

Secured over £400,000 funding to support low-income residents 

with housing needs. Current tenants were involved in shaping a 

new charter and services provided by the landlord. 

Our Cherwell Bond Scheme assisted landlords in improving 

homes for tenant properties with grants, tenant support, property 

viewings, and a deposit bond equivalent to 10 weeks of rent. 

 

Launched a new strategy to address homelessness and 

rough sleeping in our district for the next 5 years. 

 

Delivered 266 affordable homes, 38% more than last year 

 

 

and landlords provide safe places for people to live. 

Improved 138 homes through enforcement to ensure homeowners 

 

 

two days quicker than our target average for the year. 

Processed new housing benefit claims in 16 days, 

Page 61



Page 10 of 155 
 

Supporting environmental sustainability 

 

Below are some of the past year's achievements for this strategic priority. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Achieved our objective to reach 15% of electric vehicles in 

our fleet by the end of 2023/24. 

Our crews emptied 8.5 million containers, collecting a total of 

60,652 tonnes of waste, 4% more than last year, whilst 

consuming 2% less fuel than last year 

 

Recycled 53% of waste collected, 10% more than England’s 

average. 

 

Secured government funding to increase tree-cover in the district by 

creating a tiny forest at Longford Park and a community orchard at 

Burnehyll Community Woodland. 

 

Our new coffee pod recycling scheme recycled 1,048,397 

pods (16.4 tonnes) 

Proposed a new Climate Action Plan for Cherwell to 

achieve carbon net zero by 2030 and support the district's 

carbon reduction goals. 

 

Page 62



Page 11 of 155 
 

An enterprising economy with strong and vibrant local centres 

Below are some of the past year's achievements for this strategic priority. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our Banbury Vision 2050 survey to shape the future of Banbury 

town centre, registered an unprecedented 2,729 responses 

from our residents, business owners and visitors. 

Plans launched to revitalise Bicester Market Square with £4.25m 

funding from the council's capital budget and a government grant 

for infrastructure. 

Over 750 district businesses took part in the survey. 37% 

reported improved performance in the past year, with the same 

percentage expecting this trend to continue in 2024. 

The Business Needs Survey results will guide projects for the 2024-

25 UK Shared Prosperity Fund and Rural England Prosperity Fund, 

emphasising business support, decarbonisation, and green skills 

training. 

 

Launched a consultation to seek residents feedback on 

our Local Plan Review 2040 first draft. 

Page 63



 

Page 12 of 155 

 

Healthy, resilient, and engaged communities 

Below are some of the past year's achievements for this strategic priority. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our Move Together programme benefited over 1,800 participants 

improving their physical and mental health. 

 

Donated £10,600 to Alexandra House of Joy, to help the facility to 

keep offering support for adults with severe learning disabilities. 

Assisted residents by upgrading the least energy-efficient 

homes to alleviate cost-of-living pressures, combat fuel poverty, 

and lower energy expenses. 

 

Attracted 4,180 residents to our You Move programme to enjoy 

free and reduced-price physical activities. 

 

Developed Everyone’s Wellbeing Strategy for a healthier and 

happier Cherwell 2024-2028 

Implemented Cost-of-Living Action plan with grant schemes for 

food groups, expanded Warm spaces network, updated "Who can 

Help?" booklet, and distributed it through partner organisations. 

 

Encouraged 3,187 children to become more active through our 

 

 

 

Page 64



 

Page 13 of 155 

 

Risk management  
During 2023/24 we continued to develop and strengthen our risk management activities. This 
helped us to ensure that we continue to identify and address any uncertainties relating to the 
achievement of our priorities.  

The most significant risks facing the council, Leadership Risks, are reviewed and reported to 
the Executive in our monthly Finance, Performance and Risk Monitoring Reports, also, 
reviewed in more depth quarterly by the Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee.   

Leadership risks are those that could impact on the performance of the council as a whole, 
and on its ability to deliver its strategic priorities.   The council has maintained a focus on its 
financial resilience during the year, reporting this as the highest risk facing the council, 
although our council keeps delivering a balanced budget, when reviewing and managing this 
risk the finance team takes into consideration the current financial national climate, the 
predicted gap in local authorities’ budgets, and the cost of living crisis, and its impact, which 
keeps the score on the higher end of the scale.  

Directorates and Services within the council also maintain operational risk registers to 
monitor the impact and delivery of individual services, projects, or areas of business. 
Operational risks which become more severe can be escalated to the Leadership level for 
additional management.  

Financial Overview 

Financial Performance 

The council sets a revenue budget, medium-term financial strategy (MTFS) and capital 
programme in the February preceding the start of the financial year. These are underpinned 
by a Financial Strategy, Capital and Investment Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy 
and a review and assessment of the adequacy of earmarked reserves.  

Construction of the budget and budget proposals are subject to challenge by the Corporate 
Leadership Team and the Assistant Director of Finance. The Budget Planning Committee 
scrutinises the budget proposals at its meetings before the Executive propose the budget, 
MTFS and capital programme to council in February.  The council approves the budget at 
its Annual Budget meeting each February.   

As the council was facing the cost-of-living crisis when it set its 2023/24 budget, 
contingencies were built into the budget to address potential ongoing impacts and financial 
uncertainties.  Including these contingencies allowed the council to set a balanced budget 
whilst providing the security of knowing that additional funding was available if the financial 
impacts of the pandemic continued for a significant period into the year. 

Throughout the year, regular financial monitoring reports are presented to the Executive 
and quarterly for the Budget Planning Committee to scrutinise.  

Resources 

The council collects council tax and business rates on behalf of itself and other bodies 
including Central Government, Oxfordshire County Council and Thames Valley Police and 
Crime Commissioner.  

Page 65



 

Page 14 of 155 

 

The council is required to distribute the business rates and council tax according to how it 
set its budget in the February before the beginning of the financial year.  Business rates of 
£102.7m and council tax of £130.5m was budgeted and distributed in 2023/24 in the 
following shares. 

  

Business Rates split £102.7m   Council Tax £130.5m 
  

                      

Cherwell 
District 
Council 

  

Oxfordshire 
County 
Council 

 

Central 

Government 
  

Cherwell 
District 
Council 

 

Oxfordshire 
County 
Council 

  

Thames Valley 
Police and 

Crime 
Commissioner 

                      

£41.1m   £10.3m  £51.3m   £14.7m  £100.9m   £14.9m 

 

 

From the council’s share of business rates the Government then charges a tariff, which is 
redistributed to other Local Authorities based on their need to spend.  For the year ending 
31 March 2024, the council expected to retain a net £14.1m of business rates related 
income after all the allocations are taken into consideration.  

The council collected £105m business rates and £133.8m council tax compared to the 
£102.7m and £130.5m it budgeted to collect and distribute respectively. The difference 
between collection and budget will be factored into future years budgets for the council and 
its preceptors. 

Pension Liabilities 

The amounts payable by the council in future years are partly offset by the value of the 
assets invested in the pension fund. The value of the pension fund net liability at 31 March 
2024 is £15.1m; this reflects an improvement of £16.2m from the 31 March 2023 net liability 
position of £31.3m. 

Contingencies 

The council has to set aside a provision for appeals which might arise against business 
rates valuations.  

On 1 April 2023 the total provision for business rate appeals was £19.5m of which the 
council’s 40 per cent share was £7.8m.  During the financial year £9.2m was charged to the 
provision for successful appeals in 2023/24 which have been previously provided for, of 
which the council’s 40 percent share is £3.7m. 

After reflecting the amounts charged to the provision in 2023/24, the council carried out an 
assessment of the future risk of appeal losses.  Following this, the 2023/24 overall provision 
for business rates appeals decreased to £14.3m of which the council's 40 per cent share is 
£5.7m. 

• Appeals provision 31 March 2023: £7.8m 

• Appeals provision 31 March 2024: £5.7m 

Page 66



 

Page 15 of 155 

 

Council Funding 2023/24 

The council’s core funding from central government has been reducing and funding 
generated as a result of economic growth is increasing. The table below shows where the 
council funding has come from.  The council has benefited from being a member of the 
Oxfordshire Business Rates Pool, which accounts for the majority of the variance to budget. 

(The figures in brackets represent income received by the council). 

2023/24 Revenue Budget 

Funding  

Budget 

£m 

Actual 

£m 

Variance 

£m 

Government Grants (0.242) (0.307) (0.065)  

Council Tax (9.289) (9.306) (0.017) 

Business Rates related income (17.127) (17.910) (0.783)  

New Homes Bonus (1.625) (1.625) (0.000) 

Total Funding (28.283) (29.148) (0.865)  

  

Page 67



 

Page 16 of 155 

 

Revenue Financial Outturn Position   

The council set a balanced budget in February 2023 for the 2023/24 financial year which 
anticipated the council retaining sufficient reserves to cover unexpected financial impacts on 
the council, with a number of specific reserves to help cover the council’s commercial 
activities.   

Regular monitoring reports were considered by the council’s Executive and the council has 
delivered the budgeted balanced position after taking into account the variances on both the 
Cost of Services before transfers to reserves (underspend of £3.596m) and Total Income 
(overachieved by £0.865m). 

The table below summarises the 2023/24 financial outturn position across the council: 

Financial Outturn Budget £m Actual £m Variance £m 

Chief Executive’s 5.821 5.462 (0.359) 

Communities 10.249 9.938 (0.311) 

Resources 5.033 5.818 0.785 

Total Directorates 21.103 21.218 0.115 

Executive Matters 7.180 3.469 (3.711) 

Total Cost of Services 28.283 24.687 (3.596) 

Income (28.283) (29.148) (0.865) 

Total Net Cost of Services 
before transfers to reserves 

0.000 (4.461) (4.461) 

Transfers to reserves 0.000 4.461 4.461 

Total Net Cost of Services 0.000 0.000 0.000 

 

  

Page 68



 

Page 17 of 155 

 

In summary, the council delivered an overall balanced position against a net budget of 
£28.283m.  

 

Some of the key factors for this include prudent levels of borrowing taken out in a timely 
manner and higher rates of interest than anticipated, particularly later in the year, a one-off 
saving on Minimum Revenue Provision following the change in method, a dividend received 
from the council’s subsidiary company, and unallocated contingency budgets which have 
been transferred to reserves. 

Financial Position 

The council maintains a sound financial position in the current financial climate.  

 

  

-3

-2

-1

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

£m
Budget V's Outturn

Current Budget Outturn for March 2024 Forecast for January 2024

Page 69



 

Page 18 of 155 

 

Capital Programme 
The council has an ambitious capital programme which supports its long-term strategy of 
delivering a thriving and vibrant environment across the district as well as recognising the 
importance of investing in our assets to protect our core statutory functions. 

 

Capital investment plans for 2023/24 

The information below describes our major schemes and projects and the outcomes that we 
will achieve. 

Town Centre House 

The council has invested £7m in purchasing the freehold and returning Town Centre House 
to use following the discovery of reinforced autoclaved aerated concrete (RAAC) in the roof. 
Local Authority Housing Fund grants have been used to purchase the property from the 
leaseholder, giving the council full control of the future use of the property, to improve fire 
safety and to reconfigure the building to allow for flexibility of use.  When complete in 2025, 
the building will comprise 36 units of between 1 and four bedrooms.   

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Chief Executive Communities Resources

£m

2023/24 Capital Outturn

Budget 2023/24 Actual Re-profiled beyond 2023/24

Page 70



 

Page 19 of 155 

 

 

 

Images above: progress on Town Centre House 

Bicester Depot 

The council has secured a site at Graven Hill in Bicester for a new environmental services 
depot.  Design work is under way to deliver an environmental services depot which meets 
the requirements of Bicester as a thriving and growing town. 

  

Page 71



 

Page 20 of 155 

 

Basis of Preparation and Presentation  

The council produces a Statement of Accounts to provide transparency about the council’s 
finances, to give assurance to stakeholders that public money has been properly accounted 
for and that the financial standing of the council is on a secure basis.  The accounts 
(including notes to the accounts) for 2023/24 are set out on pages 21 to 132.  

The accounts bring together all the council’s financial statements for the year 2023/24 and 
show its financial position as at 31 March 2024. The statements reflect both revenue and 
capital elements for the council. 

The Statement of Accounts must provide a ‘true and fair’ view of the council’s financial 
position at 31 March 2024 and of its income and expenditure for the 2023/24 financial year. 
When preparing the accounts consideration is given to the materiality of information.  
Disclosure of information is made where omitting it could be misleading or inhibit the true 
and fair view. 

The strong and prudent level of reserves are sufficient to ensure that the council is able to 
continue to meet the cost of the provision of services over the medium term. Therefore, the 
accounts are prepared on a ‘going-concern’ basis. 

Financial Outlook  

Cherwell District Council set a balanced budget in February 2024 for the 2024/25 financial 
year.  In setting the 2024/25 budget, the council considered the ongoing financial impacts of 
the continuing impact of the Cost-of-Living crisis.   

A policy contingency budget of £4.1m has been developed which includes contingencies of 
£1.1m for potential increased commercial risk, £2.2m for additional inflation related costs 
and £0.8m general contingency. 

The level of business rates income and council tax base were reviewed resulting in 
increases of income against original plans (February 2023) due to anticipated increases in 
council tax support claimants and a reduction in the number of businesses eligible to pay 
business rates not materialising at the rates anticipated.  The council estimated it would 
hold £26.8m of earmarked reserves when setting the budget.  General Balances remain 
above £6m in line with the minimum level the Section 151 officer’s risk assessments of the 
current financial outlook requires. 

The Government have not confirmed a timeline for the Review of Relative Needs and any 
approach to resetting the baseline for business rates retention income; however, it seems 
unlikely this could be implemented before 2025/26 at the earliest.  The final year of the 2021 
Spending Review is 2024/25 so the council anticipates a new Spending Review to be 
prepared in 2024 to indicate sector-wide spending levels in future years and, in particular, 
2025/26.  Therefore, there is no indication of detailed local government funding levels for 
2025/26 and beyond. 

 

 

  

Page 72



 

Page 21 of 155 

 

The Financial Statements  

The Statement of Accounts sets out the council’s income levels and spending for the year 
and its financial position at 31 March 2024. The accounts include core and supplementary 
statements along with notes providing additional insight. 

The format and context of the financial statements is set out in the CIPFA Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom and is underpinned by International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

The Core Statements can be described as: 

Expenditure and 

Funding 
Analysis 

The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis is to 

demonstrate to council taxpayers how the funding available to the 
authority (i.e. government grants, council tax and business rates) for 
the year has been used in providing services in comparison with those 
resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices.  

It also shows the statutory adjustments between the funding basis that 
is used for the Outturn for the year and the accounting basis that is 
shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.   

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement 

Shows the accounting cost in the year ending 31 March 2024 of 
providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. Authorities 
raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with statutory 
requirements; this may be different from the accounting cost. The 
taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and Funding 
Analysis and the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Movement in 

Reserves 
Statement 

Shows the movement between 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 on the 

different reserves held by the council, analysed into ‘useable reserves’ 
(i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local 
taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’ (for example the Revaluation 
Reserve which holds unrealised gains and losses or the Capital 
Adjustment Account which holds adjustments between the accounting 
basis and funding basis under regulations). This statement shows how 
the movements in year of the council’s reserves are broken down 
between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required 
to return to the amounts chargeable to council tax for the year. The Net 
Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory General Fund Balance in 
the year following those adjustments.  

Balance Sheet The balance sheet shows the values as at 31 March 2024 of the assets 
and liabilities recognised by the council. The net assets of the council 
(assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the council, 
analysed between ‘useable’ and ‘unusable’ reserves. 

Cash Flow 
Statement 

This summarises the changes in cash and cash equivalents during 
2023/24. The statement shows how the council generates and uses 
cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, 
investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising 

Page 73



 

Page 22 of 155 

 

from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the 
operations of the council are funded by way of taxation and grant 
income or from the recipients of services provided by the council. 
Investing activities represent the extent to which cash flows have been 
made for resources which are intended to contribute to the council’s 
future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are 
useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital 
(i.e. borrowing) to the council. 

 

The Supplementary Financial Statements are: 

Notes to the Accounts – these provide additional insight into the accounting policies and 
accounting transactions during the year. 

Collection Fund Accounts – this shows a summary of the collection of council tax and 
business rates during the year as well as any redistribution of that money to other local 
authorities and central government. 

Group Accounts – these set out the consolidated position for the council and its subsidiary 
companies, namely the Graven Hill and Crown House companies.  

The Annual Governance Statement – this provides an overview of the governance 
arrangements and assessment of internal controls the council has in place. 

 

 

  

Page 74



 

Page 23 of 155 

 

Statement of Responsibilities for the 
Statement of Accounts 

The Council’s Responsibilities 

The Council is required to: 

• make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to 
secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those 
affairs. In this Council, that officer is the Assistant Director of Finance (Section 151 
Officer); 

• manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets; and 

• approve the Statement of Accounts. 

The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts, in accordance with proper practices, as set out in the CIPFA (Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy) Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom (the Code of Practice). 

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Section 151 Officer has: 

• selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently 

• made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent 

• complied with the Local Authority Code 

The Section 151 Officer has also: 

• kept proper accounting records which were up to date; and 

• taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

Section 151 Officer’s Certificate: 

I certify that the Statement of Accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Council at the reporting date and of its expenditure and income for the year ended 31 
March 2024. 
 
 

Michael Furness 

Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer Date:   

Chairman of Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee Certificate: 

I certify that the Statement has been discussed with and endorsed by the Chair of the 
Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee 

Councillor Nick Cotter 
Chairman of Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee     Date:    

Page 75



 

Page 24 of 155 

 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis  
The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis is to demonstrate to council tax payers how the funding available to the authority (i.e. government grants, council 
tax and business rates) for the year has been used in providing services in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices.  

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the council’s directorates. Income and 
expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 Year Ending 31 Mar 24 

Services Net 
expenditure 
for internal 
reporting 

 
£’000 

Adjustment for use 
of / (transfer to) 
Earmarked Reserves 
included in internal 
reporting 

£’000 

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to 
the General 
Fund Balance 

 
£’000 

Adjustments 
between 
accounting and 
funding basis 
(Note 7a) 

£’000 

Net Expenditure in 
the Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement 

£’000 

Chief Executive 5,462 962 6,424 2,756 9,180 

Communities 10,147 734 10,881 3,592 14,473 

Resources 5,816 23 5,839 2,016 7,855 

Net Cost of Services 21,425 1,719 23,144 8,364 31,508 

Other Income and Expenditure (21,425) (8,925) (30,350) (5,695) (36,046) 

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 0 (7,206) (7,206) 2,668 (4,538) 
      

Opening General Fund and Earmarked Reserve Balance*   (29,823)   

Plus / less (Surplus) or Deficit on the General Fund 
Balance for the Year (Statutory basis) 

  (7,206)   

Closing General Fund and Earmarked Reserve Balance*   (37,028)   

 

*For a split of the General Fund and Earmarked Reserve Balance see the Movement in Reserves Statement 

P
age 76



 

Page 25 of 155 

 

 

Year Ending 31 Mar 23 

Services Net 
expenditure 
for internal 
reporting 

 
£’000 

Adjustment for use 
of / (transfer to) 
Earmarked Reserves 
included in internal 
reporting** 

£’000 

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to 
the General 
Fund Balance 

 
£’000 

Adjustments 
between 
accounting and 
funding basis 
(Note 7a) 

£’000 

Net Expenditure in 
the Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement 

£’000 

Chief Executive 6,606 0 6,606 1,925 8,531 

Communities 8,242 0 8,242 4,909 13,151 

Resources 4,558 0 4,558 10,294 14,852 

Net Cost of Services 19,405 0 19,405 17,128 36,534 

Other Income and Expenditure (19,606) 8,468 (11,138) (21,102) (32,240) 

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services (201) 8,468 8,267 (3,973) 4,294 
      

Opening General Fund and Earmarked Reserve Balance*   (38,091)   

Plus / less (Surplus) or Deficit on the General Fund 
Balance for the Year (Statutory basis) 

  8,267   

Closing General Fund and Earmarked Reserve Balance*   (29,823)   

 

*For a split of the General Fund and Earmarked Reserve Balance see the Movement in Reserves Statement 

 

**In 2022/23 for internal reporting purposes all transfers to/from earmarked reserves were not shown in the net cost of services. This changed in 2023/24 so that transfers 
to/from earmarked reserves were reflected in the service that the transfer related to. 

P
age 77



 

Page 26 of 155 

 

Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure Statement 
Year Ending 31 Mar 23    Directorates Year Ending 31 Mar 24 

Expenditure Income Net     Expenditure Income Net 

£'000 £'000 £'000 Notes   £'000 £'000 £'000 

16,545 (8,014) 8,531   Chief Executive 19,553 (10,373) 9,180 

24,322 (11,171) 13,151   Communities 23,801 (9,329) 14,473 

46,203 (31,351) 14,852   Resources 40,417 (32,562) 7,855 

87,070 (50,536) 36,534   Cost of Services 83,771 (52,263) 31,508 

5,763 (1,212) 4,551 10 Other Operating Expenditure 6,042 (109) 5,933 

6,191 (6,848) (657) 11 Financing and Investment (Income) and Expenditure 6,026 (7,454) (1,428) 

0 (36,135) (36,135) 12 Taxation and Non-Specific Grant (Income) 0 (40,551) (40,551) 

99,024 (94,730) 4,294   (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 95,838 (100,377) (4,538) 
             

   (2,818) 14 (Surplus) or deficit on revaluation of Property, Plant 

and Equipment 
  (33) 

   (58,146) 35 Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability / 

(asset) 
  (12,765) 

   (60,964)   Other Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure   (12,798) 

            

   (56,670)   Total Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure    (17,336) 

P
age 78



 

Page 27 of 155 

 

Movement in Reserves Statement 
  General 

Fund 
Balance 
 

 
£'000 

Earmarked 

General 
Fund 
Reserves 

 
£'000 

Capital 

Receipts 
Reserve 
 

 
£'000 

Capital 

Grants Un-
Applied 
Account 

 
£'000 

Total Usable 

Reserves  
 
 

 
£'000 

Unusable 

Reserves  
 
 

 
£'000 

Total 

Reserves  
 
 

 
£'000 

Opening Balance at 31 March 2023 (6,152) (23,671) 0 (5,849) (35,671) (16,026) (51,697) 

Movement in reserves  
during 2023/24        

(Surplus) or deficit on the provision of 
services (4,538) 0 0 0 (4,538) 0 (4,538) 

Other Comprehensive (Income) / 
Expenditure 

0 0 0 0 0 (12,798) (12,798) 

Total Comprehensive (Income) and 
Expenditure 

(4,538) 0 0 0 (4,538) (12,798) (17,336) 

Adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under 
regulations - Note 08 

(2,668) 0 (606) 162 (3,112) 3,112 0 

Net (Increase) or Decrease before 
Transfers to Earmarked Reserves 

(7,206) 0 (606) 162 (7,650) (9,686) (17,336) 

Transfers (to) / from Earmarked 
Reserves - Note 09 

7,206 (7,206) 0 0 0 0 0 

(Increase) or Decrease in 2023/24 0 (7,206) (606) 162 (7,650) (9,686) (17,336) 

Closing Balance at 31 March 2024 (6,152) (30,876) (606) (5,688) (43,322) (25,712) (69,034) 

  
General 

Fund 
Balance 
 

£'000  

Earmarked 
General 

Fund 
Reserves 
 

£'000  

Capital 

Receipts 
Reserve 
 

£'000 

Capital 

Grants Un-
Applied 
Account 

£'000 

Total 

Usable 
Reserves 
 

£'000 

Unusable 

Reserves 
 
 

£'000 

Total 

Reserves 
 
 

£'000 

Opening Balance at 31 March 2022 (5,951) (32,139) (100) (7,948) (46,138) 51,110 4,972 

Movement in reserves during 
2022/23 

             

(Surplus) or deficit on the provision of 
services 

4,294 0 0 0 4,294 0 4,294 

Other Comprehensive (Income) / 
Expenditure 

0 0 0 0 0 (60,964) (60,964) 

Total Comprehensive (Income) and 
Expenditure 

4,294 0 0 0 4,294 (60,964) (56,670) 

Adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under 
regulations - Note 08 

3,973 0 100 2,099 6,173 (6,173) 0 

Net (Increase) or Decrease before 
Transfers to Earmarked Reserves 

8,267 0 100 2,099 10,467 (67,137) (56,670) 

Transfers (to) / from Earmarked 
Reserves - Note 09 (8,468) 8,468 0 0 0 0 0 

(Increase) or Decrease in 2022/23 (202) 8,468 100 2,099 10,467 (67,137) (56,670) 

Closing Balance at 31 March 2023 (6,152) (23,671) 0 (5,849) (35,671) (16,026) (51,697) 

Page 79



 

Page 28 of 155 

 

Balance Sheet 
31-Mar-23     31-Mar-24 

£'000 Notes   £'000 

176,081 14 Property, Plant and Equipment 175,769 

4,640 15 Investment Property 4,274 

1,965 16 Intangible Assets 1,750 

35,649 17 Long Term Investments 35,649 

70,409 17 Long Term Debtors 73,236 

288,744 
 

Long Term Assets 290,677 
 

 
   

35,101 17 Short-term Investments 13,087 

357 18 Inventories 263 

17,561 19 Short Term Debtors 12,982 

8,563 20 Cash and Cash Equivalents 8,955 

0 21 Assets Held for Sale 199 

61,582 
 

Current Assets 35,486 
 

 
   

(22,901) 17 Short-Term Borrowing (36,937) 

(47,050) 22 Short-Term Creditors (29,745) 

(112) 23 Provisions (4,193) 

(2,780) 29 Grants Receipts in Advance - Revenue (3,141) 

(3,170) 29 Grants Receipts in Advance - Capital (3,428) 

(511) 20 Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,408) 

(76,523) 
 

Current Liabilities (78,852) 
 

 
   

(7,991) 23 Provisions (1,770) 

(166,000) 17 Long Term Borrowing (145,000) 

(31,309) 35 Pension Liabilities (15,050) 

(1,567) 17 Long Term Creditors (14) 

(5,386) 29 Grants Receipts in Advance - Revenue (5,655) 

(9,853) 29 Grants Receipts in Advance - Capital (10,789) 

(222,106) 
 

Long Term Liabilities (178,278) 
 

 
   

51,697 
 

Net Assets/(Liability) 69,034 
 

 
   

(35,671) 24 Usable Reserves (43,322) 

(16,026) 25 Unusable Reserves (25,712) 
      

(51,697)   Total Reserves (69,034) 

 
I certify that the statement of accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the authority at 31 March 2024 and its income and expenditure for the year 
to 31 March 2024. 
 
 
 

Michael Furness 

Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer Date: 

Page 80



 

Page 29 of 155 

 

Cash Flow Statement 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the authority 
during the reporting period. 

31-Mar-23 
£’000  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities Note(s) 31-Mar-24 
£’000 

4,294 Net (Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 
 

(4,538) 

(4,783) Depreciation & Impairment 14 (5,124) 

(4,651) Changes in Market Value of Property, Plant, Equipment 14 (3,794) 

(606) Amortisation of Intangible Assets 16 (549) 

205 Changes in Fair Value of Investment Properties 15 (367) 

(499) Disposal of Assets 14, 15 & 16 (89) 

0 Impairment of assets 14 (130) 

104 Changes in Inventory 18 (94) 

(1,513) Changes in Short term Debtors 19 (4,579) 

(14,453) Changes in Short term Creditors 22 17,305 

620 Changes in Provisions 23 2,139 

50,829 Changes in Net Pension Liability 25 16,259 

(58,146) Remeasurement of Net Defined Benefit Liability 35 (12,765) 

(5) Changes in long term creditors 17 1,553 

774 Changes in long term debtors 17 2,827 

4,293 Capital Grants Recognised 29 6,108 

1,717 Proceeds on Disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment 24 606 

(21,820) Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities   14,768 

 
  

 
 Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

 
 

7,073 Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment 14 8,992 

0 Purchase and Enhancement of Investment Property 15 0 

257 Purchase of Intangible Assets 16 334 

(1,717) Proceeds from the Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 24 (606) 

(11,153) Net Changes in Short-term and Long-term Investments 17 (22,014) 

(5,540) Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities   (13,294) 

 
  

 
 Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

 
 

17,801 Changes in Grants and Contributions 29 (1,824) 

(4,293) Capital Grants and Contributions Recognised 29 (6,108) 

10,704 Cash Receipts of Short-term and Long-term Borrowing 17 6,964 

24,213 Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities   (968) 

 
  

 
(3,147) Net (Increase)/Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents in 

the Period 
  505 

4,905 Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Period 
 

8,052 

8,052 Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Period     20 7,547 

 Items included in net cash flow from operating activities include: 

(6,569) Interest Receivable and similar income    17 (7,160) 

3,593 Interest Payable (including Finance lease interest)    17 4,738 

(2,976) 
  

(2,422) 

  

Page 81



 

Page 30 of 155 

 

Notes 

Note 1 – Accounting Policies 

General principles 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the council’s transactions for the 2023/24 financial year 
and its position at the year-end of 31st March 2024. The council is required to prepare an annual 
Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which those 
Regulations require to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices.  

These practices under Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2003 primarily comprise the Code 
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24 and the Service Reporting 
Code of Practice 2023/24, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
statutory guidance issued under section 12 of the 2003 Act. 

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, 
modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments. 

1.1 Going Concern 

The accounts are prepared on a going concern basis; that is, on the assumption that 

the functions of the council will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future from the date that the accounts are authorised for issue. 

The council has carried out a detailed assessment of economic pressures, such as the 
Cost-of-Living crisis, on its financial position and performance during 2023/24 as part 
of the budget setting process. This included consideration of the following: 

Additional expenditure on a service-by-service basis, e.g., extra inflationary 

pressures.  

The impact of the above on the council’s cash flow and treasury management, 

including availability of liquid cash, impact on investment returns, and 

availability of external borrowing if required.  

The estimated overall impact on the council’s General Fund  

As set out in the 2024/25 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Strategy up to 2028/29 
approved by Council in February 2024, the council has set aside a contingency to cover 
potential inflation of £2.2m. The council also set a contingency budget for market risk 
and general contingency throughout the medium term. 

 

The council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy identifies that the council needs to 
identify savings of £7.0m in 2025/26.  This is primarily due to a forecast reduction in 
resources from business rates, funding guarantee grant and new homes bonus grant 
and forecast increased costs due to inflation.    

In addition to continuing to lobby policy makers, highlighting where the council has 
been delivering growth and driving benefits to others, the council has developed a 
strategy to meet the challenges highlighted in the MTFS if funding reductions are 

Page 82



 

Page 31 of 155 

 

implemented. Whilst the council will develop plans for scenarios that include a full 
business rates reset phased over three years, it will continue to lobby the Government 
for a rolling reset to be introduced. It will put forward the case that council’s such as 
Cherwell that have embrace the Government’s Business Rates Retention reward 
scheme should not be disadvantaged following its success in delivering business 
growth and associated benefits to service delivery. Implementation of savings plans 
developed will not take place until it is clear that the savings must be achieved.  
Approaches the council will adopt to identify savings will include: 

 

Prioritisation 

Services will be broken down into specific work units which have been mapped to the 
strategic priority they most apply to (support services will be identified separately as 
support).  Therefore, we can map how much the council spends of its revenue budget 
on each priority.  Similarly in setting the 2024/25 budget, all capital schemes are being 
mapped to the priority that they link most closely to. The budget and Business Plan 
will then be developed in conjunction to maximise the ability to deliver the priorities of 
each council within the level of resources available to it. 

 

Services will be prioritised according to the level of contribution each has to the 

delivery of the priorities of the Council. Those services that have the highest level of 

contribution will be transformed initially to identify what level of savings can be 

generated without impacting significantly on service levels. Transformational savings 

identified in the higher priority services will then be able to minimise the service 

reductions that will be required in the services that contribute less to the delivery of 

the priorities of the Council. The intention of the Transformation Programme is to 

maximise the number of services that the Council is able to provide to our residents 

and businesses. 

 

As the Council transforms and understand the future size and shape that it will 

become, the support services will also need to be assessed so that they are “right 

sized” for the functions the Council provides. 

 

Transformation 

Cherwell has developed a Transformation Strategy, which is summarised below, to 

help the council redesign its services to deliver them in a more efficient way within the 

resources available to the council.  The vision of the Transformation Strategy is: 

 

“To be the best version of ourselves possible – modern, agile, lean, financially future 

proof and providing the services that matter most and add the most value in delivering 

better outcomes for our communities.” 

 

The objectives of transformation have been identified as: 

 

• To embed the foundations necessary to create a sustainable future for the council 
and its communities. 

Page 83



 

Page 32 of 155 

 

• To protect the services that can significantly improve the health and wellbeing of 
our communities and support our most vulnerable residents. 

• To unlock the potential of our services to become the best versions of themselves 
possible and to make the best use of the resources and technology available to 
them. 

• To create the capacity needed to continue delivering our future aspirations and 
better outcomes for our communities through removing inefficiencies and providing 
value for money services. 

• To empower and inspire our staff to lead their service transformations as people 
will own what they create. 

 

Transformation will be applied across all services of the council.  This will ensure that 

in the future they are provided in a joined-up way that maximises the delivery of the 

council’s priorities within the resources available to the council. 

 

Strategic cross-cutting themes 

Overlayed on the priority-based budgeting is the council’s approach to the Strategic 

Cross-Cutting Themes (Transformation Programme).  Strategic Cross-Cutting 

Themes allow the council to review its approaches thematically across its services 

rather than always considering service delivery on a silo basis.  This view of the 

expenditure of the council helps identify organisational transformational opportunities 

which might not present themselves so readily via a service-based budget approach. 

This analysis helps to shape the thinking for the future design of our council, one that 

is affordable within the future funding envelope as set out in the MTFS. 

 

Where Strategic Cross-Cutting Themes are able to identify transformational 

approaches to delivery, this will generate efficiency savings to the council that will 

allow it to invest in a larger proportion of its priority services. The identification of 

these opportunities shapes the Transformation Programme for the organisation. 

 

The strategic cross cutting themes that the council will operate its transformation 

programme within are: 

• Staffing – to ensure that our workforce have the skills and capabilities to deliver the 
services to our communities. 

• Property Assets – considering the best way to deliver services and when it is 
effective to use property assets – this will link to the council’s Asset Management 
Strategy. 

• Finance – ensure services are maximising income generation, are economically 
viable and delivering value for money. 

• Customers and Inclusion – ensure that services are designed around the needs 
and preferences of the customers we serve, with an aim of making self-service the 
preferred choice. 

• Partnerships – work in partnership that deliver advantages to all and align with the 
council’s strategic objectives and priorities. 

• Digital – prioritise automation of repetitive tasks and make services accessible to 
all. 

Page 84



 

Page 33 of 155 

 

• Climate Action – focus on reducing waste, reusing resources where possible and 
always looking for ways to reduce carbon emissions. 

 

Savings Targets 

If it is looking unlikely that all of the savings required will be identified, then services 

may be issued with a target number of savings to deliver from their budget which they 

have control over.  So, for example where there are budgets which hold corporate 

costs in a service area, a savings target should not be applied to this. 

 

Whilst identifying £7.0m savings in 2025/26 will be a challenge, the council has 
demonstrated that it is capable of identifying and delivering significant savings in recent 
years, with a total of £9.4m of savings identified across the 2021/22 to 2024/25 budgets.  
Executive will receive monthly updates on the financial position throughout 2024/25, 
including progress against savings delivery.  Progress against savings delivery is 
managed by the Budget Oversight Group and senior management.   

   

In setting the 2024/25 budget, the council has determined that £6.1m of general 
balances is a prudent level in order to manage identified risks, in line with the Assistant 
Director of Finance (S151 Officer)’s risk assessment.  A further £23m of other 
earmarked reserves could also be made available if absolutely necessary.  The council 
continues to review its reserves position regularly as per its Reserves Policy.  

 

The council’s cashflow forecast to the end of March 2025 demonstrates that the council 
has access to sufficient cash over the medium-term to support planned council and 
Group activities.  This assumes maximum planned borrowing of £185m in the period 
and includes flexibility for additional borrowing of up to £96m should income be less 
than forecast or expenditure more than forecast in the period. 

It is therefore noted that there is significant headroom within the General Fund to absorb 
the estimated financial impact of economic pressures in the short to medium-term. 
Furthermore, the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in England 
requires that local authorities prepare their accounts on a going concern basis, as they 
can only be discontinued under statutory prescription. For these reasons, the council 
does not consider that there is material uncertainty in respect of its ability to continue 
as a going concern for the foreseeable future. 

 

1.2 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 

 

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or 
received. In particular: 

Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of 

goods, is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are transferred to the service 

recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in the contract. 

Page 85



 

Page 34 of 155 

 

Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap 

between the date supplies are received and their consumption; they are carried as 

inventories on the Balance Sheet. 

Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are 

recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments 

are made. 

An exception to this policy is housing benefit transactions which are accounted for on a 

cash basis, that is, when the payment is made. 

Interest receivable on investments is accounted for respectively as income on the basis of 

the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows 

fixed or determined by the contract.  

Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or 

paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded on the Balance Sheet. 

Where debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge 

made to revenue for the income that might not be collected.  

The de minimis level for manual accruals has been maintained at £20,000, which is 

reviewed annually.  This removes small transactions at the end of the financial year 

that do not materially affect the accounts.   Purchase orders raised automatically 

through the financial information system are processed with no de minimis level. 

For business rates, the levy or safety net payments owed to or from Central Government 

for the financial year are reported in the year they relate to on an accruals 

basis.   Cherwell is the lead authority for the North Oxfordshire Pool and has accounted 

for the amounts owing to the Pool for levy payments and owed to the other pool 

members for the gain from the pool on an accruals basis. 

1.3 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that 
mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  

In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the council’s cash management. 

1.4 Changes in accounting policy no longer need to be material to result in a 
Prior Period Adjustment.  

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a 
material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e., in the current 
and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the 
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events 
and conditions on the council’s financial position or financial performance. Where a change is made, 
it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and 

Page 86



 

Page 35 of 155 

 

comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. Accounting 
policies that relate to statutory accounting requirements are accounted for in the same manner as 
other accounting policies. 

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 

Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 

Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record 
the cost of holding fixed assets during the year: 

Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service 

Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 

accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written 

off 

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets attributable to the service. 

The council is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment 
losses or amortisations. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue 
towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an amount calculated on a 
prudent basis determined by the council in accordance with statutory guidance. Depreciation, 
revaluation and impairment losses and amortisations are replaced by the contribution in the General 
Fund Balance Minimum Revenue Payment (MRP) by way of an adjusting transaction with the 
Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the 
two. 

1.5 Collection Fund Income and Expenditure Account 

The council has a statutory requirement to operate a Collection Fund as a separate account to the 
General Fund. The purpose of the Collection Fund is to isolate the income and expenditure relating 
to Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates. 

1.5.1 Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates 

Billing authorities act as agents, collecting council tax and non-domestic rates (NDR) on behalf of 
the major preceptors (including government for NDR) and, as principals, collecting council tax and 
NDR for themselves. Billing authorities are required by statute to maintain a separate fund (i.e., the 
Collection Fund) for the collection and distribution of amounts due in respect of council tax and NDR. 

Under the legislative framework for the Collection Fund, billing authorities, major preceptors and 
central government share proportionately the risks and rewards that the amount of council tax and 
NDR collected could be less or more than predicted. 

 

Collection Fund surpluses/deficits declared by the Billing Authority in relation to Council Tax are 
apportioned to the relevant precepting bodies in the subsequent financial year. For Cherwell District 
Council, the Council Tax precepting bodies are Oxfordshire County Council and Police and Crime 
Commissioner. For Cherwell District Council, the NDR precepting bodies are Central Government 
(50% share) Cherwell District Council (40% share) and Oxfordshire County Council (10% share). 

Cherwell District Council participates in a Business Rates pool with Oxfordshire County Council and 
West Oxfordshire District Council to minimise the levy payment due on growth in NDR income and 
thereby maximise the retention of locally generated business rates.   

Page 87



 

Page 36 of 155 

 

1.5.2 Accounting for Council Tax and NDR 

The council tax and NDR income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is the authority’s share of accrued income for the year. However, regulations determine 
the amount of council tax and NDR that must be included in the authority’s General Fund. Therefore, 
the difference between the income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund is taken to the 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account and included as a reconciling item in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.  

The Balance Sheet includes the authority’s share of the end of year balances in respect of council 
tax and NDR relating to arrears, impairment allowances for doubtful debts, overpayments, 
prepayments, and provision for appeals. 

Where debtor balances for the above are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from 
a past event that payments due under the statutory arrangements will not be made (fixed or 
determinable payments), the asset is written down and a charge made to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income Expenditure Statement or 
CIES. The impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the 
revised future cash flows. 

1.6 Exceptional Items 

When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately, 
either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the 
accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of the council’s financial 
performance.  

The council has no Exceptional Items in 2023/24.  

1.7 Employee Benefits 

1.7.1 Benefits Payable during Employment 

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They 
include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave for current 
employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render 
service to the council. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave 
- e.g., time off in lieu, flex-leave) earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which 
employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is charged to the service 
account, but then reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday 
benefits accrual has no impact on Council Tax and holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the 
financial year in which the holiday absence occurs. 

 

1.7.2 Termination Benefit 

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the authority to terminate an 
officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for those benefits and are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate 
service segment or, where applicable, to a corporate service segment at the earlier of when the 
authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the authority recognises costs 
for a restructuring.  

Page 88



 

Page 37 of 155 

 

Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the 
General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the authority to the pension fund 
or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. 
In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions 
Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits 
and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such 
amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. 

1.7.3 Post-Employment Benefits 

Employees of the council are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme, administered by 
Oxfordshire County Council. The scheme provides defined benefits to members (retirement lump 
sums and pensions), earned as employees worked for the council. 

The Local Government Pension Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefit scheme. 

The pension fund liability is calculated every three years by the fund’s actuary, with annual updates 
in the intervening years. Methods and assumptions consistent with International Accounting 
Standard (IAS) 19 are used in the calculations. Assumptions underpinning the valuations are agreed 
with the actuary and are summarised in Note 35. The estimate of the liability is therefore subject to 
significant variances based on changes to the assumptions used. 

The liabilities of the Oxfordshire County Council pension scheme attributable to the council are 
included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e., an 
assessment of future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by 
employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc., and 
projections of projected earnings of current employees. 

Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on the indicative 
rate of return on a high-quality corporate bond. The discount rates are based on the annualised yield 
on the iBoxx over 15-year AA rated corporate bond index. 

The iBoxx bond market indices are benchmarks for professional use and comprise liquid investment 
grade bond issues. They enable investors to analyse and select benchmarks that reflect their 
investment profile. 

The assets of the Oxfordshire County Council pension fund attributable to the council are included 
in the Balance Sheet at their fair value and include quoted securities at current bid price and property 
at market value. 

The change in the net pension’s liability is analysed into the following components: 

1.7.4 Service cost comprising: 

Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this 

year – allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the 

services for which the employees worked 

Past service cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose 

effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement as part of Non-Distributed Costs 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) i.e., net interest expense for the 

council – the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that 

arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Page 89



 

Page 38 of 155 

 

Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  This is 

calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation 

at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning 

of the period – taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability 

(asset) during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments. 

1.7.5 Re-measurements comprising: 

The return on assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined 

benefit liability (asset) – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure. 

Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pension’s liability that arise because 

events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or 

because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to the Pensions 

Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

Contributions paid to the Oxfordshire pension fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions 

to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.  

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be 
charged with the amount payable by the council to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the 
year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.  

In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there are appropriations to and from the 
Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them 
with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but 
unpaid at the year-end.  

The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact 
to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows 
rather than as benefits are earned by employees. 

1.7.6 Discretionary Benefits 

The council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the 
event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member 
of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using the same 
policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

1.8 Events after the Reporting Period 

Events after the balance sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised 
for issue.   

 

Two types of events can be identified: 

Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – 

the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events; and 

Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement 

of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events 

Page 90



 

Page 39 of 155 

 

would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events 

and their estimated financial effect. 

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of 
Accounts. 

1.9 Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the council becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of a financial instrument.  

1.9.1 Financial Liabilities  

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the council becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and are 
carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are 
based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.  

For most of the borrowings that the authority has, this means that the amount presented in the 
Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest); and interest charged 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year 
according to the loan agreement. 

Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase/settlement. However, where repurchase has taken 
place as part of a restructuring of the loan portfolio that involves the modification or exchange of 
existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively deducted from or added to the 
amortised cost of the new or modified loan and the write-down to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan by an adjustment to the effective interest 
rate.  

Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, regulations allow the impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread over future 
years. The authority has a policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was remaining on 
the loan against which the premium was payable or discount receivable when it was repaid. The 
reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the 
net charge required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

The fair values of loans are estimated as the price the lender would receive to sell the loans to 
another market participant on 31st March 2024, based on observed market rates for similar 
transactions. 

 

1.9.2 Financial Assets 

Financial assets are classified into two types: 

Loans and receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not 

quoted in an active market; and 

Page 91



 

Page 40 of 155 

 

Available-for-sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not have 

fixed or determinable payments. 

The council has financial assets comprising of long-term and short-term investments, long-term 
debtors, short-term debtors (excluding statutory debts such as Council Tax, Non-Domestic Rates, 
rent allowances, precepts, etc.) and cash & cash equivalents. These are assets that have fixed or 
determinable payments but are not quoted in an active market. They are recognised on the Balance 
Sheet when the council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and 
are initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost.  

Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the 
asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the loans that the 
council has made, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding 
principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 

Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event that 
payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is written down and a charge made to 
the relevant service (for receivables specific to that service) or the Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The impairment 
loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the revised 
future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 

Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

1.9.3 Available-for-Sale Assets 

The council has available for sale financial assets in the form of, for example, Certificates of Deposit.  
Available-for-sale assets are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured and carried at fair 
value. Where the asset has fixed or determinable payments, annual credits to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
for interest receivable are based on the amortised cost of the asset multiplied by the effective rate 
of interest for the instrument. Where there are no fixed or determinable payments, income (e.g., 
dividends) is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when it becomes 
receivable by the Authority.  

Assets are maintained in the Balance Sheet at fair value.  Values are based on the following 
techniques: 

Instruments with quoted market prices – the market price  

Other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash flow analysis  

Equity shares with no quoted market prices – independent appraisal of company 

valuations 

The inputs to the measurement techniques are categorised in accordance with the following three 
levels:  

Level 1 inputs – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets that the 

authority can access at the measurement date.  

Page 92



 

Page 41 of 155 

 

Level 2 inputs – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly.  

Level 3 inputs – unobservable inputs for the asset.  

Changes in fair value are balanced by an entry in the Available-for-Sale Reserve and the gain/loss 
is recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Revaluation of Available-for-Sale Financial Assets. The 
exception is where impairment losses have been incurred – these are debited to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
along with any net gain or loss for the asset accumulated in the Available-for-Sale Reserve.  

Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event that 
payments due under the contract will not be made (fixed or determinable payments) or fair value 
falls below cost, the asset is written down and a charge made to the Financing and Investment 
Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. If the asset 
has fixed or determinable payments, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
the carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. Otherwise, the impairment loss is measured as any shortfall of fair 
value against the acquisition cost of the instrument (net of any principal repayment and 
amortisation).  

Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited or debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, along with any accumulated gains or losses previously recognised in the 
Available-for-Sale Reserve.  

Where fair value cannot be measured reliably, the instrument is carried at cost (less any impairment 
losses). 

1.10 Government Grants and Contributions 

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third-party 
contributions and donations are recognised as due to the council when there is reasonable 
assurance that: 

The council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments; and 

The grants or contributions will be received. 

Amounts recognised as due to the council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. 
Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the 
recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the 
transferor. 

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are 
carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is 
credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and 
Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ring-fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they 
are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the 
grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied 
reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. Amounts in the 

Page 93



 

Page 42 of 155 

 

Capital Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have 
been applied to fund capital expenditure. 

1.11 Intangible Assets 

Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the 
council as a result of past events (e.g., software licenses) is capitalised when it is expected that 
future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the council. 

Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the fair value of 
the assets held by the council can be determined by reference to an active market. In practice, no 
intangible asset held by the council meets this criterion, and they are therefore carried at amortised 
cost. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the relevant 
service area in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. An asset is tested for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired. Any gain or loss arising 
on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, 
amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact 
on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and 
(for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

1.12 Interests in Companies and Other Entities 

The council has material interests in companies and other entities that have the nature of 
subsidiaries, and require it to prepare group accounts. In the authority’s own single-entity accounts, 
the interests in companies and other entities are recorded as financial assets at cost, less any 
provision for losses in 2023/24: 

Graven Hill Village Holding Company Limited 

Graven Hill Village Development Company Limited 

Graven Hill Village Management Company Limited 

Graven Hill Village Management Company Block E Limited 

Graven Hill Village Management Company Block C Limited 

Crown House Banbury Limited 

Crown Apartments Banbury Limited 

Group Accounts have been prepared in accordance with paragraph 9.1.2.60 of the Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting 2023/24, using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and 
other events in similar circumstances.  

1.13 Inventories and Long-Term Contracts 

Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Long term contracts are accounted for by charging the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 
with the consideration allocated to the performance obligations satisfied based on the goods or 
services transferred to the service recipient during the financial year. 

Page 94



 

Page 43 of 155 

 

1.14 Investment Property   

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. 
The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or 
production of goods or is held for sale.  

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, based on the 
amount at which the asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable parties at arm’s-length. As 
a non-financial asset, investment properties are measured at highest and best use. Properties are 
not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the year-end. Gains 
and losses on revaluation are posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment is applied to gains 
and losses on disposal.  

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment 
Income line and result in a gain for the General Fund Balance. However, revaluation and disposal 
gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on the General 
Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale 
proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve.  

1.15 Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered 
separately for classification.  

Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return 
for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent 
on the use of specific assets. 

1.15.1 The Council as Lessee 

1.15.1.1 Finance Leases 

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the 
commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present value 
of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the 
obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the Council are added to the carrying amount of 
the asset. Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability.  

Lease payments are apportioned between: 

A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment – applied to 

write down the lease liability; and 

A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 

Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies 
applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is 
shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the 
council at the end of the lease period). 

Page 95



 

Page 44 of 155 

 

 

The council is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and impairment 
losses arising on leased assets. Instead, a prudent annual contribution is made from revenue funds 
towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory requirements.  

Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by a revenue contribution 
in the General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment 
Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.  

1.15.1.1.2 Operating Leases 

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as an expense of the services benefiting from use of the leased property, plant or 
equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease; even if this does not 
match the pattern of payments (e.g., there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease). 

1.15.2 The Council as Lessor 

1.15.2.1 Finance Leases 

Where the council grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the 
relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the lease, 
the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or 
Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain, representing the 
council’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e., netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long-term debtor) asset in 
the Balance Sheet. 

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write down the lease 

debtor (together with any premiums received); and  

Finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 

The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not 
permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as a capital 
receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the 
Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  Where the amount due in 
relation to the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future financial years, this is 
posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement. When the future rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for 
the disposal of the asset is used to write down the lease debtor. At this point, the deferred capital 
receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of noncurrent 
assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are therefore 
appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 

 

Page 96



 

Page 45 of 155 

 

1.15.2.2 Operating Leases 

Where the council grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the 
asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Credits are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the 
pattern of payments (e.g., there is a premium paid at the commencement of the lease). Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
relevant asset and charged as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

1.16 Fair Value 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When applying the 
definition of fair value, non-financial assets and, non-current assets held for sale shall be measured 
at highest and best use. 

1.17 Property, Plant & Equipment 

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during 
more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.  

1.17.1 Recognition  

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
capitalised on an accrual’s basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow to the council and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver 
future economic benefits or service potential (i.e., repairs and maintenance) is charged as an 
expense when it is incurred.  

The council has a de minimis limit of £10,000 for capital expenditure purposes which results in the 
capitalisation of expenditure above that limit as an asset in the balance sheet. Items below this limit 
are charged to revenue. 

1.17.2 Measurement  

Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:  

the purchase price 

any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to 

be capable of operating in the manner intended by management 

the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site 

on which it is located if the cost is above the £5,000 de minimis threshold. 

The council does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction.  

The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the 
acquisition does not have commercial substance (i.e., it will not lead to a variation in the cash flows 
of the council). In the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of the 
acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the council. 

 

Page 97



 

Page 46 of 155 

 

Donated assets are measured initially at fair value. The difference between fair value and any 
consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income line of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, unless the donation has been made 
conditionally. Until conditions are satisfied, the gain is held in the Donated Assets Account. 

Where gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are 
reversed out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:  

Vehicles, plant and equipment are held at depreciated historical cost. 

Infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction are held at historical cost. 

Dwellings – Current value, determined using the basis of Existing Use Value for Social 

Housing (EUV–SH).  

Other land and buildings and operational assets where there is an active market – Current 

value determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use 

(EUV). 

Operational assets, such as community and sports centres, where there is no market-

based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of the asset and/or 

the asset is rarely sold (i.e., EUV cannot be determined)- depreciated replacement cost 

using the ‘instant build’ approach as an estimate of current value.  

Surplus assets – the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated at highest 

and best use from a market participant’s perspective  

Fair value based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date 

All other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset 

in its existing use (existing use value – EUV).  

Where non-property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical 
cost basis is used as a proxy for fair value. 

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued regularly to ensure that their 
carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the year-end, but as a minimum 
every five years. Increases in valuations are matched by credits taken to the Revaluation Reserve 
to recognise unrealised gains. Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement where they arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a 
service. 

The council’s property valuations are carried out by Montagu Evans and Colliers. The bases of 
valuations are undertaken in accordance with the Statement of Asset Valuation Practice and 
Guidance Notes, published by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). 

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:  

Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 

carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of 

the accumulated gains); and 

Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the 

carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

Page 98



 

Page 47 of 155 

 

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of 
its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 

1.17.3 Impairment 

Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that they may be 
impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the 
asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.  

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:  

Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 

carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of 

the accumulated gains).  

Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the 

carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the 

relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up 

to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been 

charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

1.17.4 Depreciation 

Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation 
of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a 
determinable finite useful life (i.e., freehold land and certain Community Assets) and assets that are 
not yet available for use (i.e., assets under construction). 

Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:  

Dwellings and other buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property 

as estimated by the valuer 

Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the 

asset, as advised by a suitably qualified officer and/or Responsible Officer for that 

asset; and 

Infrastructure – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the asset, as advised by a 

suitably qualified officer, and/or Responsible Officer and/or valuer for that asset. 

Newly acquired assets and capital enhancements are depreciated from the year after acquisition.  

Useful life of an asset is shown below for the relevant categories: 

Infrastructure     10 to 40 years 

Buildings     10 to 60 years 

Vehicles     5 to 10 years 

Computer Equipment / systems  3, 5 or 10 years 

Other      3 to 30 years 

 

Page 99



 

Page 48 of 155 

 

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment has major components whose cost is significant 
in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately.  All assets with 
a gross value over £50,000 are considered for componentisation.  

If on consideration a component is assessed to be greater than 20% of the total cost of the asset, it 
is componentised, and the separate components depreciated using appropriate useful lives. 
Components that are individually less than 20% of the total cost of the asset are not treated as 
separate components for accounting purposes. They are valued and depreciated as part of the 
building structure. 

The following two components have been identified for items of property: 

Land 

Structure of Building 

Each component is considered to depreciate on a straight-line basis (except those such as land 
which are identified as exceptions above). The useful life of a component will vary according to the 
type of property in which it is located and the amount of use to which it is put. The useful life of a 
component will be determined by the valuer when a component part is identified. 

Where a component is replaced or restored, the carrying amount of the old component shall be 
derecognised to avoid double counting and the new component reflected at the cost or new carrying 
value. 

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current 
value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based 
on their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital 
Adjustment Account.  

1.18 Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale  

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. 
The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount 
and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to 
sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any losses 
recognised previously in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged 
on Assets Held for Sale.  

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified 
back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were 
classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, or revaluations that would have been 
recognised had they not been classified as Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date 
of the decision not to sell. 

Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale and are 
kept under their original category. 

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other 
Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the 
gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e., 
netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  

Page 100



 

Page 49 of 155 

 

Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the 
Capital Adjustment Account.  

Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. A 
proportion of receipts relating to housing disposals (75% for dwellings and 50% for land, net of 
statutory deductions and allowances) are payable to the Government. The balance of receipts is 
required to be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve and can then only be used for new capital 
investment. Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. The net book value of disposals is not a charge against council 
tax, as the cost of fixed assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. 
Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement.  

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current 
assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are 
appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 

1.19 Fair Value Measurement 

The authority measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets, investment 
properties, assets held for sale and some of its financial instruments, such as equity shareholdings, 
at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date.  

The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 
takes place either:  

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 

liability.  

The authority measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming market participants act in their 
economic best interest. 

When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the authority takes into account a market 
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or 
by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The authority uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use 
of unobservable inputs. 

Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the authority’s financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as 
follows: 

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 

the authority can access at the measurement date  

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly  

Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 

Page 101



 

Page 50 of 155 

 

1.20 Minimum Revenue Provision 

The council is not required to use Council Tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment 
losses or amortisation on non-current assets. However, it is required to make an annual contribution 
from revenue towards provision for the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement, calculated on 
a prudent basis as determined by the council in accordance with statutory guidance. 

Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and amortisations are therefore replaced by the 
Minimum Revenue Provision in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction with 
the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

1.21 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

1.21.1 Provisions 

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the council a legal or constructive 
obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

Provisions are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that 
the council becomes aware of the obligation and are measured at the best estimate at the balance 
sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and 
uncertainties.  

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance 
Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year. Where it becomes less 
than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than 
anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service. 

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from 
another party (e.g., from an insurance claim) this is only recognised as income for the relevant 
service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the council settles the obligation. 

1.21.2 Contingent Assets  

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible asset 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the authority.  

Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 
where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential. 

1.21.3 Contingent Liabilities 

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the council a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the council. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances 
where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  Contingent liabilities 
are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts.  

 

1.22 Reserves 

Page 102



 

Page 51 of 155 

 

The council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, 
it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to count against the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is 
then appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so 
that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. Certain reserves are kept for the 
purpose of managing the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments, 
retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the council – these 
reserves are explained in the Unusable reserves note – note 25 of the financial statements. 

1.23 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but that 
does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as expenditure to the 
relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year. Where the 
council has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by 
borrowing, a transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to 
the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact 
on the level of council tax. 

1.24 VAT  

VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her 
Majesty’s Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income. The amount of VAT 
irrecoverable is negligible. 

1.25 Rounding  

In preparing the Statement of Accounts all numbers, including totals, have been rounded 
independently to avoid unacceptable rounding errors. This may mean that some tables do not cross 
cast. 

Note 2 – Accounting Standards Issued, Not Adopted 

Under the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24 
(the Code) the Council is required to disclose and set out the impact of accounting code 
changes required by new accounting standards that have been issued but not yet adopted by 
the code.    

The following are the accounting policies that have been issued but have not been adopted 
by the Council as at the Balance Sheet date: 

• IFRS 16 Leases. This standard introduces new presentation and disclosure requirements 
in relation to arrangements that convey the right to use an asset. This will be implemented 
for 2024/25.  

• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS1) issued in 
January 2021. The amendments: specify that an entity’s right to defer settlement must 
exist at the end of the reporting period; clarify that classification is unaffected by 
management’s intentions or expectations about whether the entity will exercise its right to 
defer settlement; clarify how lending conditions affect classification, and clarify 

Page 103



 

Page 52 of 155 

 

requirements for classifying liabilities an entity will or may settle by issuing its own equity 
instruments. 

• Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16) issued in September 
2022. The amendments to IFRS 16 add subsequent measurement requirements for sale 
and leaseback transactions. 

• Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1) issued in October 2022. 
The amendments improved the information an entity provides when its right to defer 
settlement of a liability for at least 12 months is subject to compliance with covenants. 

• International Tax Reform: Pillar Two Model Rules (Amendments to IAS 12) issued in May 
2023. Pillar Two applies to multinational groups with a minimum level of turnover. The 
amendments introduced: a temporary exception to the requirements to recognise and 
disclose information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income 
taxes, and targeted disclosure requirements for affected entities. 

• Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7) issued in May 2023. 
The amendments require an entity to provide additional disclosures about its supplier 
finance arrangements. The IASB developed the new requirements to provide users of 
financial statements with information to enable them to: assess how supplier finance 
arrangements affect an entity’s liabilities and cash flows, and understand the effect of 
supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s exposure to liquidity risk and how the entity 
might be affected if the arrangements were no longer available to it. 

None of these amendments are expected to have a significant impact on the council’s 
accounts in future years. 

Note 3 – Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 

In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the authority has had to make certain 
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. 
The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are as follows.  

Lease Accounting  

• Judgement is required in the initial classification of leases as either operating leases or 
finance leases. Where a lease is taken out for land and buildings combined, the lease 
may be capitalised as a finance lease if it meets the criteria for a finance lease, but will 
be classed as an operating lease by the Council unless title transfers at the end of the 
lease. The accounting policy for leases is set out in Note 1. 

• Following the postponement of IFRS 16 implementation for Public Sector bodies to 1 
April 2024, The Council has opted to use this opportunity to defer its implementation in 
order to ensure sufficient time to obtain all the data required for implementation. Thus, 
with respect to leases, the accounts have been completed on the same basis as 
previous years.  

Provision for Outstanding Business Rates Appeals   

On 1 April 2013, Local Authorities assumed the liability for refunding ratepayers who have 
successfully appealed against the Business Rates rateable value of their properties. The 
provision is charged to the Collection Fund. 

Page 104



 

Page 53 of 155 

 

• The current VOA rating list is based on the business rates revaluation which took effect 
from 1 April 2023.  Minor updates were made to the  top-up and tariff equalisation 
mechanism in the business rates retention to better remove the impact of the 
revaluation on local authority income.  Initial adjustments to tariff and top-ups were 
made in 2023-24 with subsequent adjustments in 2024-25 and 2025-26. 

• As part of the 2023 valuation, the VOA made an assumption about the future losses 
from appeals on the new rating list.  An allowance of 3.4% is built into the business rates 
multiplier and this method is used to calculate potential future losses.  

  

Page 105



 

Page 54 of 155 

 

Note 4 – Assumptions Made about the Future and Other Major 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made 
by the authority about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking 
into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, 
because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially 
different from the assumptions and estimates.  

Valuations– Property, Plant and Equipment 

Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions 

Valuations by nature are estimations 

of an asset’s value as at the balance 
sheet date. The council operates a 5 
– year rolling schedule, in line with 
the CIPFA code, for assets held 
under the valuation model.  

Asset valuations are undertaken by 
professional valuers using 
appropriate valuation methodologies 
based on the type of asset.  

The Depreciated Replacement Cost 
(DRC) methodology applies to assets 
for which no active market exists, 
such as leisure and community 
centres, and represents a source of 
uncertainty for the Council’s 
valuations. Changes in market and 
economic factors from year-to-year 
could result in differences between 
the book value and actual value using 
the DRC approach. 

 

Where the Council identifies significant changes in 

the Build Cost Indices and/or locational factors from 
prior years, a review is undertaken to compare the 
DRC calculated value, based on the up-to-date 
indices, to the book value held by the council. 

For assets that are not scheduled to be valued in 
year, and where an aggregate material variance is 
identified, the book value is adjusted using the 
updated indices as provided by the valuers, to avoid 
material misstatement.  

For 2023/24 the indices did not identify a material 
variance and so no adjustment has been made. 

 

 

  

Page 106



 

Page 55 of 155 

 

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment & Amortisation of Intangible Assets 

Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from 
Assumptions 

The Council assigns useful lives 
and residual values to property, 
plant and equipment based on 
periodic studies of actual asset 
lives and the intended use for 
those assets.  

Changes in circumstances such as 
technological advances, 
prospective economic utilisation 
and physical condition of the 
assets concerned could result in 
the actual useful lives or residual 
values differing from initial 
estimates. 

Where the Council determines that the useful life of 
property, plant and equipment should be shortened 
or residual value reduced, it depreciates the net 
book value in excess of the residual value over the 
revised remaining useful life, thereby increasing 
depreciation expense. Any change in an asset’s 
life or residual value is reflected in the Council’s 
accounts when the change in estimate is 
determined. 

The carrying value of depreciable assets in the 
balance sheet is £175m. This amount comprises of 
Land & Buildings, Plant, Vehicles & Equipment, 
Infrastructure Assets and Intangible Assets.  

 

Fair Value Measurements 

Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ 

from Assumptions 

When the fair values of financial assets and 
financial liabilities cannot be measured based on 
quoted prices in active markets (i.e. Level 1 inputs), 
their fair value is measured using valuation 
techniques (e.g. quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets or the discounted cash 
flow (DCF) model). Where possible, the inputs to 
these valuation techniques are based on 
observable data, but where this is not possible 
judgement is required in establishing fair values. 
These judgements typically include considerations 
such as uncertainty and risk. However, changes in 
the assumptions used could affect the fair value of 
the authority’s assets and liabilities.  

Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the authority 
employs relevant experts to identify the most 
appropriate valuation techniques to determine fair 
value (for example for investment properties, the 
authority’s chief valuation officer and external 
valuer).  Information about the valuation techniques 
and inputs used in determining the fair value of the 
authority’s assets and liabilities is disclosed in notes 
14 and 15 below. 

The authority uses the discounted 
cash flow (DCF) model to measure 
the fair value of some of its 
properties and financial assets.  

The significant unobservable inputs 
used in the fair value measurement 
include management assumptions 
regarding rent growth, vacancy 
levels (for investment properties) 
and discount rates – adjusted for 
regional factors (for both properties 
and some financial assets).  

Significant changes in any of the 
unobservable inputs would result in 
a significantly lower or higher fair 
value measurement for the 
properties and financial assets, 
however this would not impact on 
the general fund as any movement 
would be taken to the revaluation 
reserve or capital adjustment 
account which are unusable 
reserves. 

 

Page 107



 

Page 56 of 155 

 

Impairment allowance for doubtful debt 

Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

The Impairment allowance for doubtful debt 
reflects the Council’s estimates of losses arising 
from the failure or inability of the Council’s 
customers to make required payments.  

The allowance is based on the ageing of 
customer accounts, customer credit worthiness 
and the Council’s historical write-off experience. 
One off debts for significant amounts have also 
been included if we have reasonable grounds to 
assume that we are unlikely to receive payment. 

 

If actual write-offs are 1% 
higher/lower than expected this 
would result in a 
additional/reduced write-offs of 
£0.033m 

Changes to the allowance may be 
required if the financial condition of 
the Council’s customers improves 
or deteriorates.  

An improvement in financial 
condition may result in lower actual 
write-offs. 

 

Provision for Business Rates Appeals  

 

  

Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from 
Assumptions 

The possible refund from a business rate 

appeal can vary depending on factors such 
as; the type of appeal and type of property, 
together with its geographical location and 
the probability of appeal success. 

Following an assessment of the 

outstanding business rates appeals at 31 
March 2024, a total provision of 
£14.281m was made for potential future 
appeal refunds. Cherwell’s  40 per cent 
share of this provision is £5.712m. 

If the provision for appeals changed by 
1% the resulting increase/decrease would 
be £0.143m shared across central 
government (50 per cent), the county 
council (10 per cent) and Cherwell (40 
per cent. 

 

Page 108



 

Page 57 of 155 

 

Pensions 

 

  

Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from 

Assumptions 

The Council provides one defined benefit 
pension scheme for its employees. The 
asset (or liability) recognised in the 
statement of financial position in respect of 
defined benefit pension plans represents the 
fair value of plan assets less the present 
value of the defined benefit obligations at 
the reporting date.  

The expected cost of providing these 
defined benefit pensions will depend on an 
assessment of such factors as: 

• the life expectancy of the Officers; 

• the length of service; 

• the rate of salary progression; 

• the rate of return earned on assets in 
the future; 

• the rate used to discount future 
pension liabilities; and 

• future inflation rates. 

The assumptions used by the Council are 
set out in note 35 and are estimates 
chosen from a range of possible actuarial 
assumptions which may not necessarily 
be borne out in practice but have been 
comparable to the median estimates in 
this regard used by other Councils.  

Changes to these assumptions could 
materially affect the size of the defined 
benefit scheme’s liabilities and assets. A 
sensitivity analysis is included within note 
35. 

 

Page 109



 

Page 58 of 155 

 

Note 5 - Material Items of Income and Expense 

Pensions 

The actuary carried out a valuation as at 31 March 2024.  This has resulted in pension 
assets increasing from £133m at 31 March 2023 to £151m at 31 March 2024.  

Liabilities have increased from £164m at 31 March 2023 to £166m at 31 March 2024, which 
resulted in a decrease in net liability of £16m. 

 

Note 6 – Events after the Balance Sheet Date  

There are no events after the balance sheet date.  
 

  

Page 110



 

Page 59 of 155 

 

Note 7a – Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

Year Ending 31 Mar 24 

  

Net Capital 
Statutory 

Adjustments 

£'000 

Net 
Pensions 
Statutory 

Adjustments 

£'000 

Other Statutory 
Adjustments 

£'000 

Other 
Differences 

£'000 

Total 
Adjustments 

£'000 

Chief Executive 2,448 282 0 25 2,756 

Communities 3,085 465 0 42 3,592 

Resources 4,516 (5,749) 191 3,058 2,016 

Net Cost of Services 10,050 (5,002) 191 3,125 8,364 

Other Income and 
Expenditure 

(7,239) 1,508 3,161 (3,125) (5,695) 

       

Difference between the 
Statutory Charge and the 
Surplus or Deficit in the 
Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 
Statement 

2,811 (3,494) 3,352 0 2,668 

Year Ending 31 Mar 23 

  

Net Capital 
Statutory 

Adjustments 

£'000 

Net 
Pensions 
Statutory 

Adjustments 

£'000 

Other Statutory 
Adjustments 

£'000 

Other 
Differences 

£'000 

Total 
Adjustments 

£'000 

Chief Executive 468 1,457 0 0 1,925 

Communities 2,272 2,612 0 25 4,909 

Resources 8,185 1,180 (3) 933 10,294 

Net Cost of Services 10,925 5,249 (3) 957 17,128 

Other Income and 
Expenditure 

(9,339) 2,068 (12,874) (957) (21,102) 
            

Difference between the 
Statutory Charge and the 
Surplus or Deficit in the 
Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 
Statement 

1,586 7,317 (12,877) 0 (3,974) 

 

Page 111



 

Page 60 of 155 

 

Net Capital Statutory Adjustments  

This column adds in depreciation, impairment, REFCUS and revaluation gains and losses in 
the service line. 

For other operating expenditure, it adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income 
on disposal of assets and the amounts written off for those assets. 

For financing and investment income and expenditure, it adjusts for the statutory charges 
for capital financing and investment i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue 
contributions are deducted from other income and expenditure as these are not 
chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. 

For taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure, capital grants are adjusted 
for income not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. Revenue 
grants are adjusted from those receivables in the year to those receivables without 
conditions or for which conditions were satisfied throughout the year. The taxation and 
non-specific grant income and expenditure line is credited with capital grants receivable in 
the year without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the year. 

Net Pensions Statutory Adjustments  

This column adjusts for the net change for the renewal of pension contributions and the 
addition of IAS19 Employee Benefits pension related expenditure and income. 

For services, this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by 
the authority as allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs and 
past service costs. 

For financing and investment income and expenditure, this adjusts for the net interest on 
the defined benefit liability is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

Other Statutory Adjustments 

Other statutory adjustments between amounts charged/(received) to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement and amounts payable / (receivable) to be recognised 
under statute. For financing and investment (income) and expenditure the other 
differences column recognises adjustments to General Fund for the timing differences for 
premiums and discounts and financial instruments. 

  

Page 112



 

Page 61 of 155 

 

The charge under taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure represents the 
difference between what is chargeable under statutory regulations for Council Tax and 
Non-Domestic Rates that was projected to be received at the start of the year and the 
income recognised under generally accepted accounting practices in the Code. This is a 
timing difference, as any difference will be brought forward in future Surpluses or Deficits 
on the Collection Fund. 

Other Non-statutory Adjustments   

Other non-statutory adjustments represent amounts debited/credited to service segments 
which need to be adjusted against the ‘Other income and expenditure from the Expenditure 
and Funding Analysis’ line to comply with the presentational requirements in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 

For financing and investment income and expenditure the other statutory adjustments 
column recognises adjustments to service segments, e.g. for interest income and 
expenditure and changes in the fair values of investment properties. 

For taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure the other non-statutory 
adjustments column recognises adjustments to service segments, e.g. for un-ringfenced 
government grants. 

Note 7b – Segmental Analysis of Income and Expenditure 

31-Mar-24 

Revenues 
from 

External 
Customers 

£'000 

Revenues 
from Other 
Segments 

£'000 

Interest 
Revenue 

£'000 

Interest 
Expense 

£'000 

Depreciation 
and 

Amortisation 

£'000  

Chief Executive (3,492) (6,881) 0 0 2,348 

Communities (7,833) (2,361) 0 0 1,123 

Resources (9,575) (22,987) 0 0 2,203 

Non Distributed Services (294) (25,593) (6,660) 4,738 0 

Total Managed by Segments (21,194) (57,822) (6,660) 4,738 5,674 

 

 

 

31-Mar-23 

Revenues from 
External 

Customers 

£'000 

Revenues 
from Other 
Segments 

£'000 

Interest 
Revenue 

£'000 

Interest 
Expense 

£'000 

Depreciation 
and 

Amortisation  

£'000 

Chief Executive (3,335) (4,679) 0 0 1,982 

Communities (9,660) (1,973) 0 0 1,176 

Resources (8,655) (22,474) 0 0 2,231 

Non-Distributed Services (278) (21,418) (6,569) 3,593 0 

Total Managed by Segments (21,928) (50,544) (6,569) 3,593 5,389 

Page 113



 

Page 62 of 155 

 

Note 8 - Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis 
under Regulations 2023/24 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and 
expenditure recognised by the authority in the year in accordance with proper accounting 
practice to arrive at the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being 
available to the authority to meet future capital and revenue expenditure. The following sets 
out a description of the reserves that the adjustments are made against. 

General Fund Balance 

The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of an authority are 
required to be paid and out of which all liabilities of the authority are to be met, except to the 
extent that statutory rules might provide otherwise. These rules can also specify the 
financial year in which liabilities and payments should impact on the General Fund Balance, 
which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice. The General Fund 
Balance therefore summarises the resources that the council is statutorily empowered to 
spend on its services or on capital investment (or the deficit of resources that the council is 
required to recover) at the end of the financial year. 

Capital Receipts Reserve 

The Capital Receipts Reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, 
which are restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital expenditure 
or to be set aside to finance historical capital expenditure. The balance on the reserve 
shows the resources that have yet to be applied for these purposes at the year-end. 

Capital Grants Unapplied 

The Capital Grants Unapplied Account (Reserve) holds the grants and contributions 
received towards capital projects for which the council has met the conditions that would 
otherwise require repayment of the monies, but which have yet to be applied to meet 
expenditure. The balance is restricted by grant terms as to the capital expenditure against 
which it can be applied and/or the financial year in which this can take place.  

Page 114



 

Page 63 of 155 

 

Note 8 Continued 

2023/24 

General 
Fund 

Balance 
£'000  

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

£'000 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 
£'000 

Movement 
in 

Unusable 
Reserves 

£'000 

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources         

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements: 

Pension cost (transferred to or (from) the Pensions Reserve) 3,494 0 0 (3,494) 

Council tax and NDR (transfers to or (from) the Collection 
Fund Adjustment Account) 

(3,850) 0 0 3,850 

Holiday pay (transferred to the Accumulated Absences 
reserve) 

(188) 0 0 188 

Movement in Expected Credit Losses (transferred to the 
capital adjustment account) 

687 0 0 (687) 

Reversal of entries included in the (Surplus) or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in relation to capital expenditure (these 
items are charged to the Capital Adjustment Account) 

(13,525) 0 0 13,525 

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (13,383) 0 0 13,383 
      

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources 

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to 
the Capital Receipts Reserve 

198 (606) 0 408 

Statutory Provision for the repayment of debt (transfer to the 
Capital Adjustment Account) 

4,410 0 0 (4,410) 

Revenue contribution to Capital 0 0 0 0 

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital 
Resources 

4,607 (606) 0 (4,001) 

      

Adjustments to Capital Resources     

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital 
expenditure 

0 15,079 0 (15,079) 

Write down of Capital loans repaid to the Council 0 (15,079) 0 15,079 

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure 5,069 0 162 (5,230) 

Donated assets fair value less consideration included in the 
(Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services transferred 
to the Capital Adjustment Account 

1,039 0 0 (1,039) 

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources 6,108 0 162 (6,269) 
      

Total Adjustments (2,668) (606) 162 3,112 

Page 115



 

Page 64 of 155 

 

Note 8 Continued… 

2022/23 

General 
Fund 

Balance 

£'000 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

£'000 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 

£’000 

Movement 
in 

Unusable 
Reserves 

£’000 

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources         

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements:  

Pension cost (transferred to or (from) the Pensions 
Reserve) 

(7,317) 0 0 7,317 

Council tax and NDR (transfers to or (from) the 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account) 

13,269 0 0 (13,269) 

Holiday pay (transferred to the Accumulated Absences 
reserve) 

0 0 0 0 

Reversal of entries included in the (Surplus) or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services in relation to capital 
expenditure (these items are charged to the Capital 
Adjustment Account) 

(12,458) 0 0 12,458 

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (6,507) 0 0 6,507 
          

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources  

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from 
revenue to the Capital Receipts Reserve 

1,710 (1,718) 0 7 

Statutory Provision for the repayment of debt (transfer to 
the Capital Adjustment Account) 

4,476 0 0 (4,476) 

Revenue contribution to Capital 
0 0 0 0 

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital 
Resources 

6,186 (1,718) 0 (4,469) 

      

Adjustments to Capital Resources     

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital 
expenditure 

0 7,852 0 (7,852) 

Write down of Capital loans repaid to the Council 0 (6,034) 0 6,034 

Application of capital grants to finance capital 
expenditure 

4,293 0 2,099 (6,393) 

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources 4,293 1,817 2,099 (8,210) 
  

    

Total Adjustments 3,973 100 2,099 (6,173) 

 

  

Page 116



 

Page 65 of 155 

 

Note 9 - Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves  

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in earmarked 
reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted back 
from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure. 

Earmarked Reserves Balance at 31 
March 2022  

Net 
transfers 
(to)/from 

Earmarked 
Reserves in 

2022/23 

Balance at 31 
March 2023 

Net transfers 
(to)/from 

Earmarked 
Reserves in 

2023/24 

Balance at 31 
March 2024 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

General Earmarked Reserves      

Pensions Deficit 0 (2,152) (2,152) 252 (1,900) 

Transformation Reserve (3,796) 1,796 (2,000) 295 (1,705) 

Dilapidations, Garage Project 
and Canalside 

(450) (110) (560) 165 (395) 

Capital Reserve (277) 238 (39) (2,027) (2,066) 

Projects (3,185) (889) (4,073) 47 (4,027) 

Transformation Implementation 
Reserve 

(828) (1,172) (2,000) (2,974) (4,974) 

Market Risk Reserve (1,366) (3,631) (4,996) (3,303) (8,300) 

Growth Deal (555) 204 (351) 125 (226) 

M&S Surrender Premium (3,500) 1,598 (1,902) 1,902 0 

Business Rates Equalisation 
Reserve 

0 0 0 (586) (586) 

Interest Reserve 0 0 0 (2,400) (2,400) 

Other General Earmarked 
reserve 

(1,967) 143 (1,824) 78 (1,746) 
      

Revenue Grant Earmarked 
Reserves 

     

S31 Reserve (10,587) 10,001 (586) 586 0 

Covid-19 Reserve (1,616) 1,616 0 0 0 

COMF - General Allocation (683) 339 (344) 273 (71) 

Homelessness Prevention (932) 43 (889) 65 (824) 

Bicester Garden Town (1,290) 231 (1,059) 404 (655) 

Other Revenue Grant 
Earmarked reserves 

(1,107) 214 (894) (108) (1,002) 

      

Total Earmarked Reserves (32,138) 8,468 (23,670) (7,206) (30,876) 

Page 117



 

Page 66 of 155 

 

Note 10 - Other Operating Expenditure 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Other Operating Expenditure 
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

5,763 Precepts to other authorities and charging bodies 6,042 

(1,212) (Gains)/losses on the Disposal of Non-Current Assets (109) 

4,551 Total Other Operating Expenditure 5,933 

Note 11 - Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

A breakdown of the items within the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is as follows:  

31-Mar-23 

 £'000 
Financing and Investment Income & Expenditure 

31-Mar-24 
£'000 

3,593 Interest payable and similar charges 4,738 

2,283 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) 1,505 

(6,569) Interest receivable and similar income (7,160) 

(348) 
Income and expenditure in relation to investment 
properties and changes in their fair value 

215 

385 Other investment income and expenditure (726) 

(657) Total (1,428) 

Note 12 - Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 

A breakdown of the items in the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is:  

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

(14,377) Council tax income (14,958) 

(5,504) Business rates income (8,921) 

(13,200) Non-ringfenced government grants (13,584) 

(3,053) Capital grants and contributions (3,087) 

(36,135) Total (40,551) 

Page 118



 

Page 67 of 155 

 

Note 13 – Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 

The Council’s expenditure and income is analysed as follows: 

31-Mar-23 

£'000 
Nature of Expenditure or Income 

31-Mar-24 

£'000 

  Expenditure   

30,813 Employee benefits expenses 25,854 

53,465 Other expenditure 53,532 

3,594 Interest payments 4,738 

5,763 Precepts and levies 6,042 

5,389 Depreciation and amortisation 5,673 

0 Gain or loss on disposal of non-current assets 0 

99,024 Total Expenditure 95,838 
    

 Income  

(22,800) Fees, charges and other service income (21,848) 

(6,570) Interest and investment income (7,160) 

(19,881) Income from local taxation (23,879) 

(44,267) Government grants and contributions (47,380) 

(1,212) Gain or loss on disposal of non-current assets (109) 

(94,730) Total Income (100,377) 

4,294 Surplus or Deficit for Year (4,538) 

  

Page 119



 

Page 68 of 155 

 

Note 14 – Property, Plant and Equipment 

Movements to 31-Mar-24 

      

 L
a
n

d
 a

n
d

 

B
u

il
d

in
g

s
 

V
e
h

ic
le

s
 P

la
n

t 

&
 E

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

S
u

rp
lu

s
 

A
s
s
e
ts

 U
n

d
e
r 

C
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti

o
n

 

T
o

ta
l 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost or Valuation               

Balance brought forward 163,760 21,442 5,566 185 17 2,906 193,875 

Additions 1,217 651 0 35 0 7,089 8,992 

Acc Dep & Imp WO to GCA (1,911) 0 0 0 0 0 (1,911) 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve 

706 0 0 85 0 0 791 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on 
the Provision of Services 

(3,794) 0 0 0 0 0 (3,794) 

Derecognition - Disposals (93) (78) 0 0 0 0 (171) 

Assets reclassified (to)/from Assets 
Held for Sale 

0 0 0 0 0 (199) (199) 

Other movements in Cost or 
Valuation 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2024 159,885 22,014 5,566 305 17 9,797 197,583 
        

Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment 

Balance Brought Forward (3,035) (11,484) (3,276) 0 0 0 (17,795) 

Depreciation Charge (3,653) (1,297) (174) 0 0 0 (5,124) 

Acc. Depreciation WO to GCA 1,911 0 0 0 0 0 1,911 

Acc. Impairment WO to GCA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment Losses/(Reversals) 
recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve 

0 0 0 0 0 (758) (758) 

Impairment Losses/(Reversals) 
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on 
the Provision of Services 

0 0 0 0 0 (130) (130) 

Derecognition - Disposals 4 78 0 0 0 0 82 

Assets reclassified (to)/from 
Investment Property 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2024 (4,773) (12,703) (3,450) 0 0 (888) (21,814) 
        

Net Book Value        

At 31 March 2024 155,112 9,312 2,116 305 17 8,909 175,769 

At 31 March 2023 160,725 9,958 2,290 185 17 2,906 176,081 

 

Page 120



 

Page 69 of 155 

 

 

 

Movements to 31-Mar-23 

 L
a
n
d
 a

n
d
 

B
u
ild

in
g
s
 

V
e
h
ic

le
s
 P

la
n
t 

&
 E

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
u
rp

lu
s
 

A
s
s
e
ts

 U
n
d
e
r 

C
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
 

T
o
ta

l 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost or Valuation        

Brought forward 157,547 18,212 5,556 99 15 11,162 192,592 
 

       

Additions 2,974 3,566 9 86 0 437 7,073 

Acc Dep & Imp WO to GCA (3,212) 0 0 0 0 0 (3,212) 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve 

2,892 0 0 0 2 (75) 2,818 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on 
the Provision of Services 

(4,651) 0 0 0 0 0 (4,651) 

Derecognition - Disposals (408) (337) 0 0 0 0 (745) 

Assets reclassified (to)/from 
Investment Property 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other movements in Cost or 
Valuation 

8,619 0 0 0 0 (8,619) 0 

At 31 March 2023 163,760 21,442 5,566 185 17 2,906 193,875 
 

       

Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment 

Brought forward (2,878) (10,609) (3,101) 0 0 0 (16,588) 
 

       

Depreciation Charge (3,397) (1,212) (175) 0 0 0 (4,783) 

Acc. Depreciation WO to GCA 3,212 0 0 0 0 0 3,212 

Acc. Impairment WO to GCA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Derecognition - Disposals  27 337 0 0 0 0 364 

Assets reclassified (to)/from 
Investment Property 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other movements in Depreciation 
and Impairment 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2023 (3,035) (11,484) (3,276) 0 0 0 (17,795) 

Net Book Value        

At 31 March 2023 160,725 9,958 2,290 185 17 2,906 176,081 

At 31 March 2022 154,670 7,604 2,455 99 15 11,162 176,005 

Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluations 

Page 121



 

Page 70 of 155 

 

31-Mar-24 

Other 
Land and 
Buildings 

£'000 

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture 
Equipment 

£'000 

Infrastruc-
ture 

Assets 
£'000 

Community 
Assets 

£'000  

Surplus 
Assets 

£'000  

Assets Under 
Construction 

£'000 
Total 
£'000 

  

Carried at 
historical 
cost 

3,268 9,312 2,116 210 0 8,909 23,815 

Valued at current value as at: 

31/03/2024 70,549 0 0 95 17 0 70,661 

31/03/2023 67,811 0 0 0 0 0 67,811 

31/03/2022 10,930 0 0 0 0 0 10,930 

31/03/2021  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

31/03/2020 17 0 0 0 0 0 17 

Total Cost 
or Valuation 

152,577 9,312 2,116 305 17 8,909 173,234 

Note 15 – Investment Properties 

The following items of income and expenditure have been accounted for in the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement: 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Investment Property Income and Expenditure 31-Mar-24 
£'000 

(167) Rental income from investment property (163) 

24 Direct operating expenses from investment property 11 

(143) Net (gain)/loss (152) 

There are no restrictions on the Council’s ability to realise the value inherent in its 

investment property or on the Council’s right to the remittance of income and the proceeds 
of disposal.  

  

Page 122



 

Page 71 of 155 

 

Movement in the fair value of Investment Properties over the year 

31-Mar-23 
non-

current 
£'000 

Investment Property Movements in Year 31-Mar-24 
non-current 

£'000 

4,435 Opening Balance 4,640 

0 Additions: Purchases 0 

0 Enhancements 0 

0 Disposals 0 

205 Net gains/(losses) from fair value adjustments (367) 

0 Transfers to/(from) Property, Plant and 
Equipment 

0 

4,640 Closing Balance  4,274 

 

 

Page 123



 

Page 72 of 155 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

Details of the Council’s investment properties and surplus assets and information about the 

fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: 

Details of the Council’s investment properties and surplus assets and information about the 
fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: 

Recurring fair value 
measuring usage 

Quoted Prices in 
active markets 
for identical 
assets (Level 1) 
£'000 

Other 
significant 
observable 
inputs  
(Level 2) £'000 

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs  
(Level 3)  
 
£'000 

Fair value as at 31 
March 2023 

 
 
£'000 

Investment Properties 0 4,640 0 4,640                     

Surplus Assets 0 17 0 17 

Sub-total 0 4,657 0 4,657 
     

Residential (market 
rental) properties 

0    

Office Units 0 425 0 425 

Commercial Units 0 4,138 0 4,138 

Other 0 94 0 94 

Totals  0 4,657 0 4,657 
 

Transfers between Levels of the Fair Value Hierarchy 

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year. 

  

Recurring fair value 
measuring usage 

Quoted Prices in 
active markets 

for identical 
assets 

 (Level 1) 
£'000 

Other 
significant 
observable 

inputs  
(Level 2) 

£'000 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs  
(Level 3) 

£'000 

Fair value as at 
31 March 2024 

£'000 

Investment Properties 0 4,274 0 4,274 

Surplus Assets 0 17 0 17 

Assets Held for Sale 0 199 0 199 

Sub-total 0 4,489 0 4,489 
     

Residential (market 
rental) properties 

    

Office Units 0 378 0 378 

Commercial Units 0 4,030 0 4,030 

Other 0 82 0 82 

Totals 0 4,489 0 4,489 

Page 124



 

Page 73 of 155 

 

Valuation Techniques used to Determine Level 2 Fair Values for Investment 
Properties: 

Significant Observable Inputs – Level 2 

The fair value for the commercial properties (let at market rents) has been based on the 
market approach using current market conditions and recent sales prices and other relevant 
information for similar assets in the local authority area. Market conditions are such that 
similar properties are actively purchased and sold and the level of observable inputs are 
significant, leading to the properties being categorised at Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 

Highest and Best Use of Investment Properties 

In estimating the fair value of the authority’s investment properties, the highest and best use 
of the properties is their current use.  

Valuation Techniques 

There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year for investment 
properties. 

Valuation Process for Investment Properties and Surplus Assets 

The fair value of the Council’s investment properties and surplus assets is measured 
annually at each reporting date. All valuations are carried out externally by qualified valuers, 
in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional 
standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.  

  

Page 125



 

Page 74 of 155 

 

Note 16 – Intangible Assets 

An intangible asset is an asset that is not physical in nature. Goodwill, brand recognition 
and intellectual property, such as patents, trademarks, and copyrights, are all intangible 
assets. 

31-Mar-23  Intangible Assets 31-Mar-24 

£000 Opening Balance £000 

8,246 Gross Carrying Amount 6,801 

(5,815) Accumulated Amortisation & Impairment  (4,836) 
    

2,431 Net Carrying Amount 1,965 
    

257 Additions 334 

(118) Disposals 0 

(606) Amortisation for the Period (549) 

1,966 Net Carrying Amount at End of Year 1,750 

 Comprising:  

6,801 Gross Carrying Amount 4,651 

(4,836) Accumulated Amortisation & Impairment (2,901) 

1,965 Closing Balance 1,750 

The Council accounts for its software as intangible assets, to the extent that the software is 
not an integral part of a particular IT system and accounted for as part of the hardware item 
of property, plant and equipment. The intangible assets include both purchased licenses 
and internally generated software. All software is given a finite useful life, based on 
assessments of the period that the software is expected to be of use to the Council. The 
useful lives assigned to the major software suites used by the Council are: 

 

 

 

 

  

Useful Life (Years) Internally Generated Assets Other Assets 

1 Years None Software and Licences 

3 Years None Software and Licences 

4 Years None Software and Licences 

5 Years None Software and Licences 

Page 126



 

Page 75 of 155 

 

Note 17 – Financial Instruments 

Balance Sheet items 

The Council is obliged to analyse any Financial Instruments that it holds (whether liabilities 
such as borrowings or assets such as investments) into certain categories. 

The Investments and Debtors disclosed in the Balance Sheet, as set out below (adjusted to 
exclude statutory debtors), are all categorised as Loans and Receivables, and are carried in 
the Balance Sheet at amortised cost. 

Financial Instruments – Liabilities 

31-Mar-23 
Short term 

31-Mar-23 
Long-term 

Financial Instruments - 
Liabilities 

31-Mar-24 
Short-term 

31-Mar-24 
Long-term 

£'000 £'000 Financial Liabilities £'000 £'000 

  Loans at amortised cost:     

(22,000) (166,000)  - Principal sum borrowed (36,000) (145,000) 

(901) 0   - Accrued interest (937) 0 

(22,901) (166,000) Total Borrowing  (36,937) (145,000) 

    Liabilities at amortised cost:   

(8) (1,554)  - Finance leases 0 0 

0 (14)  - Other Liabilities 0 (14) 

(8) (1,567) Total Other Long-term Liabilities 0 (14) 

    Liabilities at amortised cost:   

(3,608) 0   - Trade payables (3,215) 0 

(2,776) 0 - Other payables (4,099) 0 

(6,384) 0 Included in Creditors  (7,314) 0 

  At amortised cost:   

(511) 0 Principal (1,408) 0 

(511) 0 
Total Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

(1,408) 0 

(29,804) (167,567) Total Financial Liabilities (45,659) (145,014) 

The total short-term borrowing includes £663k (2023: £826k) accrued interest due within 12 
months on long-term borrowing. 

The creditors lines on the Balance Sheet include £22,431k (2023: £40,658k) short-term 
creditors that do not meet the definition of a financial instrument. 

  

Page 127



 

Page 76 of 155 

 

Financial Instruments – Assets 

31-Mar-23 Financial Instruments - Assets 31-Mar-24 

Short Term Long Term 
 

Short Term Long Term 

£'000 £'000 Financial Assets £'000 £'000 

  At amortised cost:     

35,000 0   - Principal 13,000 0 

101 0   - Accrued interest 87 0 

    At fair value through profit & loss:   

0  35,649  - Fair value 0 35,649 

35,101 35,649 Total Investments  13,087 35,649 

    At amortised cost:   

0 0   - Principal 0 0 

    At fair value through profit & loss:   

8,520 0   - Fair value 8,920 0 

43 0   - Accrued interest 35 0 

8,563 0 
Total Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

8,955 0 

    At amortised cost:   

2,029     - Trade receivables 1,755  

5,327  - Other receivables 4,414  

6,190 66,194 
 - Loans made for service 
purposes 

100 66,647 

206 0  - Accrued interest 0 1 

0  (1,379)  - Loss allowance 0 (693) 

13,752 64,814 Included in Debtors  6,269 65,956 

57,416 100,464 Total Financial Assets 28,311 101,605 

The debtors lines on the Balance Sheet include £6,714k (2023: £3,809k) short-term and £7,280k 

(2023: £5,594k) long-term debtors that do not meet the definition of a financial asset. 

  

Page 128



 

Page 77 of 155 

 

Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are set off against each other where the Council has a 
legally enforceable right to set off and it intends either to settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  The table below shows those 
instruments that have been offset on the balance sheet.   

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Offsetting Financial Assets & Liabilities 31-Mar-24 
£'000 

394 Bank accounts in credit 289 

(905) Bank overdrafts (1,696) 

(511) Net position of offset accounts (1,408) 

0 Other bank accounts 0 

(511) Net position on balance sheet (1,408) 

Financial Instruments - Gains and Losses  

The gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 
relation to financial instruments consist of the following: 
 

Financial 
Liabilities 

Financial Assets 
  

   
Amortise

d Cost 

Fair 
Value 

throug
h Profit 
& Loss 

 
Amortise

d Cost 

Fair 
Value 

throug
h Profit 
& Loss 

2023/24 Total 2022/23 Total 

 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Interest expense 4,723    4,723 3,588 

Fees paid 15    15 6 

Interest payable 
and similar 
charges  

4,738    4,738 3,594 

Interest income 0  (6,606) (554) (7,160) (6,570) 

Fees 0     0 

Interest and 
investment income  

0  (6,606) (554) (7,160) 
 

(6,570) 

Net impact on 
(surplus)/deficit on 
provision of 
services 

4,738  (6,606) (554) (2,422) (2,976) 

Net (Gain)/Loss for 
the Year 

4,738  (6,606) (554) (2,422) (2,976) 

  

Page 129



 

Page 78 of 155 

 

Financial Instruments - Fair Value – Liabilities 

Balance 
Sheet 

Fair Value 

  

Balance 
Sheet 

Fair Value 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-23 

  

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-24 

£'000 £'000   Fair value 
Level 

£'000 £'000 

 Financial liabilities held at amortised cost: 

  

(166,000) (136,682) Long-term loans  2 (145,000) (114,399) 

(22,901) (22,901) Short-term loans 2 (36,937) (36,543) 

(1,562) (3,008) 
Lease payables and PFI 
liabilities 

2 
0 0 

(190,463) (162,591) Total   (181,937) (150,943) 

(6,908)    
Liabilities for which fair 
value is not disclosed 

 
(8,735)  

(197,371) (162,591) Total Financial Liabilities  (190,672) (150,943) 

    
Recorded on balance 
sheet as: 

  
  

(6,392)    Short-term creditors  (7,314)  

(22,901)   Short-term borrowing  (36,937)  

(1,567)   Long-term creditors  (14)  

(166,000)   Long-term borrowing  (145,000)  

(511)  
Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

 
(1,408)  

(197,371)   Total Financial Liabilities  (190,672)  

The fair value of short-term financial liabilities held at amortised cost, including trade payables, is 
assumed to approximate to the carrying amount. 

The fair value of financial liabilities held at amortised cost is lower than their balance sheet 
carrying amount because the authority’s portfolio of loans includes a number of loans where the 
interest rate payable is lower than the current rates available for similar loans as at the Balance 
Sheet date.  

Page 130



 

Page 79 of 155 

 

Financial Instruments - Fair Value – Assets 

Balance 
Sheet 

Fair Value 

  

Balance 
Sheet 

Fair Value 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-23 

  

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-24 

£'000 £'000 

 

Fair 
Value 
Level 

£'000 £'000 

    Financial assets held at fair value:    

8,563 8,563 Money market funds 1 8,955 8,955 

35,649 35,649 
Shares in unlisted 
companies 

3 
35,649 35,649 

  Financial assets held at amortised cost:   

35,101 34,591 Bank deposits & repos 2 13,087 11,679 

71,210 71,210 Loans to companies 3 66,055 66,055 

150,523 150,013 Total 

 

123,746 122,339 

7,356 
 Assets for which fair value 

is not disclosed  
 

6,169  

157,879 150,013 Total Financial Assets   129,916 122,339 

  Recorded on balance sheet as:   

64,814  Long-term debtors   65,956  

35,649  Long-term investments 

 

  35,649  

13,752  Short-term debtors 

 

  6,269   

35,101  Short-term investments  13,087   

8,563 
 Cash and cash 

equivalents 
  

  8,955   

157,880  Total Financial Assets     129,916   

The fair value of short-term financial assets held at amortised cost, including trade receivables, 

is assumed to approximate to the carrying amount. 

The fair value of financial assets held at amortised cost is lower than their balance sheet 
carrying amount because the interest rate on similar investments is now higher than that 
obtained when the investment was originally made.  

Page 131



 

Page 80 of 155 

 

Note 17.1 - Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments 

The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:  

Credit Risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Council 

Liquidity Risk – the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to meet its 
commitments to make payments  

Market Risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Council as a result of 
changes in such measures as interest rates and stock market movements. 

Credit Risk: Investments  

The Council manages credit risk by ensuring that investments are only placed with 
organisations of high credit quality as set out in the Treasury Management Strategy.  
These include commercial entities with a minimum long-term credit rating of A-, the UK 
government and other local authorities.  The Treasury Management Strategy also  restricts 
lending to a prudent maximum amount for each institution. 

The table below summarises the credit risk exposures of the Council’s  investment 
portfolio: 

 Long Term Credit Rating 
 

31-Mar-23 
£’000 

(Fitch) 31-Mar-24 
£’000 

3,016 AA 0 

26,051 AA- 13,087 

6,034 A+ 0 

35,101 Total 13,087 

Credit risk is not applicable to shareholdings and pooled funds where the Council has no 
contractual right to receive any sum of money.  

Credit Risk: Debtors 

The Council generally allows 30 days credit for its trade debtors. Outstanding debt overdue 
for payment can be analysed by age as follows: 

31-Mar-23 Credit Risk: Debtors 31-Mar-24 

£'000 Duration outstanding £'000 

444 One months 332 

154 Two months 251 

48 Three months 67 

1,056 More than three months 1,115 

1,703 Total 1,765 

  

Page 132



 

Page 81 of 155 

 

Credit Risk: Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees 

In furtherance of the Council’s service objectives, it has committed to lend money to the 
following organisations, should it be requested to do so: 

Organisation Total facility Balance 31 March 2024 

Graven Hill Village Development Co Ltd £69.6m £52.7m 

The Council has also provided a financial guarantee of £22.4m for Graven Hill. 
 

Liquidity Risk 

The Council manages its liquidity position through the risk management processes set out 
in its annual Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators, as well as through 
the active management of the cash flow position. This seeks to ensure that cash is available 
when it is needed.   

The Council has ready access to borrowing at favourable rates from the Public Works Loan 
Board, other local authorities, and at higher rates from banks and building societies to cover 
any short-term cash flow need. The Council is also required to provide a balanced budget 
through the Local Government Finance Act 1992, which ensures sufficient funds are raised 
to cover annual expenditure. There is therefore no significant risk that it will be unable to 
raise finance to meet its commitments. 

The maturity analysis of current loans is as follows (principal amounts only shown i.e. 
excluding accrued interest): 

31-Mar-23 Liquidity Risk 31-Mar-24 

£'000 Time to maturity £'000 

(22,074) Less than 1 year (36,274) 

(21,173) 1 – 2 years (6,001) 

(22,050) 2 – 5 years (31,145) 

(78,355) 5-10 years (68,306) 

(15,044) 10-20 years (10,005) 

(30,205) 20-30 years (30,206) 

(188,901) Total (181,937) 

Market Risk: Interest Rates 

The Council is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements on its 
borrowings and investments.  

Other than short term funds held for liquidity purpose e.g. money market funds and call 
accounts, the Council currently does not have any investments at variable rates. 

Although the Council’s borrowing is at relatively low interest rates currently, it is exposed to 
the risk that it will need to refinance some of its borrowing at higher interest rates in the 
future. 

The Council has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risks. The Treasury 
Management team, in consultation with its advisors, has an active strategy for assessing 

Page 133



 

Page 82 of 155 

 

interest rate exposure that feeds into the setting of the annual budget and which is used to 
update the forecasted out-turn during the year. This allows for any adverse changes to be 
accommodated. 

Market Risk – Other: 

Price Risk - The Council holds shares in Graven Hill Village Holdings Ltd and Crown House 
Banbury Ltd, but these are not listed and are valued at cost price.  The Council therefore 
has no exposure to loss arising from movement in the prices of shares. 

Foreign Exchange Risk - The Council has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies and as a result has no exposure to loss arising from movements in 
exchange rates. 

Note 18 – Inventories 

The table below provides details on the level of inventories balances set out in the Balance 
sheet.  

31-Mar-23 
£’000 

Inventories 31-Mar-24 
£’000 

253 Opening Balance 357 

1,086 Purchases 863 

(982) Recognised as an expense in the year (957) 

357 Closing Balance 263 

Note 19a – Short Term Debtors 

An analysis of the debtor’s balance is shown below  

31-Mar-23 
£’000 

Short Term Debtors 
31-Mar-24 

£’000 

2,029 Trade Receivables 1,755 

943 Pre-Payments 3,209 

14,588 Other Receivable Amounts 8,018 

17,561 Total Debtors 12,982 

 

 

Note 19b Short Term Debtors for Local Taxation 

The past due but not impaired amount for local taxation (council tax and non- domestic 
rates) can be analysed by age as follows;  

Page 134



 

Page 83 of 155 

 

31-Mar-23 

£’000 
Short Term Debtors for Local Taxation  

31-Mar-24 

£’000 

0 Less than three months 0 

0 Three to six months 0 

452 Six months to one year 368 

611 More than one year 472 

1,063 Total Debtors 840 

Note 20 – Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, short-term bank deposits and money 
market investments and are highly liquid. 

The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements:  

31-Mar-23 
£’000 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 31-Mar-24 
£’000 

(511) Bank Balances/(Overdraft) (1,408) 

8,563 Short Term Investments 8,955 

8,053 Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 7,548 

Note 21– Assets Held for Sale 

31-Mar-23 
£’000 

Assets held for Sale 31-Mar-24 
£’000 

 

0 Balance at start of year 0  

 Assets newly classified as held for sale:   

0 Property Plant and Equipment 199  
 

Assets Sold:   

0 Property Plant and Equipment 0  

0 Balance at year end 199  

Page 135



 

Page 84 of 155 

 

Note 22 – Short Term Creditors 

The table below provides detail on the level of creditors balances set out in the Balance 
Sheet. 

31-Mar-23 

 £’000 
Short Term Creditors 

31-Mar-24 

£’000 

(3,608) Trade Payables (3,215) 

(43,442) Other Payable Amounts (26,530) 

(47,050) Total Creditors (29,745) 

Note 23 – Provisions  

The main provisions during 2023/24 are for NNDR appeals. The council is required to set 
up a provision for the potential cost of successful appeals with the Valuation Office. 

Current Provisions 

31-Mar-24 Health Walks 
Training 

Provision 
£'000 

Graven Hill 
Deposit 

Guarantee 
£'000 

NNDR Appeals 
Provision 

£'000 

Total 
£'000 

Opening Balance (4) (37) (71) (112) 

Increase in provision during 

year 
0 0 0 0 

Utilised during the year 4 37 71 112 

Transferred from Long term 0 0 (4,193) (4,193) 

Closing Balance 0 0 (4,193) (4,193) 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Health Walks 
Training 

Provision 
£'000 

Graven Hill 
Deposit 

Guarantee 
£'000 

NNDR Appeals 
Provision 

£'000 

Total 
£'000 

Opening Balance (4) (37) (272) (314) 

Increase in provision during 

year 
0 0 0 0 

Utilised during the year 0 0 202 202 

Closing Balance (4) (37) (71) (112) 

  

Page 136



 

Page 85 of 155 

 

Long Term Provisions 

31-Mar-24 NNDR 
Appeals 

£'000 

Landlord 
Rent 

Guarantee 

£'000 

Landlord 
Rent Ex-
Charter 

£'000 

Banbury 
Bowls 

Club 

£'000 

58 Bridge 
Street - 

Repair & 
Renewals 

£'000 

Total 

£'000 

Opening Balance (7,748) (75) (18) (47) (103) (7,991) 

Increase in 
provision during 
year 

(1,641) 0 0 0 (20) (1,661) 

Utilised during year 3,676 11 0 0 0 3,688 

Transferred to short 
term 

4,193 0 0 0 0 4,193 

Closing Balance (1,519) (63) (18) (47) (123) (1,770) 

31-Mar-23 NNDR 
Appeals 

£'000 

Landlord 
Rent 

Guarantee 
£'000 

Landlord 
Rent Ex-
Charter 

£'000 

Banbury 
Bowls 

Club 
£'000 

58 Bridge 
Street - 

Repair & 
Renewals 

£'000 

Total 
£'000 

Opening Balance (8,151) (89) (18) (47) (103) (8,409) 

Increase in 
provision during 
year 

(1,864) 0 0 0 0 (1,864) 

Utilised during year 2,268 14 0 0 0 2,282 

Closing Balance         (7,748) (75) (18) (47) (103) (7,991) 

Total Provisions 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Provisions Summary 31-Mar-24 
£'000 

(8,723) Opening Balance (8,103) 

(1,864) Increase in provision during year (1,661) 

2,484 Utilised during year 3,800 

(8,103) Closing Balance (5,964) 

 

Page 137



 

Page 86 of 155 

 

Note 24 – Usable Reserves 

The Council has a number of usable reserves in the balance sheet, those that can be 
applied to fund future expenditure or reduce local taxation. The purpose of each useable 
reserve is detailed in the table below or cross referenced to supporting notes.  

31-Mar-23 
£’000 

Useable Reserves Summary 31-Mar-24 
£’000 

(6,152) General Fund (6,152) 

(23,670) Earmarked Reserves (30,876) 

0 Capital Receipts Reserve (606) 

(5,849) Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve (5,688) 

(35,671) Total (43,322) 

General Fund Reserve 

This reserve is held to mitigate the financial risks facing the Council.  The prudent level of 
general fund reserves to be held are set annually as part of the Council’s budget report.  

31-Mar-23 

£’000 
General Fund Reserve 31-Mar-24 

£’000 

(5,951) Opening Balance  (6,152) 

(201) Transfers to general reserves  0 

0 Use of general reserves in year  0 

(6,152) Closing Balance (6,152) 

 

  

Page 138



 

Page 87 of 155 

 

Earmarked Reserves 

These are reserves that have been set aside for specific purposes.  This could be for a 
particular project; for example, a ringfenced grant on which there remains an unspent 
balance at the year end or amounts which have been set aside for future use.  They are 
analysed in detail in Note 9.  

The large decrease in 2021/22 and 2022/23 relate primarily to Business Rates Section 31 
grants which were received in 2020/21 but which have been used to finance the Business 
Rates Collection Fund deficit in 2021/22 and 2022/23. 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Earmarked Reserves 31-Mar-24 
£'000 

(32,138) Opening Balance (23,670) 

(10,238) Transfers to reserves  (9,603) 

18,706 Use of reserves in year  2,396 

(23,670) Closing Balance  (30,876) 

Capital Receipts Reserve 

These are capital receipts which have been received during the year and which have then 
been used to finance capital expenditure.  The remaining balance is available for future 
capital financing. 

31-Mar-23 
£’000 

Capital Receipts Reserve 31-Mar-24 
£’000 

(100) Opening Balance  0 

(1,718) Receipts from disposal of an interest in a 
capital asset 

(606) 

(6,034) Receipts from repayments of capital 
loans made by the council 

(15,079) 

7,852 Capital Receipts used for financing  15,079 

0 Closing Balance (606) 

  

Page 139



 

Page 88 of 155 

 

Capital Grants Unapplied 

These are capital receipts which have been recognised in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement which are available for future capital financing. 

31-Mar-23 

£’000 
Capital Grants Unapplied 31-Mar-24 

£’000 

(7,949) Opening Balance  (5,849) 

(1,134) Capital grants recognised in year (324) 

3,233 Capital grants and contributions applied 486 

(5,849) Closing Balance (5,688) 

Note 25 - Unusable Reserves  

The Council has several unusable reserves in the balance sheet, those that cannot be 
applied to fund future expenditure or reduce local taxation. They are required to be held 
for statutory reasons and are needed to comply with proper accounting practice.  

The unusable reserves held by the Council are detailed in the table below. The purpose 
of each unusable reserve is detailed in the relevant section below. 

31-Mar-23 
£’000 

Unusable Reserves Summary  31-Mar-24 
£’000 

(42,084) Revaluation Reserve (41,042) 

316 Capital Adjustment Account 1,400 

31,309 Pension Reserve 15,050 

(522) Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve (114) 

(5,314) Collection Fund Adjustment Account (1,464) 

270 Accumulated Absences Account  458 

(16,026) Total (25,712) 

  

Page 140



 

Page 89 of 155 

 

Revaluation Reserve 

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases 
in the value of its Property, Plant and Equipment (and Intangible Assets). The balance is 
reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 

used in the provision of services and gains are consumed through depreciation, or 

disposed of and the gains are realised. 

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that 
the Reserve was created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into 
the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

31-Mar-23 
£’000 

Revaluation Reserve  31-Mar-24 
£’000 

 Opening Balance  

(40,218) Opening balance as restated (42,084) 

   

(7,609) Upward revaluation of assets (2,890) 

4,791 Downward revaluation of assets and impairment 
losses not charged to the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services 

2,857 

(2,818) Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-
current assets not charged to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services 

(33) 

863 Difference between fair value depreciation and 
historical cost depreciation  

1,024 

89 Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped 51 

0 Accumulated gains on Property transferred to 
Investment Property 

0 

952 Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment 
Account 

1,075 

    

(42,084) Closing Balance  (41,042) 

Capital Adjustment Account 

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing 
the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions.  

  

Page 141



 

Page 90 of 155 

 

The account is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as 
depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve 
to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  

The Account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Council as finance for the costs 
of acquisition, construction and enhancement. 

The account contains accumulated gains and losses on Investment Properties and also 
contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 
2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. 

Note 14 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the Account, apart 
from those involving the Revaluation Reserve. 

  

Page 142



 

Page 91 of 155 

 

The movements on the Capital Adjustment Account for the year are: 

31-Mar-23 Capital Adjustment Account 31-Mar-24 

£'000   £'000 

 Opening balance  

1,495 Opening balance as restated 316 

   

4,783 Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 5,254 

4,651 Revaluation losses on non-current assets 3,794 

606 Amortisation of intangible assets 549 

2,125 Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 3,472 

499 
Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the 
gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

89 

12,663 Reversal of Items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited 

to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
13,159 

(952) Adjusting Amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve (1,075) 

11,712 Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets consumed in 
the year 

12,083 

(7,852) Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure (15,079) 

(6,393) Capital Grants and Contributions credited to the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement that have been applied to capital financing 
(5,230) 

(4,869) Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged against 
the General Fund  

(4,410) 

392 Increase in expected credit losses provision for long-term loans receivable (687) 

0 Direct Revenue contributions 0 

(18,721) Capital financing applied in year: (25,406) 

    

6,034 Write down of Capital Loans repaid to the Council 15,079 

(205) Movements in the market value of Investment Properties debited or 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

367 

0 Donated assets fair value less consideration (1,039) 

316 Closing Balance  1,400 

  

Page 143



 

Page 92 of 155 

 

Pension Reserve 

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in 
accordance with statutory provisions. The Council accounts for post- employment benefits 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by 
employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, 
changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the 
costs. However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the 
Council makes employer's contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions 
for which it is directly responsible.  

The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the 
benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the Council has set aside 
to meet them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside 
by the time the benefits come to be paid. 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Pension Reserve  31-Mar-24 
£'000 

82,138 Opening Balance  31,309 

(58,146) Remeasurements of the net 
defined benefit (liability)/asset 

(12,765) 

10,182 Reversal of items relating to 

retirement benefits debited or 
credited to the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services in the 
Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement  

5,633 

(2,865) Employer's pensions contributions 

and direct payments to pensioners 
payable in the year 

(9,127) 

31,309 Closing Balance  15,050 

 

  

Page 144



 

Page 93 of 155 

 

Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 

The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the gains recognised on the disposal of non-

current assets but for which cash settlement has yet to take place. Under statutory 

arrangements the council does not treat these gains as usable for financing new capital 

expenditure until they are backed by cash receipts. When the deferred cash settlement 

eventually takes place, amounts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Deferred Capital Receipts reserve  31-Mar-24 
£'000 

(529) Opening Balance  (522) 

(296) Transfer of deferred sale proceeds credited as part 
of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure statement 

(114) 

303 Transfer to the capital receipts reserve upon 

receipt of cash 
522 

(522) Closing Balance  (114) 

Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the 

recognition of income from council tax and business rates in the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement as it falls due compared with the statutory arrangements for 

paying across amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund. 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Collection Fund 
Adjustment Account  

Business 
Rates 

 

£'000 

Business 
Rates – 

other 

£’000 

Council 
Tax 

 

£'000 

31-Mar-24 
Total 

 

£'000 

7,955 Opening Balance   (4,585) (30) (699) (5,314) 

 

(13,239) 

Amount by which income 
credited to the CIES is 
different from income 
calculated for the year in 
accordance with statutory 
requirements 

 

 

3,429 

  

 

389 

 

 

3,818 

(30) 

Other transfers to/(from) 
the General Fund in 
accordance with non-
domestic rates regulations 

  

32 

  

32 

(5,314) Closing Balance   (1,156) 2 (310) (1,464) 

Page 145



 

Page 94 of 155 

 

Accumulated Absences Account 

The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise 

on the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not 

taken in the year e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. Statutory 

arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by 

transfers to or from the Account. 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Accumulated Absences Account  31-Mar-24 
£'000 

269 Opening Balance  270 

(269) Settlement or cancellation of the accrual made at 
the end of the preceding year 

(270) 

270 Amounts accrued at the end of the year 458 

270 Closing Balance   458 

 

Note 26 - Members’ Allowances 

A detailed list of allowances paid to each member is available for examination on the 
Council's website under "Councillors – Members’ Allowances" 

The Local Councils (Members’ Allowances) Regulations 2003 requires local Councils to 
publish the amounts paid to members under the members’ allowances scheme. The 
allowances available in 2023/24 were as follows: 

31-Mar-23 

£'000 
  31-Mar-24 

£'000 

345 Allowances 349 

4 Expenses 4 

349 Total Members' Allowances 353 

  

Page 146



 

Page 95 of 155 

 

Note 27 - Officers’ Remuneration 

The Council is required, under regulation 7(2) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2003, to include in the notes to the accounts the number of employees in the accounting 
period whose remuneration was in excess of £50,000 excluding pension contributions.  

This does not include senior staff all accounted for in the table on the following page 
where they are employees of Cherwell District Council.   

  

31-Mar-23 Officers' Remuneration 31-Mar-24 

Number of 
employees 

Remuneration Band Number of employees 

16 £50,001 to £55,000 21 

10 £55,001 to £60,000 16 

6 £60,001 to £65,000 10 

1 £65,001 to £70,000 3 

1 £70,001 to £75,000 2 

0 Over £75,000 2 

34 Total 54 

Page 147



 

Page 96 of 155 

 

Note 27 Continued… The Remuneration paid to senior employees in Cherwell District Council 2023/24 is as follows: 

Post Title 

S
a
la

ry
 (

In
c
lu

d
in

g
 

F
e
e
s
 &

 
A

llo
w

a
n
c
e
s
) 

E
x
p
e
n
s
e
 

A
llo

w
a
n
c
e
s
 a

n
d
 

O
th

e
r 

E
m

o
lu

m
e
n
ts

 

C
o
m

p
e
n
s
a
ti
o
n
s
 

fo
r 

L
o
s
s
 o

f 

E
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

T
o
ta

l 

R
e
m

u
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

E
x
c
lu

d
in

g
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

T
o
ta

l 

R
e
m

u
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 p

e
n
s
io

n
 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

O
x
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

 

C
o
s
t 
to

 C
h
e
rw

e
ll 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

 

D
a
te

 i
n
 p

o
s
t 

2
0
2
3
/2

4
 

Chief Executive - Yvonne Rees 
                     

143,524  
                        

4,860  
                       

41,922  
                   

190,306  
                       

20,499  
                               

210,805  
-   

                        
210,805  

Until January 
2024 

Chief Executive & Head of Paid Services - 
Gordon Stewart 

                       
34,677  

                              
13  

-   
                     

34,691  
                         

5,514  
                                  

40,204  
-   

                          
40,204  

From January 
2024 

Corporate Director of Resources 
                     

107,725  
                        

1,378  
-   

                   
109,103  

                       
17,128  

                               
126,231  

-   
                        

126,231  
  

Corporate Director of Communities 
                     

116,480  
                            

889  
-   

                   
117,369  

                       
18,520  

                               
135,889  

-   
                        

135,889  
  

Assistant Director Customer Focus 
                       

83,975  
                            

641  
-   

                     
84,616  

                       
13,352  

                                  
97,968  

-   
                          

97,968  
  

Assistant Director Law and Governance & 
Monitoring Officer 

                       
96,441  

                        
4,055  

-   
                   

100,495  
                       

15,334  
                               

115,829  
-   

                        
115,829  

  

Assistant Director Environmental Services 
                       

88,728  
                        

1,645  
-   

                     
90,373  

                       
14,108  

                               
104,481  

-   
                        

104,481  
  

Assistant Director Planning and Development 
                       

88,728  
                            

811  
-   

                     
89,539  

                       
14,108  

                               
103,646  

-   
                        

103,646  
  

Assistant Director Growth and Economy 
                       

88,728  
                               

-    
-   

                     
88,728  

                       
14,108  

                               
102,835  

-   
                        

102,835  
  

Assistant Director Finance & S151 
                       

98,817  
                            

478  
-   

                     
99,294  

                       
15,712  

                               
115,006  

-   
                        

115,006  
  

Assistant Director Housing & Wellbeing 
                       

85,163  
                            

733  
-   

                     
85,895  

                       
13,541  

                                  
99,436  

-   
                          

99,436  
  

Assistant Director Human Resources & 
Operational Resources 

                       
75,724  

                        
1,281  

-   
                     

77,005  
                       

12,030  
                                  

89,035  
-   

                          
89,035  

  

 

Table continued on next page… 

 

P
age 148



 

Page 97 of 155 

 

Note 27 Continued… 

Post Title 

S
a
la

ry
 (

In
c
lu

d
in

g
 

F
e
e
s
 &

 
A

llo
w

a
n
c
e
s
) 

E
x
p
e
n
s
e
 

A
llo

w
a
n
c
e
s
 a

n
d
 

O
th

e
r 

E
m

o
lu

m
e
n
ts

 

C
o
m

p
e
n
s
a
ti
o
n
s
 

fo
r 

L
o
s
s
 o

f 
E

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

T
o
ta

l 
R

e
m

u
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

E
x
c
lu

d
in

g
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

T
o
ta

l 
R

e
m

u
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 p

e
n
s
io

n
 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

O
x
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

 

C
o
s
t 
to

 C
h
e
rw

e
ll 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

 

D
a
te

 i
n
 p

o
s
t 

2
0
2
3
/2

4
 

Assistant Director Property 49,652 539  50,191 7,895 58,085  58,085 
From 
September 
2023 

Head of Digital and Innovation 
                       

60,252  
-   -  

                     
60,252  

                         
9,580  

                                  
69,832  

-   
                          

69,832  
  

Head of Finance & Deputy S151 
                       

65,218  
                            

377  
-  

                     
65,595  

                       
10,370  

                                  
75,965  

- 
                          

75,965  
  

Assistant Director of Regulatory Services* -   -   -  -   -   -   
                         

6,890  
                             

6,890  
Until May 2023 

Head of Regulatory Services & Community 
Safety 

                
63,154  

                            
439  

-  
                     

63,594  
                       

10,042  
                                  

73,635  
- 

                          
73,635  

  

Total 
            

1,346,983  
                    

18,140  
                     

41,922  
               

1,407,045  
                   

211,838  
                           

1,618,884  
                        

6,890  
                    

1,625,774  
  

Cherwell District Council had one joint post under the Partnership Agreement with Oxfordshire County Council: 
* Denotes Staff employed by Oxfordshire County Council and the District Council is charged a share of salary costs 

 

 

Note 27 Continued… The Remuneration paid to senior employees in Cherwell District Council 2022/23 is as follows: 

Post Title 

S
a
la

ry
 

(I
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

F
e
e
s
 &

 
A

llo
w

a
n
c
e
s
) 

E
x
p
e
n
s
e
 

A
llo

w
a
n
c
e
s
 

a
n
d
 O

th
e
r 

E
m

o
lu

m
e
n
ts

 

C
o
m

p
e
n
s
a
ti
o
n

s
 f
o
r 

L
o
s
s
 o

f 
E

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

T
o
ta

l 
R

e
m

u
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

E
x
c
lu

d
in

g
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

T
o
ta

l 

R
e
m

u
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

p
e
n
s
io

n
 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

O
x
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

 

C
o
s
t 
to

 
C

h
e
rw

e
ll 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

 

D
a
te

 i
n
 p

o
s
t 

2
0
2
2
/2

3
 

Chief Executive - Yvonne Rees 172,108 266  -    172,373  26,830  199,203  -    199,203    

Corporate Director of Resources 
                       

76,939  
                            

691  
                                

-    
                     

77,630  
                       

12,233  
                                  

89,864  
-   

                          
89,864  

From July 2022 

P
age 149



 

Page 98 of 155 

 

Post Title 

S
a
la

ry
 

(I
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

F
e
e
s
 &

 
A

llo
w

a
n
c
e
s
) 

E
x
p
e
n
s
e
 

A
llo

w
a
n
c
e
s
 

a
n
d
 O

th
e
r 

E
m

o
lu

m
e
n
ts

 

C
o
m

p
e
n
s
a
ti
o
n

s
 f
o
r 

L
o
s
s
 o

f 
E

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

T
o
ta

l 
R

e
m

u
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

E
x
c
lu

d
in

g
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

T
o
ta

l 

R
e
m

u
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

p
e
n
s
io

n
 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

O
x
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

C
o
s
t 
to

 
C

h
e
rw

e
ll 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

D
a
te

 i
n
 p

o
s
t 

2
0
2
2
/2

3
 

Corporate Director of Communities 
                       

83,192  
                               

-    
                                

-    
                     

83,192  
                         

1,323  
                                  

84,515  
-   

                          
84,515  

From July 2022 

Corporate Director of Customers, Organisation 
Development and Resources** 

                         
2,473  

                               
-    

                                
-    

                        
2,473  

                         
1,101  

                                    
3,574  

-   
                             

3,574  
Until June 2022 

Director of Customers and Cultural Services** 
                         

8,503  
                            

285  
                                

-    
                        

8,788  
                         

4,507  
                                  

13,295  
-   

                          
13,295  

Until July 2022 

Assistant Director Customer Focus 
                       

36,942  
                               

-    
                                

-    
                     

36,942  
                         

5,874  
                                  

42,816  
-   

                          
42,816  

From October 
2022 

Assistant Director Customer Focus Interim 
                       

35,945  
                               

-    
                                

-    
                     

35,945  
                         

5,689  
                                  

41,634  
-   

                          
41,634  

May to October 
2022 

Assistant Director of Environmental Services 
                       

85,894  
                        

1,069  
                                

-    
                     

86,963  
                       

13,581  
                               

100,544  
-   

                        
100,544  

  

Assistant Director of Planning and Development 
                       

84,585  
                            

404  
                                

-    
                     

84,989  
                       

13,399  
                                  

98,388  
-   

                          
98,388  

  

Assistant Director of Growth and Economy 
                       

84,269  
                               

-    
                                

-    
                     

84,269  
                       

13,399  
                                  

97,668  
-   

                          
97,668  

  

Assistant Director of Finance S151 
                       

94,328  
                            

375  
                                

-    
                     

94,703  
                       

14,943  
                               

109,646  
-   

                        
109,646  

  

Assistant Director of Wellbeing 
                       

80,743  
                               

-    
                                

-    
                     

80,743  
                       

12,793  
                                  

93,535  
-   

                          
93,535  

  

Assistant Director of Human Resources 
                       

72,409  
                            

583  
                                

-    
                     

72,992  
                       

11,444  
                                  

84,435  
-   

                          
84,435  

Interim Apr - 
October 2022, 
permanent 
thereafter 

Head of Finance (Deputy S151) 
                         

1,508  
                               

-    
                                

-    
                        

1,508  
                             

439  
                                    

1,946  
-   

                             
1,946  

From 20th 
March 2023 

Assistant Director of Regulatory Services* 
                                

-    
                               

-    
                                

-    
                                

-    
                                

-    
                                             

-    
                       

68,785  
                          

68,785  
  

Total 
                   

919,837  
                       

3,673  
                                

-    
                   

923,510  
                   

137,553  
                           

1,061,063  
                     

68,785  
                    

1,129,848  
  

Cherwell District Council had several joint posts under the Partnership Agreement with Oxfordshire County Council: 
* Denotes Staff employed by Oxfordshire County Council and the District Council is charged a share of salary costs 
** Denotes Staff employed by Cherwell District Council and a charge is made to Oxfordshire County Council for a share of the salary costs  

P
age 150



 

Page 99 of 155 

 

Note 28 - External Audit Costs 

The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the 
Statement of Accounts, certification of grant claims and statutory inspections and 
to non-audit services provided by the Authority’s external auditors.   

The final fees payable in 2021-22 and 2022-23 are still subject to approval by the 
PSAA. 

31-Mar-23 

£'000s 

Fees 31-Mar-24 

£'000s 

143 Fees payable with regard to external 

audit services carried out by the 
appointed auditor 

149 

38 Fees payable for the certification of grant 

claims and returns 
179 

181 Total 328 

  

Page 151



 

Page 100 of 155 

 

Note 29 – Grant Income 

The Council credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 2023/24; 

Grant Income Credited to Taxation and non-specific Grant Income and 

Expenditure 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Grant Income Credited to Taxation 
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

 Revenue Grants and Contributions  

(121) Revenue Support Grant (307) 

(7,830) 
Non-Domestic Rates (incl. Section 31 
grant) 

(8,504) 

(3,462) New Homes Bonus (1,625) 

(995) Lower Tier Services Grant 0 

(241) Services Grant (154) 

0 Funding Guarantee Grant (2,839) 

(551) 
Other Revenue Grants and 
Contributions 

(154) 

 Capital Grants and Contributions  

(105) Growth Deal Funding 0 

(517) Local Authority Household Fund (1,427) 

(422) Eco Town Grant 0 

0 Longford Park Asset Donation (1,039) 

(1,476) S106 Capital Contributions (406) 

(533) Other Capital Grants and Contributions (216) 

(16,253) Total (16,671) 

 

 

  

Page 152



 

Page 101 of 155 

 

Grant Income Credited to Services 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Grant Income Credited to Services 31-Mar-24 
£'000 

(21,617) Rent Allowances Subsidy Grant (21,379) 

(289) Housing Benefit Administration Subsidy Grant (285) 

(238) NDR Cost of Collection Grant (243) 

(608) Homeless Support Grants (778) 

(619) Section 106 Developer contributions (567) 

(102) New Burdens (6) 

(186) Discretionary Housing Payments (232) 

(536) Other Grants & Contributions (957) 

(1,240) Disabled Facilities Grant* (1,348) 

(1,707) Contributions from other Local Authorities (2,463) 

(548) Home Office – Housing Refugees (741) 

(102) Covid-19 related grants (37) 

(221) Council Tax Rebate – Discretionary Scheme 0 

0 Local Authority Housing fund Round 2* (1,672) 

(28,013) Total (30,709) 

 

*These are Capital grants, however as they are being used to fund Revenue Expenditure 

Funded by Capital Under Statute (REFCUS), under the CIPFA code the grants should be 

accounted for as a revenue grant in the CIES and credited to services.  

Page 153



 

Page 102 of 155 

 

The Council has received several grants, contributions and donations that have yet 
to be recognised as income as they have conditions attached to them that could 
require the monies or property to be returned to the giver if the conditions are not 
met. The balances at the year-end are as follows: 

Grants Receipts in Advance (Revenue Grants) - Current Liabilities 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

  
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

(829) Section 106 developer contributions (1,015) 

(27) COVID-19 Grant - LRSG Closed Addendum (30) 

(2) COVID-19 Grant - LRSG Open (2) 

(72) Council Tax Rebate Grant (7) 

(276) Afghan Refugee Accommodation Programme (481) 

(367) Homes for Ukraine (726) 

(175) 
Energy Bills Support Scheme Alternative 
Funding 

0 

(567) 
Alternative Fuel Payment Scheme Alternative 
Fund 

0 

0 Asylum Dispersal Grant (266) 

(464) Other Grants and contributions (613) 

(2,780) Total (3,141) 

 

 

Grants Receipts in Advance (Capital Grants) - Current Liabilities 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

  
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

(3,005) Section 106 developer contributions (3,208) 

(165) Other Grants and Contributions (220) 

(3,170) Total (3,428) 

 

  

Page 154



 

Page 103 of 155 

 

Grants Receipts in Advance (Revenue Grants) - Long Term Liabilities 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

  
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

(5,381) 
Section 106 Developer Contributions - 
Capital 

(5,650) 

(5) Community Build Banbury (5) 

(5,386) Total (5,655) 

 

Grants Receipts in Advance (Capital Grants) - Long Term Liabilities 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

  
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

(6,370) Section 106 Developer Contributions - Capital (7,305) 

(3,484)    Eco Town Grant (3,484) 

(9,853)    Total (10,789) 

 

 

  

Page 155



 

Page 104 of 155 

 

Note 30 – Related Parties 

The Council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties; bodies or 
individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Council or to be controlled 

or influenced by the Council.  Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the 

extent to which the Council might have been constrained in its ability to operate 

independently or might have limited another party's ability to operate independently or 

bargain freely with the Council. 

Central Government 

Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the Council 
including:  

• Providing the statutory framework within which the Council operates,  

• Providing funding in the form of grants  

• Prescribing the terms of many of the transactions that the Council has with other parties 
(e.g. council tax bills, non-domestic rates and housing benefits). 

Other Public Bodies  

Payments to other Public Bodies must be disclosed to provide assurance to readers 
of these statements that any material transaction between the organisation and those 
in a position to influence its decisions is properly accounted for. 

• The Council collects and pays over precepts on behalf of Oxfordshire County 
Council, Thames Valley Police and Crime Commissioner and the Town and Parish 
Councils within the Council area.  Precepts for the County Council and Police 
Authority are shown in the Collection Fund.  Town and Parish precepts are shown 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account. 

• The Local Government Pension Scheme of which Cherwell DC is a member is 
administered by Oxfordshire County Council 

Subsidiaries and Joint Operations 

The Council has several subsidiaries, full details of which are included in the Group 
Accounts and explanatory notes. 

Crown House Banbury Limited 

A wholly owned Council subsidiary for the purpose of management of market rented 
accommodation. Councillor Simon Holland (appointed October 2017) and CDC 
Official Nicola Riley (appointed August 2021) are directors of the company.  

 

The value of loans outstanding from the council to the company as at the balance 
sheet date total £12.949m (2022/23 £12.331m). The income recognised by the council 
in relation to Crown House Banbury limited for the year was £0.624m (2022/23 
£0.588m), this related to interest on the loan and IT and project management services 
provided to the company.  

Page 156



 

Page 105 of 155 

 

 

Crown Apartments Banbury Limited 

The company is a subsidiary of Crown House Banbury Ltd which manages the 
residential property.  Councillor Simon Holland (appointed June 2018) and CDC 
Official Nicola Riley (appointed August 2021) are directors of the company. 

 

There were no transactions between the Council and Crown Apartments Banbury 
Limited in 2023/24 or 2022/23. 

 

Graven Hill Village Holdings Limited 

The company is a holding company, of which the council holds 100 per cent of the 
shares in the company. 

Councillor Simon Holland (appointed March 2023) is a director of the company. 
Previous directors in 2022/23 and 2023/24 included Councillors Daniel Sames (from 
December 2018 to November 2022) and Ian Corkin (from December 2018 to May 
2023) 

 

The value of loans outstanding from the council to the company as at the balance 
sheet date total £12.234m (2022/23 £12.234m). The income recognised by the council 
in relation to interest on the loan for the year was £1.472m (2022/23 £1.468m). In 
addition, the company paid a dividend of £0.5m (2022/23 nil) to the council. 

 

Graven Hill Village Development Company Limited 

The company is a subsidiary of Graven Hill Village Holdings Ltd.  The holding company 
holds 99 per cent of the shares and the council holds 1 per cent.  The council has 
dominant control of the company by virtue of its control of the holding company. The 
principal activity of the company during the period was that of a property development 
company. Councillor Simon Holland (appointed March 2023) is a director of the 
company. Previous directors in 2022/23 and 2023/24 included Councillors Daniel 
Sames (from July 2014 to November 2022) and Ian Corkin (from September 2015 to 
May 2023). 

 

At the balance sheet date, the outstanding amount owed to the council by the company 
was £40.427m (2022/23 £46.436m). This primarily relates to loans and a revolving 
credit facility, with a small amount in relation to IT and other support recharged to the 
company.  The income recognised by the council in relation to Graven Hill Village 
Development Company Limited for the year was £3.290m (2022/23 £2.890m). This 
relates primarily to interest on the loans, with a small amount in relation to IT and other 
support recharged to the company. 

 

 

Page 157



 

Page 106 of 155 

 

Officers 

• During 2023-24 Senior Officers of the Council made disclosures relating to their 
directorships of the Council’s wholly owned and Joint owned companies as listed 
above.  All transactions are fully compliant with the CIPFA Code and documented 
in the Group Accounts. 

 

Members  

Members of the Council have direct control over the Council’s financial and operating 
policies.  

• Members of the Council made disclosures relating to their directorships of the Council’s 
wholly owned and Joint owned companies as listed above.  All transactions are fully 
compliant with the CIPFA Code and documented in the Group Accounts.   

• One member disclosed they are a director of Bicester Vision CIC, a local not for profit 
organisation supporting local businesses and projects for the benefit of the Bicester area. 
In 2023/24 the Council paid a grant of £15,000 (2022/23 £30,000) to Bicester Vision CIC 
as part of the Bicester Vision partnership. 

• Contracts were entered into in full compliance with the Council’s Standing Orders.   

• All transactions are recorded in the Register of Members' Interests, open to public 
inspection at Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, OX15 4AA. 

 

Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the Authority  

During 2023/24 grant funding payments of £373,593 (2022/23 £379,900) were made 
to the Banbury Museum Trust. This represents a significant part of the funding for 
this organisation. 

  

Page 158



 

Page 107 of 155 

 

Note 31 – Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table 
below (including the value of assets acquired under finance leases and PFI 
contracts), together with the resources that have been used to finance it. Where 
capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets 
are used by the authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred 
historically by the authority that has yet to be financed. The CFR is analysed below. 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 31-Mar-24 
£'000 

242,058 Opening Capital Financing Requirement  238,400 
    

 Capital Investment:  

7,073 Property Plant and Equipment 8,992 

0 Investment Property 0 

257 Intangible Assets 334 

2,125 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 3,472 

0 Long Term Investments 0 

6,000 Debtors 9,000 

15,455 Total Capital Spending 21,798 
     

  Sources of Finance:  

(7,852) Capital receipts (15,079) 

(6,393) Government Grants and other contributions (5,230) 

0 Donated Assets fair value less consideration included in capital 
investment above 

(1,039) 

 Sums set aside from revenue:  

0 Direct revenue contributions 0 

(4,869) Minimum revenue Provision (4,410) 

(19,113) Total Sources of Finance (25,758) 
     

238,400 Closing Capital Financing Requirement 234,440 
     

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

  31-Mar-24 
£’000 

1,211 Increase in underlying need to borrow (unsupported by government 
financial assistance) 

450 

(4,869) Statutory provision for repayment of debt (minimum Revenue 
Provision) 

(4,410) 

 
   

(3,658) Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement (3,960) 

Page 159



 

Page 108 of 155 

 

Note 32 – Leases 

32.1 Authority as Lessee - Finance Leases 

The assets acquired under these leases are carried as Property, Plant and 
Equipment in the Balance Sheet at the following net amounts: 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

 

31-Mar-24 
£'000 

2,332 Other Land and Buildings 0 

0 Vehicles, Plant, Furniture, Equipment and 
Other 

0 

2,332 Total 0 

The minimum lease payments are made up of the following amounts: 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

 

31-Mar-24 
£'000 

  Finance lease liabilities (net present value 
of minimum lease payments): 

 

8 - current 0 

1,554 - non-current 0 

0 Finance costs payable in future years 0 

1,562 Minimum lease payments 0 

The minimum lease payments will be payable over the following periods: 

Minimum Lease 

payments  
  Finance Lease Liabilities 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

31-Mar-24 
£'000 

  
31-Mar-23 

£'000 
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

8 0 Not later than one year 231 0 

45 0 
Later than one year and not later 

than five years 
922 0 

1,509 0 Later than five years 5,626 0 

1,562 0 Total 6,779 0 

 

  

Page 160



 

Page 109 of 155 

 

32.2 Authority as Lessee - Operating Leases 

The future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable operating leases in 
future years are set out below: 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

  
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

55 Not later than one year 47 

76 
Later than one year and not later than five 
years 61 

24 Later than five years 15 

155 Total 123 

The expenditure charged to services in the CIES during the year in relation to these 

leases was: 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

  
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

51 Minimum lease payments 45 

51 Total 45 

32.3 Authority as Lessor - Finance Leases 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

  
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

  
Finance lease debtor (net present value of 
minimum lease payments): 

  

0 - current 0 

0 - non-current 0 

0 Unearned finance income 0 

0 Unguaranteed residual value of property 0 

0 Gross investment in the lease 0 

 

  

Page 161



 

Page 110 of 155 

 

The gross investment in the lease and the minimum lease payments will be received 
over the following periods: 

Gross Investment in the 

Lease 
  

Minimum Lease 

Payments 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

31-Mar-24 
£'000 

  
31-Mar-23 

£'000 
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

0 0 Not later than one year 0 0 

0 0 
Later than one year and 

not later than five years 0 0 

0 0 Later than five years 0 0 

0 0 Total 0 0 

32.4 Authority as Lessor - Operating Leases 

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in 
future years are: 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

  
31-Mar-24 

£'000 

5,312 Not later than one year 5,026 

15,424 

Later than one year and not later than five 

years 14,859 

71,145 Later than five years 69,766 

91,880 Total 89,652 

Note 33 - Impairment Losses 

The Code requires disclosure by class of assets of the amounts for impairment 
losses and impairment reversals charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services and to Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.   

During the year under review a number of assets have been professionally valued by 
external valuers as part of the Council’s five-year rolling programme of asset 
valuations. A review is also carried out by the Council to determine whether there are 
any indications of impairments or revaluation losses with regard to assets not subject 
to revaluations in the current year.   

During 2023/24 the council has recognised an impairment loss of £888k in relation to 
Town Centre House. This asset was held leasehold on a finance lease until it was 
purchased by the council during 2023/24. Following advice from CIPFA technical 

Page 162



 

Page 111 of 155 

 

experts, the difference between the amount paid for the asset and the outstanding 
lease liability was added to the net book value of the asset on the balance sheet. 
However, an impairment indicator was identified due to the recent freehold purchase 
cost being lower than carrying value of the asset. An impairment loss was therefore 
recognised to correctly reflect the historic cost of the asset in-line with the reporting 
requirements for Assets Under Construction under the CIPFA code. 

Note 34 - Termination Benefits 

The authority terminated the contracts of four employees which resulted in 
termination benefits of £83k in 2023/24.   The Figure in the financial year of 2022/23 
was £22k. 

Exit package 
cost band 
(including 
special 
payments) 

Number of compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of other 
departures agreed 

Total number of exit 
packages by cost band  

Total cost of exit 
packages in each band 

  2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 

£0-£20,000 2 2 0 1 2 3 £11,888 £21,709 

£20,001-
£60,000 1 0 1 0 2 0 £71,535 0 

Total 3 2 1 1 4 3 £83,423 £21,709 

Note 35 - Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 

35.1 Participation in Pension Schemes 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Authority makes 
contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits 
will not actually be payable until employees retire, the Authority has a commitment to 
make the payments (for those benefits) and to disclose them at the time that 
employees earn their future entitlement.   

The Cherwell District Council pension scheme is operated under the regulatory 
framework for the Local Government Pension Scheme and the governance of the 
scheme is the responsibility of Oxfordshire County Council. Policy is determined in 
accordance with the Pensions Fund Regulations. 

The principal risks to the authority of the scheme are the longevity assumptions, 
statutory changes to the scheme, and structural changes to the scheme (i.e. large-
scale withdrawals from the scheme), changes to inflation, bond yields and the 
performance of the equity investments held by the scheme. These are mitigated to a 
certain extent by the statutory requirements to charge to the General Fund the 
amounts required by statute as described in the accounting policies note. 

35.2 Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits 

Page 163



 

Page 112 of 155 

 

We recognise the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when 
they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as 
pensions. However, the charge we are required to make against council tax is based 
on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of post- employment/retirement 
benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 

The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and the General Fund Balance via the Movement in 
Reserves Statement during the year; 

31-Mar-23 

 

31-Mar-24  

£’000 Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure 
Statement 

£’000 

 Cost of Services: 
 

7,783 Current Service Cost 3,906 

0 Past Service Cost/(Gain) – Including Curtailments 91 

116 Administration Expense 131 

 Financing and Investment (Income) and 
Expenditure: 

 

2,283 Net Interest Expense 1,505 

10,182 Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to the 
(Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 

5,633 

   

 Other Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure:  

8,885 Return on Plan Assets (excluding amounts included in 
net interest expense) 

(9,401) 

(1,346) Actuarial (Gains) & Losses Arising on Changes in 
Demographic Assumptions 

(924) 

(78,439) Actuarial (Gains) & Losses Arising on Changes in 
Financial Assumptions 

(7,726) 

12,754 Experience (Gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation 5,286 

0 Other actuarial (Gains) & Losses on assets 0 

 Post-Employment Benefit Charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

(12,765) 
(58,146)  

   

 Movement in Reserves Statement  

(10,182) Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit 
for the Provision of Services for Post-employment 
Benefits in accordance with the Code 

(5,633) 

 

2,865 Employer’s Contributions Payable to the Pension 
Scheme 

9,127 

(7,317) Total 3,494 

  

Page 164



 

Page 113 of 155 

 

35.3 Pension Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance 
Sheet 

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Council’s obligation in 
respect of its defined benefit plan is as follows: 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Pension Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the 
Balance Sheet 

31-Mar-24 
£'000 

(163,942) Present value of the defined benefit obligation (166,369) 

132,633 Fair value of plan assets 151,319 

(31,309) Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation (15,050) 

35.4 Assets and Liabilities in relation to Retirement Benefits 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

 31-Mar-24 
£'000 

 Reconciliation of Present Value of Scheme Liabilities  

(221,696) Liabilities as of the Beginning of the Period (163,942) 

(7,899) Current Service Cost (4,037) 

(6,025) Interest Cost (7,741) 

(1,136) Contributions by Scheme Participants (1,287) 

78,439 Change in financial assumptions 7,726 

1,346 Change in demographic assumptions 924 

(12,754) Experience (Losses)/Gains on defined benefit obligation (5,286) 

0 Losses on Curtailments 0 

5,783 Benefits Paid 7,365 

0 Past Service Costs (91) 

(163,942) Liabilities as of the End of the Period (166,369) 
   

 Reconciliation of Fair Value of Scheme Assets  

139,558 Assets as of the Beginning of the Period 132,633 

3,742 Interest on Assets 6,236 

(8,885) Return on assets less interest 9,401 

0 Other Experience (Losses)/Gains 0 

2,865 Employer Contributions 9,127 

1,136 Contributions by Scheme Participants 1,287 

(5,783) Benefits Paid (7,365) 

132,633 Assets as of the End of the Period 151,319 

  

Page 165



 

Page 114 of 155 

 

Impact on the Council’s cash Flow 

The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the authority has in the long run 
to pay post-employment (retirement) benefits. The total liability of £166m has a 
substantial impact on the net worth of the authority as recorded in the Balance 
Sheet, resulting in a negative overall balance relating to pensions of £14m (see also 
Note 25: Pension Reserve).  

However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial 
position of the authority remains healthy: 

the deficit on the local government scheme will be made good by increased 
contributions over the remaining working life of employees (i.e. before 
payments fall due), as assessed by the scheme actuary, 

finance is only required to be raised to cover discretionary benefits when the 
pensions are actually paid. 

The total contributions expected to be made to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme by the authority in the year to 31 March 2025 is £2.985m. 

The weighted average time until payment of all expected future cashflows is 17 
years.  

Sensitivity Analysis 

Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis, with the last triennial review and 
valuation completed at 31 March 2022. The fund liability may go up and down 
depending on assumptions applied. 

Measurement of Pension Liability 

The present value of the pension liability depends on a number of factors that are 
determined on an actuarial basis and the value of the underlying assets. The actual 
liability of the Council will continue to be subject to volatility, as a result of a number 
of factors. 

The estimated effects of the changes in the key individual assumptions in 
determining the net pension liability would increase the Council’s pension liability as 
of 31 March 2023 as follows: 

31-Mar-23 

£'000 

 Sensitivity analysis 31-Mar-24 

£'000 

2,703 0.1% per cent decrease in the real discount rate 2,811 

254 0.1% per cent increase in the salary increase rate 241 

2,490 0.1% per cent increase in the pension increase rate 2,620 

6,558 1-year increase in member life expectancy 6,655 

The above table presents the changes in key assumptions in isolation. The information 
is only indicative of the estimated impact as the assumptions interact in complex 
ways. 

Page 166



 

Page 115 of 155 

 

35.5 Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 
method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent 
on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, etc. Both the Local Government 
Pension Scheme and Discretionary Benefits liabilities have been assessed by 
Hymans Robertson LLP, an independent firm of actuaries, estimates for Oxfordshire 
County Council Pension Fund being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme 

as at 31 March 2022. 

The principal assumptions used by the actuary in the calculations are: 

31-Mar-23 
per cent 

Principal Assumptions    31-Mar-24 
per cent 

3.30 Rate of inflation: RPI 3.20 

3.00 Rate of inflation: CPI 2.80 

3.00 Rate of increase in salaries 2.80 

3.00 Rate of increase in pensions 2.80 

4.75 Rate of discounting scheme liabilities 4.80 

These assumptions are set with reference to market conditions as at 31 March 2024. 
The estimated duration of Employer’s pension liabilities to employees is 17 years. 

The discount rate is the annualised yield at the 17-year point on the iBoxx AA-rated 
corporate bond yield curve which has been chosen to meet the requirements of 
IAS19 and with consideration of the duration of the Employer’s liabilities. 

The Retail Prices Index (RPI) increase assumption is set based on the difference 
between conventional gilt yields and index-linked gilt yields at the accounting date 
using data published by the Bank of England (BoE), specifically the 17 year point on 
the BoE market implied inflation curve. 

Future pension increases are expected to be based on the Consumer Prices Index 
(CPI) rather than RPI.  Salaries are assumed to increase by CPI only. 

31-Mar-23  31-Mar-24 

Years Mortality Assumptions Years 

 Longevity at 65 for current pensioners  

22.2 Men 22.0 

24.8 Women 24.6 

 Longevity at 65 for future pensioners  

22.4 Men 22.2 

26.1 Women 25.8 

  

Page 167



 

Page 116 of 155 

 

The following assumptions have been made: 

Members will elect to take 50 per cent of their commutable pension for cash at 
retirement. 

Members will retire at one retirement age for all tranches of benefit, which will 
be the pension weighted average tranche retirement age. 

Members opted-in to the 50:50 section at the previous valuation date will 
continue in this section. 

The Local Government Pension Scheme’s estimated asset allocation for Cherwell 
District Council consists of the following categories, by proportion of the total assets 
held: 

31-Mar-23 

per cent 

Estimated Asset Allocation 31-Mar-24 

per cent 

0 Equity Securities 0 

2 Debt Securities 2 

5 Private Equity 5 

0 Real Estate 0 

91 Investment Funds and Unit Trusts 91 

0 Derivatives 0 

2 Cash & Cash Equivalents 2 

100 Total 100 

35.6 Other factors arising from recent court cases 

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) Indexation 
The 2022 formal funding valuation included an allowance for full GMP equalisation / 
indexation within the LGPS.  The rolled forward position to 31 March 2024 therefore 
includes this allowance.  
The further ruling in respect of historical transfers is unlikely to be significant in terms 
of impact on the pension obligations of a typical Employer, and as a result no 
allowance has been made for this 

McCloud - An allowance was added to the 2022 valuation results, so the impact is 
continued to be included within the balance sheet at 31 March 2024 

Goodwin - Whilst there is still uncertainty surrounding the potential remedy to this 
judgement, the actuary has carried out some approximate analysis across their 
LGPS clients to understand the potential impact of implementing a solution to correct 
the past underpayment of spouses’ benefits. The approximate impact of this is very 
small for a typical Fund (circa 1% of obligations), and therefore there are not 
sufficient grounds to apply an additional adjustment to account for this. 

  

Page 168



 

Page 117 of 155 

 

Note 36 - Contingent Liabilities 

Oxfordshire County Council Bond 

Cherwell District Council issued a Bond to the sum of £22m to Oxfordshire County 
Council in December 2019 on behalf of its wholly owned subsidiary, Graven Hill 
Village Development Company Ltd (GHVDC), relating to GHVDC’s obligations under 
the Section 106 Agreement for payment of contributions and direct delivery of a 
primary school. The Primary School achieved practical completion on 07th 
September 2023 and has been transferred to the County Council. Graven Hill 
requested that the Bond be reduced, and this was agreed by Oxfordshire County 
Council shortly after the year end date, reducing the amount to £988k as at 24 April 
2024.   
 

In August 2021 another Bond was issued under the Section 278 Agreement for the 
A41 roundabout for the sum of £2.12m. In August 2023 the bond was reduced by 80%, 
to £0.42m, as the highway works have been substantially completed and the 
Certificate of Completion issued.   
The total Bond sum Cherwell District Council has issued to Oxfordshire County 
Council on behalf of its wholly owned subsidiary, Graven Hill Village Development 
Company Ltd (GHVDC), relating to GHVDC’s obligations is £22.42m.   

Note 37 - Contingent Assets 

The Council has no contingent assets at 31 March 2024. 

Page 169



 

Page 118 of 155 

 

Collection Fund Accounts 
31-Mar-2023   31-Mar-2024 

Business 
Rates 

Council 
Tax 

Total Collection Fund Business 
Rates 

Council 
Tax 

Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 Income:  £'000 £'000 £'000 

 (125,430) (125,430) Council Tax Receivable  (133,792) (133,792) 

(93,244)  (93,244) Business Rates Receivable (100,278)  (100,278) 

   Transitional Protection Payments Receivable (4,692)  (4,692) 

(93,244) (125,430) (218,674) Total Income (104,970) (133,792) (238,762) 

   Expenditure:    

   Contribution to Previous Year's estimated 
Surplus/Deficit: 

   

(13,098)  (13,098) Central Government 7,493  7,493 

(10,479) 360 (10,119) Cherwell District Council 5,994 650 6,644 

(2,620) 2,393 (227) Oxfordshire County Council 1,499 4,386 5,884 

 352 352 Thames Valley Police and Crime 
Commissioner 

 642 642 

   Precepts, demands and shares:    

43,093  43,093 Central Government 51,338  51,338 

34,474 13,914 48,388 Cherwell District Council 41,070 14,682 55,752 

8,619 93,814 102,433 Oxfordshire County Council 10,268 100,893 111,161 

0 13,705 13,705 Thames Valley Police and Crime 
Commissioner 

 14,911 14,911 

   Charges to Collection Fund:    

687  687 Transitional Protection Payments Payable    

0 16 16 Write-offs of uncollectable amounts    

   Interest payments on refunds 97  97 

480 (73) 406 Increase/(decrease) in allowance for 
impairment 

249 982 1,230 

(1,515)  (1,515) Increase/(decrease) in allowance for appeals 
and interest 

(5,265)  (5,265) 

238  238 Charge to General Fund for allowable 
collection costs for non-domestic rates 

243  243 

   Other transfers to General Fund in 
accordance with non-domestic rates 
regulations 

   

518   518 Renewable Energy 560  560 

60,397 124,480 184,876 Total Expenditure 113,544 137,146 250,689 

        

(32,848) (950) (33,798) Movement on Fund Balance 8,574 3,353 11,927 

21,384 (5,164) 16,220 Balance at the beginning of the Year (11,464) (6,114) (17,578) 

(11,464) (6,114) (17,578) Balance at the end of the Year (2,890) (2,761) (5,651) 

   Shares of Balance    

(5,732)  (5,732) Central Government (1,445)  (1,445) 

(4,586) (699) (5,285) Cherwell District Council (1,156) (310) (1,466) 

(1,146) (4,723) (5,870) Oxfordshire County Council (289) (2,135) (2,424) 

0 (692) (692) Thames Valley Police and Crime 
Commissioner  (316) (316) 

(11,464) (6,114) (17,578) Total  (2,890) (2,761) (5,651) 

Page 170



 

Page 119 of 155 

 

Notes (1 – 4) to the Collection Fund 

Note 1. General 

This account represents the statutory requirement for billing authorities to maintain a 
separate Collection Fund, which shows the transactions of the billing authority in 
relation to Non-Domestic Rates, council tax and the distribution to the major 
preceptors and the General Fund. The account is consolidated with other accounts 
of the Council. 

In 2013/14 there was a change to the method for distributing and accounting for 
business rates income. Prior to 1 April 2013 Non-Domestic Rates were collected by 
the Council and then completely paid over to the Government, who then redistributed 
these sums across the country in the form of the Non-Domestic rates grant.  

From 1 April 2013 Business Rates Retention applies, whereby local authorities 
Cherwell District Council (40 per cent) and Oxfordshire County Council (10 per cent) 
retain 50 per cent of the business rates collected for the area and pay the remaining 
50 per cent to central government. In addition, the government has set a level of 
business rates funding deemed to be applicable to each area and every Council 
receives a top-up (if business rates collected are below this deemed level of funding) 
or pays a tariff (if business rates collected are above this deemed level of funding). 

With the introduction of business rates retention if a local authority increases its 
business rates base, and thereby increases its business rate income, it is allowed to 
retain a proportion of this increased income, whilst paying up to a maximum of 50 
percent across to central government. This payment where it occurs is known as a 
levy payment. However, as Cherwell District Council is part of a business rates pool, 
the levy is distributed to the members as per the pooling arrangements with 0.72 per 
cent paid to central government as a levy payment. 

Note 2. Business Rates 

Business Rates is a local tax that is paid by the occupiers of all non-
domestic/business property.  

Business rates are calculated and collected by the Council. The Government 
specifies an amount (51.2p in 2023/24; 49.9p for small businesses) and, subject to 
the effects of transitional arrangements, local businesses pay NNDR calculated by 
multiplying their rateable value by that amount. The income raised in Cherwell is 
distributed between Cherwell District Council, Oxfordshire County Council and 
Central Government in line with the distribution rules set out in Business Rates 
legislation. 

NNDR income was £104.4m in 2023/24. The rateable value for the Council’s area 
was £264.6m at 31 March 2024 VOA valuation (2022/23: £236.5m).  

  

Page 171



 

Page 120 of 155 

 

Note 3.  Provision for Un-collectable Amounts 

Provision has been made within the accounts for un-collectable amounts based on 
guidelines. At the end of 2023/24 the accumulated provision for bad debts stood at 
£3.419m (£4.345m for 2022/23) made up as follows: 

31-Mar-23 
£'000 

Provision for Uncollectable Amounts 

 

31-Mar-24 
£'000 

2,261 Non-Domestic Rates  
 

1,484 

2,084 Council Tax 
 

1,935 

4,345 Total Provision   3,419 

Note 4.  Council Tax Base 

The Council tax Base, for tax setting purposes, is calculated by reference to the 
number of chargeable dwellings in each valuation band, adjusted for dwellings where 
discounts apply, and adjustments made for exempt properties and anticipated 
amendments.  This is then converted to an equivalent number of band D dwellings 
which is the amount the authority estimates would be collected if a tax of £1 is set.   

The figures for 2023/24 are: 

Band Estimated equivalent no. 
of taxable properties 
after effect of discounts 

Ratio 
 

Band D Equivalent Dwellings 

A 4,131 6/9ths 

  

2,753 

B 12,666 7/9ths 

  

9,851 

C 16,322 8/9ths 

  

14,508 

D 11,010 9/9ths 

  

11,010 

E 8,324 11/9ths 

  

10,174 

F 4,084 13/9ths 

  

5,899 

G 2,672 15/9ths 

  

4,453 

H 240 18/9ths     480 

Totals 59,449 

 

 59,129 

Adjustment for non-collection (-2.0 per cent) 

  

(1,182) 

Contribution from MOD Properties 

   

237 

Council Tax Base 2023/24       58,184 

Council Tax Base 2022/23    56,802 

Page 172



 

Page 121 of 155 

 

The Council tax payable at each band is shown below. This does not include 
parishes. 

Band Multiplier Cherwell 
Council 

Oxfordshire 
County 
Council 

Thames Valley 
Police and 
Crime 
Commissioner 

Total 

£s 

A 6/9ths 99.00 1,156.02 170.85 1,425.87 

B 7/9ths 115.50 1,348.69 199.33 1,663.52 

C 8/9ths 132.00 1,541.36 227.80 1,901.16 

D 9/9ths 148.50 1,734.03 256.28 2,138.81 

E 11/9ths 181.50 2,119.37 313.23 2,614.10 

F 13/9ths 214.50 2,504.71 370.18 3,089.39 

G 15/9ths 247.50 2,890.05 427.13 3,564.68 

H 18/9ths 297.00 3,468.06 512.56 4,277.62 

  

Page 173



 

Page 122 of 155 

 

Group Accounts and Explanatory Notes  

Introduction 

The purpose of the Group Accounts is to provide a picture of Cherwell District 
Council’s and the group of companies and other entities, which are either controlled 
or are significantly influenced by the Council.  The Group Accounts show the full 
extent of the Authority’s wider assets and liabilities.  While the Group Accounts are 
not the primary statement, they provide transparency and enable comparison with 
other entities that have different corporate entities. 

The Group Accounts include the following: 

• Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – summarises the 
resources that have been generated and consumed in providing services and 
managing the Group during the year.  It includes all day-to-day expenses and 
related income on an accruals basis. 

• Group Movement in Reserves – shows the movement in the year on the 
Council’s single entity usable and unusable reserves together with the 
Council’s share of the Group expenses. 

• Group Balance Sheet – reports the Council Group financial position at the 
year-end. 

• Group Cash Flow Statement – shows the changes in cash and cash 
equivalents of the Group during the year.  The statement shows how the 
Group generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying 
cashflows as operating, financing and investing activities. 

• Notes to the Group Accounts where the balances are materially different to 
those in the single entity accounts. 

Results of the Subsidiaries 

The following notes provide additional details about the Authority’s involvement in 
the entities consolidated to form the group accounts. 

During 2021/22 CSN Resources Ltd., which had previously been consolidated in the 
group accounts, entered voluntary liquidation. As a result, the company has not been 
consolidated in the group accounts as the company’s accounts made up to the 
liquidation date are not material to the group. As at the publication date, the 
company is still going through the liquidation process. 

  

Page 174



 

Page 123 of 155 

 

Graven Hill Village Holdings Ltd 

The company is a holding company, of which the council holds 100 per cent of the 
shares in the company.  The council has dominant control of the company by virtue 
of guaranteed majority voting rights on the board.  The board consists of Councillors 
and officers who are appointed by the council.  It is intended that the company will 
continue as a holding company for the foreseeable future.  The company borrows 
from the Council and onward lends funds to its subsidiary company, Graven Hill 
Village Development Company Ltd.     

For 2023/24, the company’s results showed a profit of £0.982m (£0.027m loss in 
2022/23), and net assets of £34.793m (2022/23: £34.311m).  Loans outstanding 
owed to the group total £12.234m (2022/23: £12.234m).   

A full copy of the company’s accounts can be obtained from the Directors, Graven 
Hill Village Holding Company Ltd, Graven Hill Site Office, Building E25, Graven Hill 
Road, Bicester, OX25 2BF. 

Graven Hill Village Development Company Ltd 

The company is a subsidiary of Graven Hill Village Holdings Ltd.  The holding 
company holds 99 per cent of the shares and the council holds 1 per cent.  The 
council has dominant control of the company by virtue of its control of the holding 
company.  The board consists of Councillors, Officers and appropriately experienced 
non-executive directors.  The principal activity of the company during the period was 
that of a property development company.  The development company has a 
subsidiary, Graven Hill Village Management Company Ltd, for residents’ property 
management. 

For 2023/24, the company’s results showed a surplus of £4.412m (2022/23: 
£4.068m), and net assets of £44.480m (2022/23: £41.068m).  Loans outstanding 
from the group to the company total £52.648m (2022/23 £58.851m). 

A full copy of the company’s accounts can be obtained from the Directors, Graven 
Hill Village Development Company Ltd, Graven Hill Site Office, Building E25, Graven 
Hill Road, Bicester, OX25 2BF. 

Graven Hill Management Company Ltd 

Graven Hill Village Management Company Ltd is a subsidiary of Graven Hill Village 
Development Company which manages the property retained within the group.  The 
company was dormant for 2022/23 and 2023/24, and as such there was no activity 
for the company in this financial year. 

Graven Hill Management Company Block E Ltd 

Graven Hill Village Management Company Block E is a subsidiary of Graven Hill 
Village Development Company which manages the property at the Block E 
apartments.  The only activity for the company in this financial year relates to 
administrative expenses resulting in a surplus for the year of £0.062m (2022/23: loss 
of £0.057m) and net liability of £0.071m (2022/23: £0.133m). 

 

Page 175



 

Page 124 of 155 

 

Graven Hill Management Company Block C Ltd 

Graven Hill Village Management Company Block C is a subsidiary of Graven Hill 
Village Development Company which manages the property at the Block C 
apartments.  The only activity for the company in this financial year relates to 
administrative expenses resulting in a loss for the year of £0.005m and net liability of 
£0.005m. In 2022/23 the company was dormant and so the corresponding figures 
are nil. 

Crown House Banbury Ltd 

The company was purchased in Aug 2017.  The principal activity of the company 
during the period was the management of market rented accommodation.  The 
council holds 100 per cent of the shares in the company.  The council has dominant 
control of the company by virtue of guaranteed majority voting rights on the board.  
The board consists of Councillors and Officers who are appointed by the council.   

For 2023/24, the company’s results showed a loss of £0.526m (2022/23: £2.266m), 
and net liabilities of £6.678m (2022/23: £6.152m).  The value of loans outstanding 
from the council calculated using the Effective Interest Rate method total £12.949m 
(2022/23: £12.331m). 

A full copy of the company’s accounts can be obtained from the Directors, Crown 
House Banbury Ltd, Bodicote House, White Post Lane, Bodicote OX15 4AA. 

Crown Apartments Banbury Ltd  

The company is a subsidiary of Crown House Banbury Ltd which manages the 
residential property.  For 2023/24, the company’s results showed a profit of £0.005m 
(2022/23 profit of £0.061m) and net assets of £0.031m (2022/23 £0.026m). 

Summary of Group 

Company Name Date of Incorporation / 
Acquisition 

Graven Hill Village Holdings Ltd 25 Jun 2014 

Graven Hill Village Development Company Ltd 25 Jun 2014 

Crown House Banbury Ltd 4 Aug 2017 

Graven Hill Village Management Company Ltd 26 Feb 2018 

Crown Apartments Banbury Ltd 7 Jun 2018 

Graven Hill Village Management Company Block E 3 Oct 2018 

Graven Hill Village Management Company Block C 9 Dec 2021 

 

Page 176



 

Page 125 of 155 

 

Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

Year Ending 31 Mar 23  Directorates Year Ending 31 Mar 24 

Expenditure Income Net   Expenditure Income Net 

£'000 £'000 £'000   £'000 £'000 £'000 

35,914 (30,733) 5,181 Chief Executive 72,965 (73,173) (208) 

24,322 (11,168) 13,154 Communities 23,801 (9,326) 14,476 

46,203 (31,275) 14,928 Resources 40,417 (32,236) 8,181 

106,439 (73,175) 33,264 Cost of Services 137,183 (114,734) 22,449 

5,763 (1,212) 4,551 Other Operating Expenditure 6,042 (109) 5,933 

6,411 (2,714) 3,697 Financing and Investment (Income) and 

Expenditure 
8,791 (4,161) 4,629 

0 (36,135) (36,135) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant (Income) 0 (40,551) (40,551) 

118,613 (113,237) 5,376 (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of 
Services 

152,015 (159,556) (7,539) 

        

  (2,818) (Surplus) or deficit on revaluation of 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
  (33) 

  (58,146) Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 

liability / (asset) 
  (12,765) 

  (60,964) Other Comprehensive (Income) and 
Expenditure 

  (12,798) 

        

  (55,588) Total Comprehensive (Income) and 
Expenditure 

  (20,337) 

P
age 177



 

Page 126 of 155 

 

Group Movement in Reserves Statement 

 23/24 
General 

Fund 
Balance 

Earmarked 
General 

Fund 
Reserves 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Receipts  

Un-
applied 

Account 

Total 
Usable 

Reserves 

Unusable 
Reserves 

Total 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Opening Balance at 
1 April 2023 

7,428 (23,671) 0 (5,509) (21,752) (17,292) (39,044) 

Movement in Reserves during 2023/24 

Surplus or deficit on 
the provision of 
services 

(7,539) 0 0 0 (7,539) 0 (7,539) 

Other Comprehensive 
Income / Expenditure 

0 0 0 0 0 (12,798) (12,798) 

Total 
Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

(7,539) 0 0 0 (7,539) (12,798) (20,337) 

Adjustments between 
accounting basis and 
funding basis under 
regulations 

(3,343) 0 (606) 162 (3,787) 3,787 0 

Net Increase or 
Decrease before 
Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 

(10,882) 0 (606) 162 (11,326) (9,011) (20,337) 

Transfers to / from 
Earmarked Reserves 

7,206 (7,206) 0 0 0 0 0 

(Increase) or 
Decrease in 2023/24 

(3,676) (7,206) (606) 162 (11,326) (9,011) (20,337) 

Closing Balance at 
31 March 2024 

3,752 (30,877) (606) (5,347) (33,078) (26,303) (59,381) 

  

Page 178



 

Page 127 of 155 

 

 22/23 
General 

Fund 
Balance 

Earmarked 
General 

Fund 
Reserves 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Receipts  

Un-
applied 

Account 

Total 
Usable 

Reserves 

Unusable 
Reserves 

Total 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Opening Balance at 
1 April 2022 

6,518 (32,139) (100) (7,948) (33,669) 50,212 16,543 

Movement in Reserves during 2022/23 

Surplus or deficit on 
the provision of 
services 

5,376 0 0 0 5,376 0 5,376 

Other Comprehensive 
Income / Expenditure 

0 0 0 0 0 (60,964) (60,964) 

Total 
Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

5,376 0 0 0 5,376 (60,964) (55,588) 

Adjustments between 
accounting basis and 
funding basis under 
regulations 

4,002 0 100 2,439 6,541 (6,541) 0 

Net Increase or 
Decrease before 
Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 

9,378 0 100 2,439 11,917 (67,505) (55,588) 

Transfers to / from 
Earmarked Reserves 

(8,468) 8,468 0 0 0 0 0 

(Increase) or 
Decrease in 2022/23 

910 8,468 100 2,439 11,917 (67,505) (55,588) 

Closing Balance at 
31 March 2023 

7,428 (23,671) 0 (5,509) (21,752) (17,292) (39,044) 

  

Page 179



 

Page 128 of 155 

 

Group Balance Sheet 

31 March 
2023 
£000   

31 March 2024 
£000 

183,763 Property, Plant & Equipment 180,836 

4,640 Investment Property 4,274 

1,965 Intangible Assets 1,750 

1,110 Long Term Investments 1,111 

6,473 Long Term Debtors 8,231 

197,951 Long Term Assets 196,201 
    

35,101 Short Term Investments 13,087 

90,762 Inventories 67,295 

12,781 Short Term Debtors 13,183 

16,195 Cash and Cash Equivalents  33,886 

0 Assets held for sale 199 

154,839 Current Assets 127,651 
    

(22,901) Short Term Borrowing (36,937) 

(59,203) Short Term Creditors (37,038) 

(75) Provisions (4,193) 

(2,776) Grants Receipts in Advance - Revenue (3,132) 

(3,170) Grants Receipts in Advance - Capital (3,428) 

(511) Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,408) 

(88,635) Current Liabilities (86,135) 
    

(7,991) Provisions (1,770) 

(166,000) Long Term Borrowing (145,000) 

(31,309) Pension Liability (15,050) 

(2,707) Long Term Creditors (71) 

(5,386) Grants Receipts in Advance - Revenue (5,655) 

(9,853) Grants Receipts in Advance - Capital (10,789) 

(223,246) Long Term Liabilities (178,335) 
    

40,910 Net Assets / (Liabilities) 59,381 
    

(23,619) Useable Reserves (33,078) 

(17,292) Unusable Reserves (26,303) 

(40,910) Total Reserves (59,381) 

  

Page 180



 

Page 129 of 155 

 

Group Cash Flow Statement 

2022/23 
£’000 

  Note(s) 
2023/24 

£’000 

  Cash Flows from Operating Activities     

675 Net (Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services   (7,539) 
      

(4,789) Depreciation & Impairment 14 (5,127) 

(4,651) Changes in Market Value of Property, Plant & Equipment 14 (3,794) 

(606) Amortisation of Intangible Assets 16 (549) 

205 Changes in Fair Value of Investment Properties 15 (367) 

(679) Disposal of Assets 14, 15 & 16 (89) 

0 Impairment of assets 14 (130) 

22,084 Changes in Inventory 18 (23,467) 

(1,525) Changes in Short Term Debtors (decrease) 19 450 

(11,639) Changes in Short Term Creditors (increase) 22 22,189 

620 Changes in Provisions (increase) 23 2,102 

50,829 Changes in Net Pension Liability (decrease) 37 16,259 

(58,146) Remeasurement of Net Defined Benefit Liability 37 (12,765) 

(1,694) Changes in Long Term Creditors (increase) 17 2,635 

774 Changes in Long Term Debtors (decrease) 17 1,757 

4,293 Capital Grants Recognised 31 6,108 

1,717 Proceeds on Disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment 24 606 

(2,533) Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities   (1,721) 
      

 Cash Flows from Investing Activities    

7,073 Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment 14 8,181 

0 Purchase of Investment Property 15 0 

257 Purchase of Intangible Assets 16 334 

(1,717) Proceeds from the Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 24 (606) 

(11,153) Net Changes in Short Term and Long Term Investments (decrease) 17 (22,014) 

(5,540) Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities   (14,104) 
      

 Cash Flows from Financing Activities    

17,801 Changes in Grants and Contributions 29 (1,824) 

0 Issued share capital   0 

(4,293) Capital Grants and Contributions Recognised 29 (6,108) 

10,704 Cash Receipts of Short Term and Long Term Borrowing 17 6,964 

24,212 Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities   (968) 
      

16,139 Net (Increase)/Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Period   (16,794) 
      

31,824 Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Period   15,684 
      

15,685 Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Period   32,478 

  

Page 181



 

Page 130 of 155 

 

Notes to the Group Accounts 

Note 1 Accounting Policies of for the Group 

The Group Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24, issued 
by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). 

The Council has consolidated its interests in all the entities over which it 
exercises control or significant influence.  The Graven Hill companies and 
Crown House companies have been consolidated because together they are 
material to the Council’s balance sheet. 

Where group entities use different accounting policies to the Council, their 
accounts have been restated to re-align their accounting policies with those of 
the Council where the effect of not doing so would be material to the reader’s 
interpretation of the accounts. 

Intra-group transactions have been eliminated before consolidation on a line by 
line basis. 

  

Page 182



 

Page 131 of 155 

 

Note 2 Group Property Plant and Equipment 

 Movements to 31 March 2023 

L
a
n

d
 a

n
d

 B
u

il
d

in
g

s
  

V
e
h

ic
le

s
 P

la
n

t 
&

 
E

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

A
s
s
e
ts

 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 A

s
s
e
ts

 

S
u

rp
lu

s
 A

s
s
e
ts

 

A
s
s
e
ts

 u
n

d
e
r 

C
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti

o
n

  

T
o

ta
l 
P

ro
p

e
rt

y
, 
P

la
n

t 
a
n

d
 E

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 
 

Cost or Valuation  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Opening Balance at 1 April 2023 169,652 21,498 5,566 185 17 2,906 199,824 

Additions 406 651 0 35 0 7,089 8,182 

Acc Dep & Imp WO to GCA (1,911) 0 0 0 0 0 (1,911) 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve 

706 0 0 85 0 0 790 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on 
the Provision of Services 

(3,794) 0 0 0 0 0 (3,794) 

Derecognition – disposals (93) (78) 0 0 0 0 (171) 

Assets reclassified (to)/from Assets 
held for sale 

0 0 0 0 0 (199) (199) 

Other movements in cost or 
valuation 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Closing Balance at 31 March 
2024 

164,966 22,071 5,566 305 17 9,796 202,721 

 

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment 

Balance brought forward (3,045) (11,541) (3,276) 0 0 0 (17,862) 

Depreciation charge (3,656) (1,297) (174) 0 0 0 (5,127) 

Acc. Depreciation WO to GCA 1,911 0 0 0 0 0 1,911 

Impairment losses/(Reversals) 
recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve 

0 0 0 0 0 (758) (758) 

Impairment Losses/(reversals) 
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on 
provision of services 

0 0 0 0 0 (130) (130) 

Derecognition – disposals 4 78 0 0 0 0 82 

Assets reclassified (to)/from 
Investment Property 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other movements in depreciation 
and impairment 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Closing Balance at 31 March 
2024 

(4,785) (12,760) (3,450) 0 0 (888) (21,883) 

         

Net Book Value        

at 31 March 2024 160,181 9,311 2,116 305 17 8,908 180,837 

at 31 March 2023 166,609 9,957 2,289 185 17 2,905 181,964 

Property, plant and equipment within the Group is measured at current value and 

revalued at least every five years by qualified valuers.  Details of when the Council’s 
property plant and equipment were revalued are shown in Note 14 to the single entity 
accounts. 

  

Page 183



 

Page 132 of 155 

 

Note 3 Group Inventories 

31-Mar-23 

£’000 
 Inventory 31-Mar-24 

£’000 

23,339 Land 12,261 

67,066 Development Costs 54,771 

357 Stock 263 

90,762 Total Inventories 67,295 

  

Page 184



 

Page 133 of 155 

 

Annual Governance Statement 
2023/2024 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Shiraz Sheikh 

Monitoring Officer /  

Assistant Director Law & Governance 

Page 185



 

Page 134 of 155 

 

Contents 

INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................... 135 
THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK ..................................................... 135 
THE KEY ELEMENTS OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK AT CHERWELL DISTRICT 
COUNCIL .............................................................................................................................. 135 
ANNUAL PLANNING PROCESS .......................................................................................... 136 
DECISION MAKING .............................................................................................................. 137 
RISK MANAGEMENT ........................................................................................................... 137 
CORPORATE LEADERSHIP TEAM (CLT) ............................................................................ 137 
FINANCE .............................................................................................................................. 138 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR GOVERNANCE .............................................................................. 139 
REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS ............................................................................................ 142 
PEER REVIEW - PROGRESS FEEDBACK ........................................................................... 144 
GOVERNANCE SELF ASSESSMENT .................................................................................. 144 
CONCLUSION ...................................................................................................................... 145 
STATEMENT OF OPINION ................................................................................................... 146 

 

 

  

Page 186



 

Page 135 of 155 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government (2016) 
requires local authorities to publish an Annual Governance Statement, and to be 
responsible for ensuring that:  

• its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards  

• public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and  

• resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively to deliver 

agreed priorities and benefit local people. 

The Council also has a duty to:  

• make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which 

its functions are exercised  

• put in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, and  

• implement and maintain effective processes of internal control, including 

appropriate arrangements to manage risk. 

The Council’s Accounts Audit & Risk Committee (AARC)) reviews governance 
arrangements, audit reports and risk registers. Their role is to recommend 
improvements or interventions if expected performance is not being achieved, or 
gaps in current governance arrangements have been identified.  The Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (OSC) also scrutinises performance reports as part of its work 
programme. Budget Planning Committee is also involved in looking at the budget 
process.  

THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK  

 

The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, cultures and values 
which underpin how the Council is controlled and managed internally, and how it 
engages with taxpayers, service users and the wider community. The governance 
framework enables the Council to monitor delivery of its strategic objectives and 
assess whether those objectives are securing service improvements and value for 
money. Systems of internal control and risk management are a significant part of the 
governance framework and are designed to manage risk down to a reasonable level. 
Some risks can never be eliminated entirely, however, and these processes provide 
only reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

THE KEY ELEMENTS OF THE GOVERNANCE 
FRAMEWORK AT CHERWELL DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

The Council operates an executive based system of governance with a Leader. The 
Executive takes strategic key decisions with officers responsible for day to day 
decisions. The Executive is made up of a Leader and 9 other councillors. The leader 
then appoints individual councillors (portfolio holders) to other positions in the 

Page 187



 

Page 136 of 155 

 

Executive. Their remit includes obtaining assurance that Annual Delivery Plan 
priorities, and the Budget and Policy Framework approved by Council each year, are 
delivered in their relevant areas.  

The Council has a Constitution which sets out how the Council operates, how 
decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that decisions 
are efficient, transparent, and accountable to local people. 

We have various layers of management within the organisation and the management 
teams each play an important role in the governance framework. 

The corporate leadership team (CLT), compromises the Head of Paid Service, 
Corporate Directors, Monitoring Officer and S151 Officer. CLT meets on a weekly 
basis. The extended leadership team (ELT) comprises the CLT and Assistant 
Directors. ELT meets on a monthly basis and are programmed as a series of 
sessions to focus on strategic issues, projects and programmes and health of the 
organisation. 

The council has two wholly owned companies – Graven Hill and Crown House.  

Graven Hill Village Developments was established in 2014. It is an ambitious project 
aimed at disrupting the market and creating innovative solutions to housing supply 
issues. The aim of Graven Hill is a large scale self-build community within a 
development of up to 1,900 new homes. It will also provide commercial space, a 
nursery, a primary school and health hub, continuing to create new jobs in the 
locality. 

The Crown House apartments project was initiated to drive economic and social 
regeneration. The initiative has improved community safety, and provided housing in 
Banbury town centre, comprising 50 apartments and one commercial unit. 

The Council commissioned an independent review of the governance arrangements 
for Graven Hill, the recommendations arising from it were reported to the 
Shareholder Committee in July 2023 with the action plan agreed with the members. 
The action plan is regularly reviewed by the Committee and progress is tracked.   

 

ANNUAL PLANNING PROCESS  

 

The Council’s Corporate Plan sets the Council’s future priorities and objectives over 
5 years . the current priorities are as follows:   

Housing that meets your needs 

Supporting environment sustainability 

An enterprising economy with strong and vibrant local centres 

Healthy, resilient and engaged communities. 

 

The annual delivery plan sets out the key projects for delivering the above priorities 
on an annual basis. The new delivery plan was agreed in February 2024.  

Page 188



 

Page 137 of 155 

 

The Service Plans informed by the service set out how each service is working 
towards the annual delivery plan and the above priorities.  

The framework also sets out the council’s golden thread – how its annual priorities 
are cascaded down through the organisation to individual work plans . Progress 
towards these priorities is regularly reviewed and reported to the Executive and 
OSC.  Performance monitoring includes key Indicators, monthly measures and 
targets.  

 

DECISION MAKING  

 

There is a Forward Plan on a regularly basis for all key decisions.  

All meetings are held in public and are webcast and available to watch after the 
event.  

Decision are recorded on the Council website  

Decision are supported by officer reports which are open to the public unless they 
qualify as legally “exempt” from publication.  

Decisions are also subject to call-in to OSC.  

 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk registers identify operational and strategic risks. 

Key risks are considered by Directorate Management Teams.  

Strategic risks are reported to the Executive and AARC quarterly and overseen by 
Corporate Leadership Team  

 

CORPORATE LEADERSHIP TEAM (CLT)   

CLT are responsible for the overall management of the Council  

The Head of Paid Service is the Chief Executive who is responsible for all Council 
staff and for leading CLT.  

The Corporate Directors lead the majority of services which are delivered to the 
public with the Chief Executive.  

The Monitoring Officer is the Council’s Assistant Director of Law, Governance and 
Procurement who is also responsible for ensuring legality and promoting high 
standards of conduct.  

The Council’s Assistant Director of Finance is the Council’s S151 Officer/Chief 
Finance Officer and is responsible for safeguarding the Council’s financial position 
and ensuring value for money.  

Page 189



 

Page 138 of 155 

 

There is also a statutory officer group with set objectives that meets to monitor 
governance issues.  

 

FINANCE 

 

A new Medium-Term Financial Strategy was approved by Council in February 2024 
to cover the five years 2025/26 – 2028/29. The purpose of the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy is to deliver a balanced and affordable 2024/25 budget and 
ensure that the Council’s finances are robust and sustainable over the medium term 
or act as an early warning system of a gap in future years between forecast 
expenditure and resources which the Council must address, and that in the longer 
term, the Council’s finances are not reliant on the unsustainable use of one-off 
reserves or funding.  

The Council has a robust approach to the use of reserves with any changes in uses 
of reserves from budgeted levels requiring approval in line with the Council’s 
reserves policy.  The S151 Officer carries out a risk assessment of general balances 
as part of the budget setting process and issues an overall opinion on the level of 
reserves via their S25 statement. 

  

Page 190



 

Page 139 of 155 

 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR GOVERNANCE 

 

The Council has approved and adopted a Local Code of Corporate Governance, 
which is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government’ 2016.  

 

The Council  is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance 
with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded, properly 
accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. The Council also 
has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure 
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having 
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. The Council 
meets the Standards of the Framework in the following ways: 

 

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law;  

The Council’s Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer have specific statutory 
responsibilities to ensure that decisions taken by the Council are lawful and in line 
with constitutional requirements. The Council implemented new format of report 
helps to assist with lawful decision making and contains legal and financial 
implications alongside impacts assessments for equality act, environmental , 
procurement and subsidy control to assist the decision maker in taking all relevant 
information into account when making a decision.  

Page 191



 

Page 140 of 155 

 

The Council has adopted codes of conduct for both Officers and Members which 
facilitates the promotion, communication and embedding of proper standards of 
behaviour. The Members Code of Conduct is based on the Local Government 
Association model code which has the benefit of it being consistent across the 
spectrum of County, District and Parish/Town councils and makes it easier to 
administer.  

 The Council’s Constitution explains existing policy making and delegation 
procedures and the matters which must be dealt with by the full Council. It 
documents the role and responsibilities of the Executive, portfolio holders, each 
committee and Members and officers. The Monitoring Officer has also setup a 
Constitution Review Group working with members across the political spectrum to 
review the Constitution.  

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement;  

The Council consults regularly with stakeholders, taxpayers and service users. The 
letstalk.cherwell.gov.uk is the consultation website and enables local people to find, 
participate in, and view outcomes from, any consultation activities that interest them. 
It also provides feedback opportunity for stakeholders, taxpayers and service users.  
In addition, a number of different groups and forums are in place to represent local 
views on a range of subjects including health and wellbeing and community safety. 

 

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits;  

The Annual Delivery Plan sets out how the Council aims to work in partnership to 
achieve its agreed objectives. These key objectives are designed to be both 
financially and environmentally sustainable and have been developed in consultation 
with partners. The Medium-Term Financial Strategy makes a realistic assessment of 
financial resources available, and the Budget and Policy Framework approved by 
Council each year sets out revenue and capital spending limits, savings and 
efficiency targets as well as key improvement priorities for the forthcoming year. 

The Council has implemented a robust procurement strategy for all its procurement 
activities in accordance with the law and the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. 
The Social Value outcomes are included as part of the Council’s procurement 
process.  

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes;  

The Executive is responsible for ensuring that actions approved as part of the 
Budget and Policy Framework are delivered in each service area.  The Projected 
Outturn, leadership risk register and performance against agreed key performance 
indicators (KPIs) reports to the Executive summarise the forecast financial outturn 
position each month against budget and delivery of agreed savings targets.  These 
are also considered by CLT each month.  These elements of the report are reviewed 
quarterly by the Budget Planning Committee and Accounts Audit and Risk 
Committee and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee respectively. 

Page 192



 

Page 141 of 155 

 

E. Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it;  

Maximising capacity by working collaboratively is a key component of the Annual 
Delivery Plan and a number of longstanding partnership working arrangements are 
in place.  The Constitution sets out how the governance aspects of these 
arrangements should operate in practice.  The Human Resources and Development 
team has a specific role and remit to improve the capability and capacity of Council 
officers by offering a range of skills and qualification-based training opportunities. 

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management;  

The Council’s Monitoring Officer has formed the Corporate Oversight and 
Governance Group (COGG). The primary purpose of the COGG is to ensure good 
governance and decision-making processes, effective risk management, ensuring 
and improving value for money, effective internal controls and ensuring transparency 
and accountability. It also reviews the Governance Dashboard that has been 
developed by the MO periodically.  

The COGG is an internal officer group consisting of the Corporate Director 
(Resources) as the responsible chair, Monitoring Officer, the S151 Officer, Chief 
Internal Auditor, Deputy S151 Officer, Head of Legal & Democratic/ Deputy 
Monitoring Officer (when in post).  

For Council Companies there is a separate Companies Governance & Oversight 
Group which is led by the Chief Executive and supported by the Monitoring Officer, 
Corporate Director Resources, S151 Officer together with relevant company officers.  

The Leadership Risk Register provides a high-level overview of key risks which are 
reported to CLT and Executive on a monthly basis and AARC on a quarterly 
meeting. Financial Procedure Rules, Contracts Procedure Rules and Employment 
Procedure Rules, set out the framework of internal controls. Internal Audit have a 
programme of work designed to assess how this framework operates in practice and 
report to the Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee. 

Procurement strategy for individual procurements act as a lever for cascading 
corporate priorities down to services and capital projects that are delivered through 
commercial partners. Procurement Strategy approval process has been developed 
to provide a system of robust internal control and ensure best value is achieved 
through all significant contract awards.  

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 

effective accountability.  

All Council meetings are held in public and minutes of meetings and webcasts are 
available on the Council’s website. Public questions are allowed at Executive, 
Committees and Council meetings. 

The Council publishes an Annual Financial Report (the Statement of Accounts) 
annually within the statutory timescales. The Annual Financial Report incorporates 
the full requirements of best practice guidance in relation to corporate governance, 
risk management and internal control. 

Page 193



 

Page 142 of 155 

 

The Council is subject to independent audit by Ernst and Young and receives an 
Annual Audit Letter reporting on findings. The Council supplements this work with its 
own internal audit function and ad hoc external peer reviews. The Accounts Audit 
and Risk Committee undertakes the core functions as identified in CIPFA’s Audit 
Committees – Practical Guidance for Local Authorities. 

 

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS  

 

Internal Audit  

The Council uses several ways to review the effectiveness of governance 
arrangements. One of the key assurance statements is the annual report and opinion 
of the Chief Internal Auditor. The role of the Internal Audit Service is to provide 
assurance to management and those charged with governance about the quality and 
effectiveness of the governance framework and systems of internal control. The internal 
audit team have completed eight internal audits and three grant certifications, the 
outcomes are reported to the Accounts, Audit & Risk Committee.  

The 2019 CIPFA Statement on the “Role of the Head of Internal Audit in public service 
organisations” outlines the principles that define the core activities and behaviours that 
belong to the role of the ‘Head of Internal Audit’ and the governance requirements 
needed to support them. The Council's arrangements conform with the governance 
requirements of the CIPFA statement as our Chief Internal Auditor as follows: 

 

• objectively assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of governance and 
management of risks, giving an evidence-based opinion on all aspects of 
governance, risk management and internal control. 

• championing best practice in governance and commenting on responses to 
emerging risks and proposed developments. 

• be a senior manager with regular and open engagement across the 
organisation, particularly with the leadership team and with the audit committee. 

• lead and direct an internal audit service that is resourced appropriately, 
sufficiently and effectively. 

• be professionally qualified and suitably experienced. 

 

The Internal Audit Service operates in accordance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). The self-assessment against the standards is completed on 
an annual basis and reported to the Accounts, Audit & Risk Committee. It is a 
requirement of the PSIAS for an external assessment of internal audit to be completed 
at least every five years. This was undertaken in November 2023 and the results 
were reported to the Accounts, Audit & Risk Committee in January 2024. The 
assessment concluded that Internal Audit fully conforms with PSIAS, with no 
recommendations or actions required.  

 

The Chief Internal Auditor prepared an Annual Report on the work of Internal Audit 

Page 194



 

Page 143 of 155 

 

which concludes for the 12 months ended 31 March 2024, there is satisfactory 
assurance regarding Cherwell District Council's overall control environment and the 
arrangements for governance, risk management and control. Where weaknesses have 
been identified through internal audit review, they have worked with management to 
agree appropriate corrective action and timescale for improvement. 

 

Where Internal Audit identifies areas for improvement, management action plans are 
in place and are routinely monitored by the Internal Audit team and reported to the 
Accounts, Audit & Risk Committee. Managers are required to provide positive 
assurance that actions have been implemented; performance on implementation is 
high, demonstrating that control weaknesses identified by Internal Audit are being 
addressed on a timely basis. 

 

The Council agrees an Annual Plan for the Counter-Fraud Service each year.  This is 
presented to the July meeting of the Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee, supporting 
the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy with updates taken throughout the 
year.  The Counter-Fraud team’s purpose is to adhere and to promote the zero-
tolerance approach to fraud detailed in the Council’s Fraud Strategy, by thoroughly 
investigating any instances of fraud; applying the appropriate sanctions; undertaking 
proactive and preventive work to prevent and detect fraud through training, awareness 
raising, data matching and proactive reviews. 

 

The key objectives of the Counter-Fraud Strategy for 2023/24 were: 

• Govern: Have robust arrangements in place to ensure counter-fraud, bribery 
and corruption measures are embedded throughout the organisation. 

• Acknowledge: Understand fraud risk and maintain a robust anti-fraud 
response. 

• Prevent: Prevent and detect fraud taking place against the organisation, using 
proactive work and data analysis. 

• Pursue: Carry out fraud investigations, apply sanctions to offenders and 
recover losses. 

• Protect: Recognising the harm that fraud can cause in the community. 
 

For the period April 2023 – March 2024, 54 cases were opened. 50 cases were closed, 
and 4 cases remain open. Of the 50 cases closed, 36 were unproven. The 14 proven 
cases all resulted in Single Person Discount removals. 

Financial Management Code  

A key goal of the Financial Management Code of Practice (launched by CIPFA in 
November 2019) (FM Code) is to improve the financial resilience of organisations by 
embedding enhanced standards of financial management. Since April 2021 authorities 
have been expected to work towards full compliance of the FM Code. There are clear 
links between the FM Code and the Governance Framework, particularly with its focus 
on achieving sustainable outcomes. As such, Annex 1 sets out the outcomes of the 
Council’s latest self- assessment of compliance with the FM Code. The picture is 
positive, with the RAG (Red-Amber-Green) rating of compliance showing as Green for 

Page 195



 

Page 144 of 155 

 

all of the 19 standards. A column showing ‘Further Work’ gives an indication of 
improvements that can be made over the current year. 

Actions 

Significant actions identified in the preceding years AGS have now been completed.  

 

PEER REVIEW - PROGRESS FEEDBACK  

 

LGA Corporate Peer Challenge (CPC) team noted that a variety of activity has taken 
place across the breadth of the Council’s  operations, including progressing work in 
response to recommendations from the CPC. This has been against a backdrop of 
significant change. Notably, following the May 2023 elections the council moved to no 
overall control, coalition arrangements were not forthcoming and as a result the 
Conservative Group were able to form a minority administration. It noted that both 
members and officers appear to have handled the move to no overall control well. A 
comprehensive member development programme was delivered for new members and a 
concerted effort has been applied to delivering an increased number of briefings for 
political group leaders.  

CPC team further noted the Council is in the process of delivering a necessary 
organisational transformation to deliver the council’s Business Plan and the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS).  

However CPC highlighted the areas where further work is required:  

• A medium-term vision is required which will inform the target operating model for 

the council and act as the golden thread to inform what the asset review and 

transformation looks like. 

• The council will need to develop a plan to ensure that it focuses the delivery of its 

services within the resource envelope available to it if a phased reset of business 

rates income is implemented and significant resource reductions materialise. 

• To achieve savings which resemble 21 per cent of the revenue budget by 2025/26 

the council needs to accelerate its delivery.  

• Consider developing a commercial strategy in line with the new asset strategy as 

these will be complementary documents. Both should inform elements of the 

transformation strategy and strategic decisions on key assets. 

 

GOVERNANCE SELF ASSESSMENT 

 

Annual Assurance Statements from the Chief Executive, Corporate Directors and 
Assistant Directors in respect of governance and internal controls for their respective 
areas, confirm that expected governance arrangements have been in place 
throughout the year. They have also confirmed that Codes of Conduct, Financial 
regulations and other corporate processes have operated as expected by 

Page 196



 

Page 145 of 155 

 

undertaking self-assessments of governance arrangements. The themes arising 
from the  self assessment are also reflected in the conclusion below.   

  

CONCLUSION 

 

The Council is satisfied that appropriate governance arrangements are in place 
however it remains committed to maintaining and where possible improving these 
arrangements. The following items are noted for improvement in 2024/2025: 

• Review focus on transformation and  identify work programmes with savings.  

• Ensure reports commissioned for transformation projects have take into 

account financial implications and have clear actions plans.  

• Establishing Corporate Programme office type arrangements to deliver 

corporate projects and transformation with project management methodology.  

• Develop Workforce Strategy to address key staff vacancies in key services 

with staff development objectives.  

• Update on the implementation of the Planning Improvement Plan following 

three different service review reports.  

• Devise a work programme arising from the Digital Futures Strategy 2022 – 2025.  

• Ensure understanding of the Council’s governance at all levels including 

members and officers. This is to include roles and responsibilities and scheme of 

delegation.  

• Ensure Implementation of  Procurement Act 2023 effective from October 

2024.  

• Addressing issues identified by Internal Audit as requiring improvement in a 

timely manner.  

• Ensure further improvements on Information Governance by setting up as a 

corporate project.  

• Ensure Health and Safety requirements are properly understood for those 

working in the office and remotely.  

• Implementation of the new waste regime and extended producer responsibility.  

Other governance outcomes are shown below:  

• Nil reports issued by the S151 Officer or the Monitoring Officer.  

• The MO received 27 complaints about member conduct in 2023/ 2024. 19 

were dismissed at initial stage with 2 offered an informal resolution. No further 

action was taken in 6 complaints due to members concerned resigning from 

serving as a councillor.  

• The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman upheld no complaint out 

of total 7 received.  

 

Page 197



 

Page 146 of 155 

 

STATEMENT OF OPINION  

 

It is our opinion that the Council’s governance arrangements in 2023/24 were sound 
and provide a robust platform for achieving the Council’s priorities and challenges in 
2024/25. It is our opinion that our ability to maintain sound governance during the 
past year, has been effective. 

 

---------------------------------------------- 

Gordon Stewart 

Chief Executive (from 10th January 2024)  

 

------------------------------------------------- 

Cllr Barry Wood 

Leader of the Council (until 22nd May 2024) 

 

Dated:  

Page 198



 

Page 147 of 155 

 

Glossary of Terms 
 

Accruals  

Cost of goods and services received in the financial year but not yet paid for. 

Actuarial Gain (Loss) 

 The changes in the valuation of the net pension liability that arise because of:  

a) Events have not coincided with the assumption used by the actuary when carrying 
out the previous triennial (three-yearly) valuation of the fund or 

 b) The actuary changing the assumptions used in the current valuation from those 
used previously. 

Amortisation 

The decrease in the value of intangible capital assets over their useful life as they 
become out of date or are used up. 

Assets 

A resource with positive economic value that is owned or controlled by the Council 
e.g. cash, property 

Band D Equivalent 

Council tax is a tax on domestic properties. Each domestic property is placed in a 
‘Band’ from A to H, based on the capital value of that property in April 1991. Band D 
is the middle band and the other bands are weighted in relation to Band D (e.g. Band 
A is weighted 6/9ths of Band D and Band H is 18/9ths of Band D). Using the 
weighted number of the domestic properties in the area produces the ‘Band D 
Equivalent’ number of properties. 

Best Value  

Under the Local Government Act 1999, local authorities must constantly aim to 
improve their services. Best Value is the approach introduced that gives local 
authorities a duty to provide local people with high-quality and efficient services. 

Billing Authority 

This is the local authority which collects the council tax and business rates for its 
area. In shire counties the district or borough councils are the billing authorities. 
Cherwell District Council is the billing authority for Cherwell District. 

Bond / Guarantee 

Where the Council has agreed to stand surety for a bond sum or to make payment if 
the Owner fails to pay any part of the County Contributions due under provision of an 
agreement. 

Bond Fund 

A fund primarily invested in government and corporate bonds. The value of the 
investment changes as the market value of assets held by the fund changes. 

Page 199



 

Page 148 of 155 

 

Budget 

A statement of our spending plans for a financial year, which starts on 1 April and 
ends on 31 March. 

Business Rates (Non-Domestic Rates – NDR) 

Non-domestic rates, or business rates, collected by local authorities are the way that 
those who occupy non-domestic property contribute towards the cost of local 
services.  Under the business rates retention arrangements introduced from 1 April 
2013, authorities keep a proportion of the business rates paid locally.  The amount 
charged is based on multiplying the rateable value of each business property by the 
appropriate non-domestic multiplier.  The Government sets a standard multiplier and 
small business multiplier for each financial year.  .   

Business Rate Retention Scheme 

Council’s are able to keep a proportion of the business rates revenue, as well as 
growth on the revenue that is generated in their local area. The remainder is retained 
centrally by the government and used to provide grant funding to local authorities.  It 
provides a direct link between business rates growth and the amount of money 
council’s will have to spend on local people and local services. 

 Call Account 

A call account is a deposit account with a financial institution without a fixed maturity 
date. 

Capital Adjustment Account  

The Capital Adjustment Account is an unusable reserve that absorbs the timing 
differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for the 
consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or 
enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions.  

Capital Financing Requirement 

A measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the council that has yet 
to be financed. This measure also shows the underlying need to borrow for a capital 
purpose, although this borrowing may not necessarily take place externally. 

Capital Programme 

 Our plan of future spending on capital projects such as buying land, buildings, 
vehicles, and equipment. 

Capital Receipt 

Cash received from selling non-current assets. Capital receipts can be used to 
finance new capital expenditure or repay long term debt within rules set by central 
Government, but they cannot be used to finance day-to-day revenue spending. 

Capital Spending 

Spending on non-current assets that have  long-term service and/or economic 
benefits for example, land, buildings and large items of equipment such as vehicles. 

Cash Equivalent 

Page 200



 

Page 149 of 155 

 

Short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Cash-flow Statement 

Summarises cash paid to and received from other organisations and individuals for 
capital and revenue purposes. 

CIPFA 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. One of the major 
accountancy institutes that specialises in the public sector. 

Collection Fund 

The Council as a billing authority has a statutory obligation to maintain a separate 
Collection Fund.  This shows  the transactions of the Council in relation to the 
collection of  business rates income and council tax income from taxpayers and its 
distribution to the County Council, Police Authority, and the Government. 

Counterparties 

The opposite party in a contract or financial transaction. This may include the Central 
Government, Local Authorities, Banks and Building societies to name a few. 

Community Assets 

The class of fixed assets held by an authority in perpetuity that have no determinable 
useful life and may have restriction on their disposal, such as parks and open 
spaces, historical buildings, works of art, etc. 

Component Depreciation 

Is a procedure in which the cost of a large item of property, plant and equipment is 
split up into different components which have different useful lives, and each 
component is depreciated separately. This procedure is also referred to as 
componentisation. 

Contingent Asset 

An asset arising from past events, whereby its existence can only be confirmed by 
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council. 

Contingent Liability 

A condition which exists at the balance sheet date, where the outcome will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the Council’s control, or where it is not probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation.  

Council Tax 

A tax charged on domestic householders based on which of eight Council Tax Bands 
their property falls into. There is a reduction for empty properties or if you live on 
your own. Since 1 April 2013 council’s must have a council tax reduction scheme, 
which allows for council tax reductions for people, or classes of people, who are 
considered to be in financial need. In Oxfordshire , the district or borough council 
issues council tax bills and collects the council tax. The level is determined by the 
revenue expenditure requirements for each authority divided by the council tax base 
for the year. 

Page 201



 

Page 150 of 155 

 

Council Tax Base  

An assessment by each billing authority of the number of properties, converted to 
Band D equivalents (the average band), on which a tax can be charged. The 
calculation allows for new properties, exemptions and discounts and a provision for 
non-collection. 

Cost of Carry  

The difference between the interest payable on borrowing on debt and the interest 
receivable from investing surplus cash. 

Credit Rating  

A credit rating assesses the credit worthiness of an individual, corporation or country. 
Credit ratings are calculated from financial history and current assets and liabilities. 
Typically, a credit rating tells a lender or investor the probability of the entity being 
able to pay back a loan. 

Creditors  

People or organisations we owe money to for work, goods or services which have 
not yet been paid for by the end of the financial year. 

Current Asset  

An asset which is expected to be used up during the next accounting period e.g. 
cash, inventories.  

Current Liabilities  

Liabilities that are due to be settled in less than one year, such as bank overdrafts 
and money owed to suppliers. 

Current Service Cost 

The current service cost is the increase in the value of the pension scheme's future 
pension liabilities arising from the employee’s ongoing membership of the pension 
scheme. 

Curtailment Costs  

Curtailment costs are the amounts of money that are paid to a new pension scheme 
when a defined group of staff transfer from one pension scheme to another. The 
costs represent the value of the pension rights accrued by the transferring staff. 

Debtors 

Amounts owed to the Council for goods and services that has not yet been received.  

Deferred Income 

Prepaid income credited to the Balance Sheet and amortised to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement to match the benefit of the receipts over the term 
of the contractual arrangement.  

Depreciation  

The systematic write-off of the reduction in value of a tangible fixed asset due to 
wear and tear, passing of time and technological changes over its economic useful 
life. 

Page 202



 

Page 151 of 155 

 

Derecognition  

Removal of an asset or liability from the Balance Sheet. 

Earmarked Reserves  

Money set aside for a specific purpose. 

Equity instrument  

A contract such as an equity share in a company. 

Expected Credit Loss  

The probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash 
shortfalls) over the expected life of a financial instrument. 

Fair Value  

The price that could be received for an asset sold or a liability settled in an orderly 
transaction, assuming that the transaction was negotiated between parties 
knowledgeable about the market in which they are dealing and willing to buy or sell 
at an appropriate price, with no other motive in their negotiations other than to 
secure a fair price. 

Financial Asset 

Financial Assets are any assets that is: Cash, equity, a contractual right to receive 
cash or another financial asset from another entity (e.g. trade debtors), or a 
contractual right to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity 
under conditions that are potentially favourable to the Council.    

Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another. Financial instruments include 
bank deposits, investments, debtors, long-term debtors, creditors, temporary loans 
and borrowings.  

Financial liability  

An obligation to transfer economic benefits controlled by the District Council that is 
represented by a contractual obligation to deliver cash (or another financial asset) to 
another entity, or a contractual obligation to exchange financial assets/liabilities with 
another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the District 
Council.  

Financial Year  

The District Council’s accounts cover the period from 1 April in one year to 31 March 
in the next year. 

Fixed Asset  

A tangible asset that yields benefit to the District Council and the services it provides 
for a period of more than one year.  

General Fund  

The account that records and finances Council revenue expenditure that is funded 
by taxpayers. 

Page 203



 

Page 152 of 155 

 

Government Grants  

Payments by the Government towards the cost of local authority services. These are 
either for particular purposes or services (specific grants) or to fund local services 
generally (non-specific grants). 

Heritage Asset  

A tangible asset with historical, artistic, scientific, technological, geophysical or 
environmental qualities that is held and maintained principally for its contribution to 
knowledge and culture. 

Impairment  

A reduction in the carrying value of an asset arising from physical damage, 
obsolescence or a significant decline in market value.  

Infrastructure Assets  

A class of assets whose life is of indefinite length and which are not usually capable 
of being sold, such as highways, drains and footpaths. 

Intangible Asset  

An asset that does not have physical substance but is identifiable and controlled by 
the organisation through custody or legal rights e.g. software licenses.  

Internal Borrowing 

Instead of taking external loans to fund activities such as Capital expenditure, a 
Local Authority may use income and grants received in advance, to fund these 
activities. Usually, surplus funds are invested to earn interest, however it is prudent 
to use these funds instead of loaning money as loans generally cost more than could 
be earned by investing the funds.  

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)  

These are issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and provide 
standards for the preparation of financial statements.  

Inventories  

Raw materials and stores which the Council has bought and holds in stock for use as 
required.  

Investment Properties  

Land and/or buildings held solely to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, 
rather than for operational purposes. 

Lease  

An agreement where a rental charge is paid for use of an asset for a specified period 
of time. 

Lessee  

A party to a lease agreement who makes payment to use an asset.  

Lessor  

A party to a lease agreement who receives payment for the use of an asset.  

Page 204



 

Page 153 of 155 

 

Liabilities  

Amounts owed by the Council which will be paid at some time in the future. 

Materiality  

Information is material if its omission or misstatement, individually or collectively, 
could influence the decisions that users make on the basis of financial information 
about a specific reporting entity. 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)  

The prudent minimum amount which the Council must set aside each year to repay 
loans and other long-term liabilities such as finance leases. This has the effect of 
reducing the Capital Financing Requirement. 

Money Market Fund  

Funds are invested in short-dated assets including certificates of deposits, 
government securities and commercial papers making them highly liquid. Money 
Market Funds must be AAAmf rated, invest in high credit quality assets and maintain 
a weighted average maturity of 60 days or fewer. Investments have a stable net 
asset value and dividends are paid to investors on their investment.  

Net Book Value (NBV)  

The balance sheet value of a non-current asset after depreciation and/or impairment.  

Net Debt  

The District Council’s borrowings and finance liabilities less cash and liquid 
resources.  

Net Spending  

The cost of providing a service after allowing for specific grants and other income 
from fees and charges (i.e. not including council tax and money from the 
Government).  

Non-current Asset  

A long-term asset that is not expected to be used up or realised within the next 12 
months e.g. Property, Plant Equipment. 

Non-Domestic Rate  

A levy on businesses based on a national rate in the pound set by the government 
multiplied by the ‘rateable value’ of the premises they occupy. 

Operating Lease  

A type of lease, usually of computer equipment, vehicles, office equipment, etc., 
where the ownership of the goods and any risks and rewards remain with the lessor, 
therefore it is revenue expenditure and not capital expenditure.  

Operational Asset 

An asset held partly, primarily or solely for the purpose of delivering against the 
council’s corporate objectives and day-to-day services. 

Past Service Costs  

Page 205



 

Page 154 of 155 

 

The past service cost is the extra liability that arises when we grant extra retirement 
benefits that did not exist before, such as when we agree early retirement or extra 
years of service.  

Petty Cash  

Small sums of cash kept by departments to pay minor expenses. 

Precept  

The demand levied by a non-billing authority (County Council, Police Authority, 
parish and town councils) on the Collection Fund managed by a billing authority (this 
Council) towards their annual spending. 

Property, Plant and Equipment  

A physical (tangible) asset that is expected to be held for operational purposes for 
several years, such as land, buildings, and vehicles. 

Provision  

An amount of money put aside in the accounts for anticipated liabilities which are of 
uncertain timing or amount. 

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB)  

A central government agency which provides long and shorter-term loans to local 
authorities at interest rates slightly higher than those at which the government itself 
can borrow. Local authorities are able to borrow a proportion of their requirement to 
finance capital spending from this source. 

Rateable Value (RV)  

A value placed on all non-domestic properties (businesses) on which rates have to 
be paid, broadly based on the rent that the property might earn, after deducting the 
cost of repairs and insurance. The rateable value is determined by the Valuation 
Office Agency.  

Related-Party  

Two or more organisations are 'related parties' if, during the year, one of them has 
significant control over the other.  

Reserves  

Amounts of money put aside to meet certain categories of expenditure in order to 
avoid fluctuations in the charge to the General Fund. 

Revenue Expenditure  

The District Council’s day-to-day expenditure on items which include wages, 
supplies and services, running costs for premises, and interest charges. 

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS)  

Legislation in England and Wales allows some expenditure to be classified as capital 
for funding purposes when it does not result in the expenditure being carried on the 
Balance Sheet as a fixed asset. Examples include works on property owned by other 
parties, renovation grants and capital grants to other organisations. 

Specific Grants  

Page 206



 

Page 155 of 155 

 

Payments from the Government to cover local authority spending on a particular 
service or project. Specific grants are usually a fixed percentage of the costs of a 
service or project. 

 

 

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Cherwell District Council 

This report is public 

 
Treasury Management Report – Q1 2024/25 (June 2023)  
 

Committee Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee 

Date of Committee 17 July 2024 

Portfolio Holder presenting 
the report 
 

Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources, Councillor  
Lesley McLean 

Date Portfolio Holder agreed 
report 
 

4 July 2024 

Report of Assistant Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer), 
Michael Furness 
 

 

Purpose of report 
 
To provide information on treasury management performance and compliance with 
treasury management policy for 2024-25 as required by the Treasury Management Code 
of Practice. 
 
To demonstrate that all treasury management activities undertaken during the first quarter 
of 2024-25 complied with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the council’s approved Treasury 
Management Strategy. 
 

1. Recommendations 

 
The Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee resolves: 
 

1.1 To note the contents of this Treasury Management Performance Report. 
 

 

2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 The council complies with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the 
CIPFA Code) which requires the council to approve Treasury Management semi-
annual and annual reports.   

 
2.2 The council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2024-25 was approved by Council 

on 26 February 2024. The Treasury indicators have been included in this report as 
per the 2021 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice 
requirements.  

 
 
 
 

Page 209

Agenda Item 10



 

Cherwell District Council 

Implications & Impact Assessments  
 

Implications  
 

Commentary  

Finance  
 

There are no financial implications arising directly from any 
outcome of this report. 
Joanne Kaye, Head of Finance (D151), 3 July 2024 

Legal The presentation of the report is required by regulations issued 
under the Local Government Act 2003 to review the treasury 
management activities, the actual prudential indicators and the 
treasury related indicators and confirm compliance with the Code. 
Alison Coles, Legal Services Operations Manager, Solicitor, 3 July 
2024 

Risk Management  It is essential that this report is considered by the Audit Committee 
as it demonstrates that the risk of not complying with the council’s 
Treasury Management Policy has been avoided. This and any 
other risks related to this report will be managed through the 
service operational risk and escalated to the leadership risk 
register as and when necessary. 
Celia Prado-Teeling, Performance Team Leader, 3 July 2024 

  
Impact 
Assessments  
 
 

Positive  Neutral  Negative Commentary  
  
  
  
  

Equality Impact    X   Not applicable 

 

A Are there any 
aspects of the 
proposed decision, 
including how it is 
delivered or 
accessed, that 
could impact on 
inequality? 

  X   Not applicable 

 

B Will the proposed 
decision have an 
impact upon the 
lives of people with 
protected 
characteristics, 
including 
employees and 
service users? 

  X  Not applicable 

 

Climate & 
Environmental 
Impact 

      Not applicable 

ICT & Digital 
Impact 

      Not applicable 

 

Data Impact       Not applicable 

 

Page 210



 

Cherwell District Council 

Procurement & 
subsidy 

      Not applicable 

 

Council Priorities Not applicable 

Human Resources  Not applicable 

 

Property Not applicable 

 

Consultation & 
Engagement 
  

Not applicable 

 

      

 

Supporting Information 

 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The council continues to pursue its strategy of keeping borrowing and investments 

below its underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing, in order to 
reduce risk and borrowing costs.  As at the end of June 2024 the council had 
borrowing of £181m and investments of £30m – a net borrowing position of £151m. 
This in an improvement from the net borrowing position of £159m on 31/03/24. 

  
3.2 It is a statutory duty for the council to determine and keep under review its 

affordable borrowing limits. During the first quarter of 2024/25, the council has 
operated within the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2024/25. The Assistant Director of 
Finance reports that, based on current plans and economic forecasts, these 
indicators are forecast to be complied with in the current and future years.    

 

4. Details 

 

Borrowing performance 1 April to 30 June 2024 
 
4.1 The council requires external borrowing to fund its capital programme and had a 

total debt of £181m at the date of this report. The increased cost of borrowing over 
the last two years has resulted in the council moving from an equal mix of short and 
long-term borrowing to predominantly medium to long term loans from the Public 
Works Loan Board (PWLB) to provide interest rate certainty. This move was made 
in July 2022 while rates were still comparatively low and resulted in an average 
interest rate of just 2.19% for the 2023/24 financial year, with 2.45% forecast for 
2024/25 as per Table 1 below.  It should be noted that as loans become due for 
renewal it is likely that short term borrowing will increase as interest rates are 
anticipated to fall in the coming years. 

 

Page 211



 

Cherwell District Council 

4.2 The council’s main objective when borrowing is to strike an appropriately low risk 
balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the 
period for which funds are required.  

 
Table 1: Borrowing Position for quarter ended 30 June 2024  

 

  Borrowing 
Amount 

£m  

Average 
Interest 

Rate 

Interest 
Paid Budget  

£m 

Interest 
Paid Actual 

£m 

Variance 
to Date 

£m  

April to June 24 
181 

(average) 
2.45% 

 
1.178 0.855 (0.323) 

As at 31/06/24 181 2.45% - - - 

* Interest payable relates to external loans only, excluding finance lease and other interest 
        
 

4.3 Interest payable for the full year is forecast just below the budget. Loans to the 
value of £36m are maturing in 2024/25. These loans will be refinanced by short 
term loans at a forecast average rate of 5.05%.  This short-term rate is modelled in 
the forecast annual average interest rate in Table 1. When the short term loans 
mature there is the possibility of further refinancing them for longer periods to 
achieve greater rate certainty when rates are more favourable.  A full list of current 
borrowing is shown below: 
 
Table 2: Borrowing 

 

Lender Principal 
Borrowed £m 

Maturity Date 

PWLB 7-year maturity 21 19/10/2024 

West Midlands Combined Authority 
1-year maturity 

15 13/02/2025 

PWLB 6-year maturity 6 25/09/2025 

PWLB 7-year maturity 6 19/09/2026 

PWLB 5-year maturity 10 26/07/2027 

PWLB 10-year maturity 10 31/05/2028 

PWLB 6-year maturity 5 26/07/2028 

PWLB 7-year maturity 10 26/07/2029 

PWLB 10-year maturity 6 25/09/2029 

PWLB 8-year maturity 10 26/07/2030 

PWLB 11-year maturity 6 19/09/2030 

PWLB 9-year maturity 16 26/07/2031 

PWLB 10-year maturity 15 26/07/2032 

PWLB 15-year maturity 5 31/05/2033 

PWLB 15-year maturity 5 25/09/2034 

PWLB 16-year maturity 5 19/09/2035 

PWLB 30-year maturity 5 31/05/2048 

PWLB 50-year maturity 25 10/11/2071 

TOTAL 181 
 

 
 
 

Page 212



 

Cherwell District Council 

4.4 The council monitors its exposure to refinancing risk with the maturity structure of 
borrowing indicator. While it is important to have flexibility to navigate changing 
market conditions is it critical that loan repayments are spread appropriately. The 
lower limit has been considered but kept at zero to ensure that the council is not 
forced into taking borrowings in a particular category that would lock it into an 
unfavourable borrowing situation.   
 
Table 3: Maturity structure of borrowing  

  

Refinancing rate risk indicator 
Upper 
limit 

Lower 
limit 

Actual 
structure 

Under 12 months 50% 0% 17.91% 

12 months and within 24 months 50% 0% 12.94% 

24 months and within 5 years 60% 0% 15.42% 

5 years and within 10 years 70% 0% 33.83% 

10 years and above 80% 0% 19.90% 

 
 
Investment performance 1 April to 30 June 2024 

 
4.5 Funds available for investment are on a temporary basis because the council 

prioritises keeping borrowing to a minimum and only invests surplus funds retained 
to meet its commitments. The level of funds available is mainly dependent on the 
timing of precept payments, receipt of grants and funding of the Capital 
Programme.  

 
4.6 The Bank of England has not cut interest rates as was forecast when the budget 

was set and as a result there is currently a positive variance (£0.136m). Table 4 
below shows the investment position during and at the end of the reporting period. 

 
Table 4: Investment Position 

 

 Investment 
Amount  

£m 

Average 
Interest 

Rate 

Interest 
Earned 
Budget  

£m 

Interest 
Earned 
Actual  

£m 

Variance 
to Date 

£m 

April to June 24 
25 

(average) 
5.48% (0.288) (0.424) (0.136) 

As at 30/06/24 30 5.32% - - - 

 
 

4.7 While the council is always looking for ways to invest sustainably (or green 
investments) this must be done within the criteria laid out in the approved Treasury 
Management Strategy with counterparties that meet the council’s investment 
criteria. Security, liquidity and yield remain the primary investment considerations as 
required by the Treasury Management Code.  

 
 The council continues to invest in three Money Market funds that meet the criteria 

pursuant to Article 8 of the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (Regulation 
EU/2019/2088). These are highlighted in green in the full list of current investments 
in Table 5 below: 

 

Page 213



 

Cherwell District Council 

 
Table 5: Investments 

 

Counterparty Principal 
Deposited £m 

Maturity Date / 
Notice period 

Fixed Term Deposits 

  

Wakefield Council 5.00 11/07/24 

SMBC Bank International Plc 3.00 06/09/24 

Qatar National Bank 3.00 06/09/24 

Development Bank of Singapore 3.00 19/09/24 

London Borough of Barking & Dagenham 3.00 19/09/24 

East Hertfordshire District Council 5.00 14/10/24 

   

Money Market Funds 
  

Legal & General Investment Management 5.00 Same day 

Federated Investors UK 2.55 Same day 

Northern Trust Asset Managements  0.01  Same day 

CCLA Investment Management Limited 0.02 Same day 

Goldman Sachs Asset Management 0.08 Same day 

TOTAL 29.66 
 

 
 
4.8    Compliance with investment limits are detailed in Table 6 below:  
 
          Table 6: Investment Limits 
   

Counterparty 

 

2024/25 

Limit £m 

Complied? 

 

UK Central Government Unlimited Yes 

Other Local Authorities 5 each Yes 

Any group of organisations under the same 
ownership 

5 per group Yes 

Approved counterparties – Banks/Building Societies 3 each Yes 

Any group of pooled funds under the same 
management 

5 per 
manager 

Yes 

Money Market Funds total 15 in total Yes 

 
Non-treasury investment activity 

 
4.9 The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised Treasury Management Code 

covers all the financial assets of the council. This is replicated in the government’s 
Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments, in which the definition of 
investments is further broadened to also include all such assets that provide a 
financial return. 

 

Page 214



 

Cherwell District Council 

4.10 As of 31 June 2024, the council holds £102.4m of investments that qualify under the 
code in the form of shares (£35.6m) and loans (£66.8m) to subsidiary companies 
and other organisations, primarily Graven Hill and Crown House. There has been 
no change in balances since the previous quarter.  

 
4.11 The loan elements of these non-treasury service investments generate a higher rate 

of return than that earned on treasury investments due to the commercial rates at 
which the majority of the loans were issued.  Table 7 below shows the investment 
position for this reporting period. 

 
Table 7: Non-treasury Investment Position 

 

 Investment 
Amount  

£m 

Average 
Interest 

Rate 

Interest 
Earned 
Budget  

£m 

Interest 
Earned 
Actual  

£m 

Variance 
to Date 

£m 

April to June 24 
66.75 

(average) 
6.76% (1.122) (1.127) (0.005) 

As at 31/06/24 66.75 6.76% - - - 

    

 
Overall performance  

 
4.12 The overall performance for the 3 months to 30 June 2024 has positive variance as 

borrowing costs will only increase during Q3 and Q4 when maturing loans are 
refinanced at higher interest rates. Interest income will similarly decrease in the last 
half of the year as investment returns are forecast to decrease in line with the 
forecast rate cuts by the Bank of England. 

 
Table 8: Overall Treasury Position for the Period 

    

 Budget 
24/25 £m 

Actual 
24/25 £m 

Variance to 
date £m 

Borrowing costs 1.178 0.855 (0.323) 

Other interest 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Treasury income (0.288) (0.424) (0.136) 

Non-treasury income (1.122) (1.127) (0.005) 

Total cost/(income) (0.232) (0.696) (0.464) 

   
4.13 The overall full year forecast is expected to perform to budget. 
 
 Table 9: Overall Treasury Position Forecast to Year End 
 

 Full Year 
Budget  

£m 

Full Year 
Actual    

£m 

Full Year 
Variance 

£m 

Borrowing costs 4.711 4.702 (0.009) 

Finance lease and other interest 0.769 0.780 0.011 

Treasury income (1.151) (1.117)  0.034 

Non-treasury income (4.487) (4.510) (0.023) 

Total cost/(income) (0.158) (0.145) 0.013 

 
Page 215



 

Cherwell District Council 

Interest rate forecast 
 

4.14 The council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisors and part of their 
service is to assist the council to formulate a view on interest rates. The latest 
forecast sets out a view that short, medium and long-dated interest rates will be 
elevated for the next year, as the Bank of England seeks to further reduce inflation.  
 

 Table 10: Link Forecast Rates published on the 28th May 2024 
 

 
 
 

5. Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 

 
5.1 The following alternative options have been identified and rejected for the reasons 

as set out below.  
 
Option 1: To request further information on the performance reported. 
 

 

6 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 

  
6.1 This report details the Treasury Performance for the council for the first quarter of 

2024/25.  It is submitted to the Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee for information 
as required by the Treasury Management Code of Practice. 

 
 

Decision Information 

 

Key Decision 
 

Not applicable 
 

Subject to Call in  
 

Not applicable 

If not, why not subject 
to call in 

Not applicable 

Ward(s) Affected 
 

All 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 216



 

Cherwell District Council 

 

Document Information 
 

Appendices 

 

 

Appendix 1 None 

Background 

Papers 

None 

Reference 

Papers 

Treasury Management Strategy 2024-25 approved 26 February 2024 
https://modgov.cherwell.gov.uk/documents/s55393/Appendix%2021%20-
%20Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202024-25.pdf 
 

Report 

Author 

Janet du Preez – Finance Business Partner – Treasury and Insurance 

Contact 

details 

janet.du-preez@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 
01295 221606 

 

Page 217

https://modgov.cherwell.gov.uk/documents/s55393/Appendix%2021%20-%20Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202024-25.pdf
https://modgov.cherwell.gov.uk/documents/s55393/Appendix%2021%20-%20Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202024-25.pdf
mailto:janet.du-preez@cherwell-dc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Cherwell District Council 

This report is public 

Appendix 1 to the report is exempt from publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972

  
Support to Subsidiaries 
 

Committee Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee 

Date of Committee 17 July 2024 

Portfolio Holder presenting 
the report 
 

Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources, Councillor  
Lesley McLean 

Date Portfolio Holder agreed 
report 
 

1 July 2024
 

Report of Assistant Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer), 
Michael Furness

  

Purpose of report 
 
To inform the Committee of the overall level of support provided to the council’s 
subsidiaries and how this is considered as part of the external audit. 
 

1. Recommendations 

The Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee resolves: 
 

1.1 To note the report and raise any queries on the exempt appendix. 
 

 

2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 The council has several subsidiaries which are consolidated into its Group 

Accounts.  Each of these subsidiary companies are required to be audited 
externally and each audit requires a Letter of Support from the council as Parent. 
The Letter of Support is a document which demonstrates that the Parent will ensure 
its subsidiaries are able to meet their liabilities and are relied upon by the 
subsidiary’s auditors in determining the Going Concern status of the company. A 
Going Concern is a company which is financially stable enough to meet its 
obligations and continue to trade for the foreseeable future.   

 
2.2 The council also needs to demonstrate its status as a Going Concern to its external 

auditors.  Having a robust understanding of its financial commitments is crucial in 
assessing whether the council has the financial security to support itself and its 
subsidiaries. 

 
2.3 The council undertakes an exercise annually to demonstrate that the level of 

financial support extended to its subsidiaries does not put the council in an adverse 
financial position. 

Page 219

Agenda Item 11



 

Cherwell District Council 

 
Implications & Impact Assessments  
 

Implications  
 

Commentary  

Finance  
 

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 
Lynsey Parkinson, Strategic Finance Business Partner, 8 July 
2024 

Legal There are no new legal implications arising directly as a result of 
this report. 
Comments checked by: 
Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal (DMO), 3 July 2024 

Risk Management  There are no new risk management implications to the Council 
arising directly from this report. In the case of any new risks arising 
in the future, these will be managed through the service 
Operational Risk and escalated to the Leadership Risk Register as 
and when appropriate.  
Celia Prado-Teeling, Performance and Insight Team Leader, 4 
July 2024 

 
Impact 
Assessments  
 

P
o

s
it
iv

e
  

N
e
u

tr
a

l 
 

N
e
g

a
ti
v
e
 Commentary  

 
 
 
 

Equality Impact   X  There are no equalities implications arising directly 
from this report. 
Celia Prado-Teeling, Performance and Insight 
Team Leader, 4 July 2024 

A Are there any 
aspects of the 
proposed decision, 
including how it is 
delivered or 
accessed, that could 
impact on 
inequality? 

 X   

B Will the proposed 
decision have an 
impact upon the 
lives of people with 
protected 
characteristics, 
including employees 
and service users? 

 X   

Climate & 
Environmental 
Impact 

   Not Applicable 

ICT & Digital 
Impact 

   Not Applicable
 

Data Impact    Not Applicable
 

Procurement & 
subsidy 

   Not Applicable 
 

Page 220



 

Cherwell District Council 

Council Priorities
 

All 

Human Resources  Not Applicable 

Property Not Applicable 

Consultation & 
Engagement 
 

Not Applicable
 

 
 
 

Supporting Information 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 Demonstrating that the council is a Going Concern is increasingly important to the 

council’s external auditors, and auditors across all sectors, not least because of the 
legacy of the Covid-19 pandemic and the cost-of-living crisis and their impact on 
businesses.  Those charged with governance are responsible for assessing the 
council’s status as a Going Concern and part of how that is done is by preparing 
detailed forecasts which reflect potential scenarios and the organisation’s plans to 
deal with them.  

  

4. Details 

 
4.1 For the 2023/24 assessment of Going Concern, as in previous years, the council 

will provide a detailed cashflow forecast with assumptions of its own cash in- and 
outflows. This forecast will then test for sensitivities to expected cash inflows (e.g. 
5% reduction in Council Tax collection) and outflows (e.g. a subsidiary requiring 
financial assistance). 

 
4.2 The external auditors are keen to determine what the overall cash position of the 

council would be if all of the identified risks happened on the same day; could the 
council manage financially?  Section 2 of Appendix 1 details the level of support 
committed to the council’s subsidiaries in their Letters of Support and quantifies, 
where possible, the level of financial exposure this entails.  Each is then assessed 
for its potential impact on the council’s cashflow and the likelihood of the council 
being called on to step in.  The document then details the mitigations and 
governance arrangements the council has in place to manage the risk. 

 
4.3 Section 3 of the Appendix assesses the ability of the council to cope financially with 

the worst-case scenario which consists of a selection of the identified risks 
occurring on the day the council is forecasting its lowest cash position.  This 
scenario results in the council being required to borrow in the short term to manage 
its cashflow, but comfortably within the limits which were set as part of the Capital 
Strategy approved by Council in February 2024. 

 
4.4 The document that is Appendix 1 has now become an integral part of the council’s 

Going Concern assessment and will continue to be regularly updated and brought 

Page 221



 

Cherwell District Council 

to this committee as part of the governance and mitigation to which it refers.  It is 
also used to ensure the borrowing boundaries in the Capital Strategy are set 
appropriately. 

 

5. Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 

 
5.1 The following alternative options have been identified and rejected for the reasons 

as set out below.  
 
Option 1: This report is submitted for noting. Members can ask for additional 
information.  

 

6 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 

 
  
6.1 The information in exempt Appendix 1 summarises the support the council has 

extended to its subsidiaries.  It is important that the Committee is aware of the level 
of support extended in order to ensure good governance, manage risk and to inform 
decision making. 

 

Decision Information 

 
 

Key Decision 
 

Not applicable 
 

Subject to Call in  
 

Not applicable 

If not, why not subject 
to call in 

Not applicable 

Ward(s) Affected 
 

All 

Document Information 
 

Appendices 

 

 

Appendix 1 Exempt – Support to Subsidiaries 

Background Papers None 

Reference Papers None 

Report Author Joanne Kaye, Head of Finance (D151)  

Contact details joanne.kaye@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 
01295 221545 

 

Page 222

mailto:joanne.kaye@cherwell-dc.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 223

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Accounts, Audit and Risk Committee
Work Programme 2024/25

Date Agenda Items

25-Sep-24 Risk Monitoring Report - Q1 2024/2025
External Audit Update 2022/23
External Audit Update 2023/24
LGSCO Ombudsman Annual Report 
Work Programme Update

20-Nov-24 Risk Monitoring Report - Q2  2024/25
Local Code of Corporate Governance
Counter Fraud Update
Internal Audit Progress Update
External Audit Update 2022/23
External Audit Update 2023/24
Financial Management Code Update
Treasury Management Q2 Update
Work Programme Update

 
15-Jan-25 Internal Audit Progress Update

Counter Fraud Update
External Audit update
Capital and Investment Strategy and Draft Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25
AGS 2023/24 Actions Update

 Work Programme Update
TBC: Chief Internal Auditor - Private Session 
TBC: External Auditor - Private Session 

 
 

19-Mar-25 Treasury Management Q3 Update
Housing Benefit Risk Based Verification Policy
Counter Fraud Work Programme 2025/26
Internal Audit Work Programme 2024/25
Annual Report of AARC

External Audit: Final Audit Results Report 2023/24, final letter of rep & final statement of accounts
Accounting Policies 2024/25
Work Programme Update

 

Page 229

Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	7 Counter Fraud Work Programme 2024/25
	Appendix 1 - Counter Fraud Work Programme 2024-25

	8 Risk Monitoring Report End of Year 2023 - 2024
	Appendix 1 Leadership Risk Register End of year 23_24
	Appendix 2 - Risk Management Strategy 2023-24

	9 Draft Statement of Accounts 2023-2024
	Appendix 1 - Draft Statement of Accounts 2023-2024

	10 Treasury Management Report - Q1 2024/25 (June 2023)
	11 Support to Subsidiaries
	13 Support to Subsidiaries - Exempt Appendix
	15 Work Programme

